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Continental Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an investment
holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries (the
Company and the subsidiaries are hereinafter referred to as the
“Group”) are the designing, manufacturing, marketing and
trading of fine jewellery and diamonds. Also, the Group maintains
an investment portfolio including property investment and
development, mining and other investments.

On the manufacturing side, Continental Jewellery (Mfg.) Limited, the
Group’s wholly-owned subsidiary, mainly engages in the product
development, manufacture and marketing of fine jewellery primarily
for export and is regarded as one of the leaders in fine jewellery
manufacturing. A substantial share of our jewellery products is
currently directed at the middle to upper segments of the market.
We specialise in manufacturing fine jewellery in precious metal set
with diamond, ruby, emerald, sapphire, pearl and other semiprecious
stones.

The Group has fully-integrated production plant in China with
around 297 staff as at 30 June 2025. Our facility is best known for
their quality with extensive capabilities in jewellery design, direct
stone sourcing, lapidary, alloying and gold refining. The management
of the Group is known for its commitment to quality, and its finished
products are visible testaments to that commitment.
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Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor
Group Chairman

I am pleased to present the annual report of Continental Holdings
Limited (“the Company"”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) for the
financial year ended 30 June 2025. This report aims to provide you
with an overview of the financial performance of our Group and to
highlight key factors that have influenced our results.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In the financial year ended 30 June 2025, the Group faced a
challenging global business environment. Geopolitical tensions,
inflationary pressures, and fluctuating commodity prices significantly
influenced market conditions across our key regions. Despite these
challenges, our commitment to product innovation, quality, and
exceptional service has allowed us to remain resilient and sustain
competitive performance in core markets.

For the fiscal year ended 30 June 2025, the Group’s consolidated
revenue recorded an increase of approximately HK$225.4 million or
62.5% from last year's HK$360.4 million to HK$585.8 million. The
increase in revenue was mainly attributable to the sales of properties
of $221.3 million. During the year, loss attributable to owners of the
Company was HK$259.1 million as compared to last year's loss of
HK$257.3 million. The loss for the year was mainly resulting from
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recognition of loss of approximately HK$276.1 million arising from
the change in fair value of investment properties and impairment loss
on mining right of approximately HK$26.6 million. The basic loss per
share was HK37.93 cent (2024: basic loss per share HK37.67 cent).

The US market has been adversely impacted by tariffs, high inflation,
and persistent economic instability, which have dampened consumer
purchasing power, particularly in the jewelry segment. However,
our local production capabilities have helped mitigate some of
these challenges, enabling us to remain competitive. While market
conditions remain tough, our strategic initiatives and operational
efficiencies position us to weather these uncertainties. Similar to the
US, the UK and European markets have faced headwinds, including
elevated gold prices and ongoing geopolitical uncertainties. Despite
these pressures, our operations in these regions have demonstrated
stability, underscoring the resilience of our business model and our
ability to adapt to shifting market dynamics.

Our unwavering commitment to product innovation, quality, and
exceptional service remains a key philosophy and driver. These core
strengths continue to differentiate us and serve as the foundation for
sustaining our competitive edge. To support growth initiatives, we
are actively exploring new markets and customer segments, ensuring
we remain adaptive to shifting global dynamics.

Despite above negative factors, the Group’s revenue from jewellery
segment recorded slightly increase of approximately HK$6.2 million
or 1.9% from last year's HK$333.9 million to HK$340.1 million for
the year ended 30 June 2025. Jewellery segment recorded a profit
of approximately HK$19.9 million for the year ended 30 June 2025
as compared to last year's loss of approximately HK$23.7 million.
The turnaround in segment performance as result of the Group’s
resilience, demonstrated through streamlined operations and
strategic cost control measures across both manufacturing processes
and administrative functions. This improvement reflects stronger
overall performance during the year.
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The Hong Kong real estate market continues to operate in a dynamic
environment. The residential property sector has shown early signs
of stabilization, buoyed by improved market confidence and gradual
economic normalization. Buyers remain cautiously optimistic, with
sentiment improving as economic conditions recover. Conversely,
the commercial property market remains subdued, weighed down
by soft leasing activity in a renters’ driven market. Despite these
challenges, Hong Kong retains its appeal as a global financial hub
and home to world-class educational institutions. These factors
provide a catalyst for gradual recovery in the long term, particularly as
economic conditions stabilize and investment sentiment improves.

The Group’s revenue from sales of properties and rental income
during the year amounted to approximately HK$221.3 million and
HK$23.1 million respectively, representing an increase of HK$222.1
million from the corresponding year of 2024 of HK$22.3 million.
The substantial increase in revenue was mainly from the sale of
the Group'’s residential project, Amber Place, during the year. As
at the date of this announcement, Amber Place has achieved total
contracted sales of approximately HK$235.8 million, of which
HK$221.3 million has been recognized as revenue in the reporting
year whilst HK$14.5 million is anticipated to be recognized as
revenue in the second half of 2025 upon the handover of the
completed units to buyers. Out of a total of 42 residential units, 39
units have entered contracted sales, representing approximately
92.9% of the total. Revenue from rental income during the year
amounted to approximately HK$23.1 million, representing an
increase of HK$0.8 million compared to the corresponding year in
2024, which recorded HK$22.3 million. The growth in rental income
was primarily attributed to One Continental ([BEEH /1)), where more
units were successfully leased out during the year.

In December 2021, the Group acquired six properties located
at No. 164-164A Boundary Street, Kowloon, with a site area of
approximately 5,054 sq.ft. and a developable gross floor area of
approximately 25,270 sq.ft. Demolition of the old building has
been completed, and the intention is to redevelop into a residential
development.
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“One Continental (EFEH.1))" is located at No. 232 Wan Chai Road,
Hong Kong. The Group currently holds 75% of the interests in “One
Continental”, a premium grade office and retail composite building
of 28-storey tall with a gross floor area of approximately 86,970 sq.ft.
Despite the challenges posed by oversupplies and high financing
costs, the Group managed to secure quality tenants during the year.

The Group owns 90% of its interests in the site at No. 1 of
Cheung Wah Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, with a site area
of approximately 3,240 sq.ft. The site has been developed into a
25-storey residential development with a 2-storey retail podium/high-
rise composite building, with a gross floor area of approximately
29,147 sq.ft. The project has been named “Amber Place (1E37)"
and the occupation permit has been obtained in July 2023. The
residential development offers a total of 42 residential units. The sales
of residential units commenced in July 2024, and a total of 39 units
have entered contracted sales during the year.

The Group holds certain investment properties comprising 12 floors
of commercial properties located at No. 65 Castle Peak Road, Yuen
Long, and 2 shops with several office units located at No. 19-23 Hart
Avenue, Kowloon. The investment properties are generating a stable
rental income for the Group during the year.

With a diverse and balanced property portfolio, the Group remains
committed to navigating the challenging real estate environment.
The Group believes that its strategic investments and projects will
continue to generate steady income and long-term returns, even as
the broader market faces downward pressure.

As disclosed in previous annual reports, the Hongzhuang Gold Mine
has remained in trial production since its acquisition in 2011, with
minimal operational activity and no significant revenue contribution
since 2015. Despite continued efforts, a minimal level of operations
was maintained at the Hongzhuang Gold Mine since 2015. As a
result, the Group has entered into an agreement to dispose of the
Hongzhuang Gold Mine for a consideration of RMB33.4 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$36.5 million). Upon completion,
this disposal provides an immediate cash inflow, eliminates the
need for further capital injections into the mining business, and
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alleviates potential future liabilities. This strategic move allows the
Group to concentrate capital and management resources on its core
businesses of fine jewellery, diamonds, and property investment and
development.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, we anticipate continued challenges stemming
from elevated gold prices, inflationary pressures, and geopolitical
uncertainties. While these factors may temper market demand,
we remain optimistic about our long-term prospects. Our strong
customer relationships and commitment to delivering value added
service and quality products working hand in hand to provide
support for the growth of their retail business. Our long-standing
consistency and relationship continue to act as a solid foundation for
the Group's resilience and growth. To address ongoing headwinds,
we are leveraging a broader range offerings to better meet evolving
customer expectations, while actively exploring and expanding
our customer base in different regions. By maintaining a strategic
emphasis on adaptability, operational efficiency, and market
responsiveness, we are confident in our ability to navigate challenges
and deliver sustainable value to our stakeholders.

The Hong Kong property market is poised for gradual recovery, with
the residential sector showing early signs of stabilization. Improved
market sentiment, driven by economic normalization, provides
a foundation for cautious optimism among buyers. However,
the commercial property segment continues to face significant
challenges, including soft leasing activity and rental pressures.
Despite these hurdles, Hong Kong’s status as a global financial hub
and its strong appeal to regional talent and investment remain key
strengths. These factors are expected to support a gradual rebound in
both residential and commercial property markets over the long term.
By capitalizing on these strengths and remaining agile in response
to market dynamics, the Group is well-positioned to navigate the
evolving landscape and seize emerging opportunities.
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IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON MINING RIGHT AND
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year ended 30 June 2025, the directors of the Company
appointed an independent professional valuer, BMI Appraisals
Limited, to perform a valuation with respect to Hongzhuang Gold
Mine situated at Henan Province, China. Based on the valuation of
recoverable amount of Hongzhuang Gold Mine, impairment loss
on mining right and property, plant and equipment amounting to
HK$26,599,000 (2024 reversal of impairment loss of HK$9,406,000)
and HK$459,000 (2024 reversal of impairment loss of HK$168,000)
respectively was recognized as the result, which primarily due to the
change of market gold price during the year.

The recoverable amount of Hongzhuang Gold Mine was estimated
based on the Market Approach with reference to comparable
transactions, in which such approach was consistent with mining
right valuation as at 30 June 2024.

The key inputs used in the valuation were the consideration- to-
resources multiples obtained from comparable transactions involving
gold mines in the PRC between 2021 and 2025, the adjusted
contained gold metal based on the technical review report prepared
by SRK Consulting China Limited under Chinese standard.

The Chinese standard resources estimates as reported by SRK
Consulting China Limited were risk with uncertainty. The estimated
fair value of the Hongzhuang Gold Mine has been assigned a lower
or no credit to those resources with high resources risks.

As at 30 June 2025, the directors of the Company also conducted
an impairment assessment on certain of the Group's property, plant
and equipment under Yuanling mine site based on the estimation of
discount cash flow of current stage of mining explorations and gold
price during the year. Accordingly, HK$1.6 million of impairment loss
of property, plant and equipment (2024: Nil) was recognized and
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

All the above-mentioned reversal of impairment loss on mining right
and property, plant and equipment was included in the Group’s
mining segment in the reportable and operating segment of the
Group.
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ANNUAL UPDATE ON DETAILS OF
RESOURCES AND/OR RESERVES UNDER
RULES OF 18.15, 18.17 AND 18.18 OF THE
LISTING RULES

There has been no material change on the resources and/or reserves
of the Group during the year. The following table shows the details
of resources and/or reserves of the Group as at 30 June 2025:

& AH L {IT<Fidl EEERE #HEERA BEemi
Type of mining Gold Reporting
Reporting date operation resources Standard Gold grade
(Wg) (%/H)
t) (9/t)
“T-RF T 1073 HEHRE122b 5.58
~NA=Z1H Underground PRC 122b
30 June 2025
5.46 FEIRE33N 1.89
PRC 332
2466 HEIRAE333 446
PRC 333
“E-RF AN - FREIR%E1220 -
NAZTH Underground PRC 122b
30 June 2025
- PEIRE3s3 -
PRC 333

Factors and assumptions such as gold grade, ore body thickness and
shape of vein were considered for estimating the resources and/or
reserves. Please refer to Section 8 of Appendix VII of the circular of
the Company dated 25 January 2010 for further information of the
resources and/or reserves estimation.

* The unofficial English translations or transliterations of Chinese
names are for identification purpose only.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
GEARING

As of 30 June 2025, the Group’s gearing ratio was 0.3585 (2024:
0.3619), which is calculated on net debt divided by total equity
plus net debt. Net debt is calculated as the sum of bank and other
borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. The cash and cash
equivalents of HK$36,358,000 (2024: HK$49,156,000) which were
mainly denominated in Hong Kong Dollar, US Dollar, Renminbi
and British Pound. Other borrowings in respect of amounts due
to joint ventures, amounts due to related companies, loan from a
controlling shareholder, amounts due to non-controlling interests
and lease liabilities were approximately of HK$161,736,000 (2024:
HK$136,169,000). Bank loans denominated in HK$ and US$ were
approximately HK$796,081,000 (2024: HK$1,036,236,000). Details
of pledge of assets in respect of bank loans are set out in the section
PLEDGE OF ASSETS.

The decrease in the Group’s cash and cash equivalent as at 30 June
2025 were mainly due to the payment of the finance costs and partial
repayment of bank loans. In line with the Group’s prudent financial
management, the directors of the Company considered that the
Group has sufficient working capital to meet its ongoing operational
requirements.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As of 30 June 2025, the Group’s bank loans denominated in HK$
of HK$777,666,000 (2024: HK$1,024,440,000) are secured by
the Group’s certain property, plant and equipment, investment
properties, certain right-of-use assets, properties under development
and properties for sales, pledged by ordinary shares of certain
subsidiaries of the Company and guaranteed by corporate
guarantees executed by the Company. Whereas, bank loans
denominated in US$ in the equivalent amount of HK$18,415,000
(2024: HK$11,796,000) are guaranteed by corporate guarantees
executed by the Company.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

All the Group’s borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong Dollar,
US Dollar and Renminbi. Interest is determined with reference to
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate or Prime Rate for Hong Kong
Dollar borrowings, Secured Overnight Financing Rate for US Dollar
borrowings and the benchmark lending rate of the People’s Bank of
China for Renminbi borrowings. The Group also made use of foreign
exchange forward contract in order to minimise exchange rate risk as
a result of fluctuation in British Pound. There was no change to the
Group's capital structure during the year ended 30 June 2025. In light
of the current financial position of the Group and provided there is
no unforeseeable circumstance, the management does not anticipate
the need to change the capital structure.

NOTIFIABLE TRANSACTIONS

Connected transaction in relation to the acquisition of 24.81%
shareholding in C.J. (UK) Limited

On 23 October 2024, the Group entered into a share transfer
agreement with a connected person in relation to the acquisition
of 330 B ordinary shares of GBP1 each in the capital of C.J. (UK)
Limited (“CJUK") (@ non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company),
representing approximately 24.81% of the issued shares in the
capital of CJUK at a consideration of GBP576,313 (approximately
HK$5,829,000). Since the seller is a director of CJUK, the acquisition
constitutes a connected transaction for the Company under the
Listing Rules. The transaction was completed on 23 October
2024. After completion, all the issued shares in the capital of
CJUK are owned by the Group and CJUK has become a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company. Details of the acquisition were
set out in the announcement and supplemental announcement
of the Company dated 23 October 2024 and 5 November 2024
respectively.
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ADVANCE FROM A CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

On 16 June 2025, the Company as borrower entered into a loan
facility agreement with Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley (“Ms. Cheng”),
an executive director and controlling shareholder of the Company,
as lender, for providing a loan up to a maximum amount of
HK$60,000,000 to the Company. The loan is unsecured, interest-
bearing at HIBOR + 1.2% per annum and repayable on 30 September
2026, subject to the extension as may be agreed by the parties. As at
30 June 2025, an amount of HK$10,000,000 has been drawn.

As at 30 June 2025, Ms. Cheng has advanced a loan in the amount
of RMB4,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$4,384,800) to
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, the loan is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on 25 October 2026.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2025, the Company has provided guarantees to the
extent of HK$630,928,000 (2024: HK$843,690,000) with respect to
bank loans to its subsidiaries. Under the guarantees, the Company
would be liable to pay the banks if the banks are unable to recover
the loans. At the reporting date, no provision for the Company’s
obligation under the guarantee contracts has been made as the
Directors considered that it was unlikely the repayment of the loans
would be in default.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group has no capital commitments as at 30 June 2025 (30 June
2024: Nil).
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NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND
REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group employs a total of approximately 443 employees with
the majority in the PRC. The Group's remuneration to its employees
is largely based on common industrial practice. In order to attract,
retain and motivate the eligible employees, including the Directors,
the Company have adopted share option schemes.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 13 July 2010
("the “2010 Share Option Scheme"), which was valid for a period
of ten years commencing on the date of adoption 13 July 2010.
Under which, the Company may grant options to eligible person
including directors and employees (as explained hereinafter). The
2010 Share Option Scheme was expired on 12 July 2020. Therefore,
the Company has adopted a new share option on 22 December
2020 (the “2020 Share Option Scheme™). Subsequent to the expiry
of the 2010 Share Option Scheme, no further option can be granted
thereunder but in all other respects, the provisions of the 2010 Share
Option Scheme shall remain in force and all options granted prior to
such expiry shall continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance
with the terms of the 2010 Share Option Scheme.
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On 31 May 2021, every ten (10) issued shares of the Company
were consolidated into one (1) share of the Company (the “Share
Consolidation”). As such, adjustments were made to the exercise
prices and the number of shares of the Company falling to be issued
in respect of the outstanding share options in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the 2010 Share Option Scheme and the
Listing Rules. As at 30 June 2025, there were options for 9,200,000
shares (after Share Consolidation) were valid and outstanding under
the 2010 Share Option Scheme. No share option has been granted
under the 2020 Share Option Scheme since it has been adopted.

Summary of the principal terms of the 2010 Share Option Scheme
and 2020 Share Option Scheme is as follows:

(a) 2010 Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the 2010 Share Option Scheme is (i) to recruit
and retain high caliber eligible persons and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group; (i) to recognise the
contributions of eligible persons to the growth of the Group
by rewarding them with opportunities to obtain ownership
interest in the Company and (iii) to motivate and to give
incentives to these eligible persons to continue to contribute
to the long-term success and prosperity of the Group.

Under the 2010 Share Option Scheme, options might
be granted to any employee, senior executive or officer,
manager, director (including executive, non- executive
and independent non-executive director) or consultant of
the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any invested entity
who, as determined by the Board, have contributed or will
contribute to the growth and development of the Group or
any invested entity are eligible to participate the scheme. The
number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted to each eligible person in any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the Company’s shares in issue at
the adoption date.
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There is no provision in the 2010 Share Option Scheme to
require a grantee to fulfil any performance target or to hold
the option for a certain period before exercising the option,
but the Board may at its absolute discretion and from time to
time provide such requirements in the offer.

The eligible person must accept any such offer notified to him
or her within ten business days from the offer date. Upon
acceptance of the offer, the grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the
Company as consideration for the grant.

The exercise price of a share option to subscribe for shares of
the Company shall be the highest of (i) the closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheet
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on the date of grant; and (ii) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant.

A total of 13,200,000 share options (after Share
Consolidation) were granted to certain directors and
employees of the Company at an exercise price of HK$1.38,
HK$1.21, HK$2.45, HK$1.49 or HK$0.52 each (after Share
Consolidation) subject to the terms of the 2010 Share Option
Scheme. Since the grant, 1,000,000 share options (after
Share Consolidation) had been exercised and 3,000,000
share options (after Share Consolidation) has been lapsed,
including 1,000,000 that lapsed during the year ended
30 June 2025.
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Details of movement of the 2010 Share Options up to 30
June 2025 are set out below:

BT :
v
Number of share options
PERE RoBomE 2
RARALS REAH §R A#E  tA-A MR RER i3 Y S
38 (A/B/%)  ffE# figEr  SRUAE bA i3 R fi X4 i
Closing price
per Share
Name or Exercise  immediately  Balance as Granted  Exercised lapsed  Balance as
category of Dateof Grant ~ Exercisable Price  before the at1July During During During ~ at 30 June
Grantee (dd/mm/yyyy)  Period per Share  date of grant 2024 the Year the Year the Year 2025
[//%73/) (%if/]
(HKS) (HKS)
RELRE 0700712015 0700772015~ 245 200 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor 06/07/2025
03112016 031172016 - 149 150 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
0211112026
BEErt 0700712015 0700712015 - 245 200 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
Ms. Chan Wai Kei Vicki 06/07/2025
03112016 03112016 - 149 15 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
0211112026
fEsREs 070072015 0700712015 - 245 200 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
Mr. Yam Tat Wing 0610772025
03112016 03112016 - 149 15 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
0211112026
BEfEE 250772014 250772014 - 121 120 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 -
Mr. Wong Edward 240712024
Gwon-hing 0700712015 0700772015 - 245 200 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
06/07/2025
03112016 03112016 - 149 15 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
0211112026
AftES 201062020 221062020 - 052 051 1200000 - - - 1,200,000
Other Employees 21062030
10,200,000 - - 1000000 9200000
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(b)

Note: (1) Due to Share Consolidation, adjustments were made to
the number of outstanding share options and the exercise
price on 31 May 2021. The exercise price per share of the
share options granted on 19 June 2014 was adjusted from
HK$0.138 to HK$1.38; the exercise price per share of the
share options granted on 25 July 2014 was adjusted from
HK$0.121 to HK$1.21; the exercise price per share of the
share options granted on 7 July 2015 was adjusted from
HK$0.245 to HK$2.45; the exercise price per share of the
share options granted on 3 November 2016 was adjusted
from HK$0.149 to HK$1.49 and the exercise price per share
of the share options granted on 22 June 2020 was adjusted
from HK$0.052 to HK$0.52.

2020 Share Option Scheme

The 2010 Share Option Scheme was expired on 12 July 2020.
Therefore, the Company has adopted the 2020 Share Option
Scheme, which should be valid for a period of ten years
commencing on the date of adoption 22 December 2020.

The purpose of the 2020 Share Option Scheme is (i) to
provide eligible persons with the opportunity to acquire
proprietary interests in the Company; (ii) to encourage
eligible persons to work towards enhancing the value of the
Company; (iii) shares for the benefit of the Company and
the Shareholders as a whole and (iv) provide the Company
with flexible means of retaining, incentivising, rewarding,
remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits to
eligible persons.
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Under the 2020 Share Option Scheme, options might
be granted to any employee, senior executive or officer,
manager, director (including executive, non- executive and
independent non-executive director) of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries who, as determined by the Board,
have contributed or will contribute to the growth and
development of the Group.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant (including
both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period must not exceed 1% of the total number of shares
in issue of the Company. For any grant of options to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or any of their respective associates,
the Company’s shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all options already granted and to be granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person
within any 12-month period shall not exceed 0.1% of the
issued shares of the Company in aggregate and with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million.

Any further grant is subject to the shareholders’ approval in
general meeting with the grantee, his/her/its associates and
core connected persons of the Company abstaining from
voting in favour.

There is no provision in the 2020 Share Option Scheme to
require a grantee to fulfil any performance target or to hold
the option for a certain period before exercising the option,
but the Board may at its absolute discretion and from time to
time provide such requirements in the offer.

The total number of shares available for issue under the
2020 Share Option Scheme was 68,311,825 shares which
represented 10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at
29 September 2025.
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The eligible person must accept any such offer notified to him
or her within ten business days from the offer date. Upon
acceptance of the offer, the grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the
Company as consideration for the grant.

The exercise price of a share option to subscribe for shares of
the Company shall be the highest of (i) the closing price of
the shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotations
sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant; and (ii) the
average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant.

No share option has been granted under the 2020 Share
Option Scheme since it has been adopted.

Further details of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in
note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

EXPOSURE TO FINANCIAL RISK AND
RELATED HEDGE

The Group utilises conservative strategies on its financial risk
management and the market risk had been kept to minimum.
With the exception of the UK subsidiaries, all transactions and the
borrowings of the Group are primarily denominated in US Dollar,
Hong Kong Dollar and Renminbi. During the year, the Group had
entered into foreign exchange forward contract in order to minimise
the exchange rate risk as a result of fluctuation in British Pound.
Management will continue to monitor the foreign exchange risk
in British Pound and recent fluctuation in Renminbi and will take
appropriate actions when necessary.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM") will be
held on Monday, 15 December 2025 and the Notice of AGM will be
published and despatched in the manner as required by the Listing
Rules in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM,
the Register of Members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 10 December 2025 to Monday, 15 December 2025,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will
be effected. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM,
all transfers of shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates
and appropriate transfer forms must be lodged with the Company's
Share Registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration no
later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 9 December 2025.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity
to express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders, customers
and business partners for their continuous supports and trust, and
extend my heartiest thanks and appreciation to our directors, to all
staffs, for their relentless efforts, dedication and resilience during this
challenging period. Looking ahead, we will continue our endeavor
to overcome the future challenges and enhance the value of our
business.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Wai Lap, Victor
Chairman
Hong Kong, 29 September 2025
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Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Group are set out as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor, was appointed as Chairman of the
Group since 2017. He joined the Group in 2000 and was appointed
as an Executive Director of the Company in 2006. He currently
strategises the direction of the Group and also provides leadership to
the Board. He manages and oversees the overall Group operations
and is responsible in leading the management on various aspects
of the Group such as sales and marketing, product development,
investment and financing activities, as well as corporate and business
development, etc.

Mr. Chan holds a number of public and honorary positions, such as
Vice Chairman of The Hong Kong Jewellery & Jade Manufacturers
Association; Vice-Chairman, Manufacturing and Member of Young
Diamantaire of the Diamond Federation of Hong Kong China Ltd.;
Founding Chairman of the Youth Chapter of the Hong Kong Young
Industrialists Council; Associate Member of YPO (Young Presidents’
Organization); Member of the Jewellery Advisory Committee of the
Hong Kong Trade Development Council; and Member of Jewellery
Industry Training Advisory Committee of Hong Kong Quialification
Framework. He was also a Member of International Affairs
Committee of Federation of Hong Kong Industries, President of
Entrepreneurs’ Organization (Hong Kong and China South Chapters)
and Director of Hong Kong United Youth Association.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chan had worked in both banking
and manufacturing industry for several years. He holds a Bachelor of
Science degree with double majors in Entrepreneurial Studies and
Finance from Babson College in Boston, Massachusetts. Mr. Chan is
the son of Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley.
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Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley, is the Managing Director and Co-
Founder of the Group. Ms. Cheng is an Executive Director of the
Company and holds directorship in various subsidiaries of the
Company. She is responsible for the daily operations, financial
management, corporate development, sales and marketing as well
as strategic planning of the Group. Ms. Cheng has over 50 years of
experience in the jewellery industry and has been actively involved
in the business development of the Group since the beginning. Ms.
Cheng also plays an active role in the community, currently President
of Zonta Club of Hong Kong (2024-2026), and Vice Chairman,
Executive Committee and Honorary President of the Hong Kong
Federation of Women. In addition, she was awarded as one of the
“100 Chinese Outstanding Women Entrepreneurs” in 2006 and
was a Committee Member of the City of Jiangmen Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference.

Ms. Chan Wai Kei, Vicki, joined the Group in 1995. She is an
Executive Director of the Company and is responsible for property
development in Hong Kong, retail operation and the business
administration functions in the Group. Ms. Chan graduated from
University of California, Berkeley with a Bachelor of Arts degree
in Economics and Minor in Business Administration. Ms. Chan is
a Graduate Gemologist of the Gemological Institute of America.
She was Charter President of Zonta Club of Hong Kong Il and Area
Director of Zonta International (2010-2012), actively involved in the
Zonta Community. Ms. Chan is Honorary Vice President of the Hong
Kong Federation of Women. She was also an awardee of the 4th
Golden Bauhinia Women Entrepreneur Award. She is the daughter of
Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley.
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Ms. Chan Mei Kei, Alice, joined the Group in 2004 and was
appointed as an Executive Director of the Company on 8 February
2024. She is responsible for the corporate strategy, sales and
marketing functions of the Group. She is also the General Manager
of two wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company and is responsible
for overseeing the property development and investments of the
Group. She was the vice-general manager of the Group's joint
venture company in Shanghai, where she led the development
and operations of a sizeable shopping mall in Shanghai. Ms. Chan
graduated from Cornell University with a Bachelor of Science
degree from the school of hotel administration. Prior to joining
the Company, she worked in Christian Dior and Credit Suisse First
Boston. Ms. Chan held various community local and overseas
positions such as President of Entrepreneurs Organization (China
East Chapter), Cornell Asia Pacific Alumni Advisor Leadership
Advisor, Cornell University Council, President Council of Cornell
Women, Andover Asia Council and Deputy Secretary-General of the
Shanghai-Hong Kong Youth Association. She is the daughter of Ms.
Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley.

Mr. Wong Edward Gwon-hing, joined the Group in 1998, and has
been appointed as Executive Director of the Company since 1 March
2014. He is also the General Manager of Continental Jewellery (Mfg.)
Limited. Mr. Wong has over 30 years' experience in manufacturing,
sales marketing and management in jewellery industry. Mr. Wong is
responsible for overall development and management of the Group's
jewellery business.

* The unofficial English translations or transliterations of Chinese
names are for identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul, BBS, MBE, JP was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 25 April 2005. Mr. Yu is a
businessman who has been actively engaged in the construction
business both in the public and private sectors in Hong Kong for
the last 40 years. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Construction Managers. Other than his working experience in
managing a construction company, he has also actively involved
in the community services of Hong Kong and has served several
advisory bodies of Hong Kong Government for over 30 years. He
was subsequently awarded as an unofficial Justice of the Peace by
the Hong Kong Government in the year 1989 and awarded the
Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region in the year 2007. From March 2016 to August
2018, Mr. Yu was the Chairman and an Executive Director of K. H.
Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1557), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 7 March 2008. Mr. Chan has more than
30 years' experience in logistics industry and possesses extensive
experience in distribution. Mr. Chan was a Founder and Director of
various logistic companies and was a Director of a private company
engaging in logistics and forwarding.
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Mr. Sze Irons, GBS BBS, JP was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director on 2 October 2008. Mr. Sze graduated with a
Bachelor’s degree in Science from University of Wisconsin-La Crosse,
United States in 1985. Mr. Sze has extensive experience in investment
and corporate management and is currently an Independent Non-
executive Director of Chevalier International Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 25), Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
2360), Redco Healthy Living Company Limited (Stock Code: 2370),
Forward Fashion (International) Holdings Company Limited (Stock
Code: 2528) and Tongda Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
698), all of which are listed on the Stock Exchange. He is also an
Executive Director of a private company, Hang Tung Resources
Holding Limited, and holds directorship in various private companies.
Mr. Sze has resigned as Independent Non-executive Director of
Jianzhong Construction Development Limited (Stock Code: 589) and
ST International Holdings Company Limited (now known as WebX
International Holdings Company Limited) (Stock Code: 8521) on 21
November 2023 and 5 December 2023 respectively. He has resigned
as Non-executive Director of China Weaving Materials Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 3778) and Bel Global Resources Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 761) (listing of which shares on the Stock
Exchange has been cancelled with effect from 24 August 2018), with
effect from 6 June 2019 and 21 August 2019 respectively.

Mr. Sze is a Standing Member of the 14th National Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (“CPPCC"),
Standing committee member of the Beijing Committee of the CPPCC
and Convener of Hong Kong, the Permanent Honorary President of
the Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong, President of
Federation of Hong Kong Beijing Organisations and the Secretary
General of the Hong Kong Coalition. He is also elected as a member
of Election Committee of the Chief Executive of Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region. Mr. Sze was appointed Justice of the Peace,
awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star and the Gold Bauhinia Star by
the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in
2011, 2015 and 2025 respectively.



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management s £E K SR EEA S 2 EEHE

REEBEE R —TSFNALAE
REREFEBIUIFNTEFTLERR
BgZKE @ RN Em AR
R 2 HxﬁBE”D\T(HxT 5% - 3778)
BEMBRERATWE - FRE
TREREEIEEER - T HFER
VEZEERARRZEEERY - K2
RSRMNEEREARIHERBELS
i BRIREAEHHAEE 8 MK

#% ;Z\\u%’;u‘lﬂrﬁi\\ﬁﬁ rG E\ °

RZFE—RE=ZAE2=—/\FN\A -
SRR AT LT A R R R BT
&*ﬁﬁﬁ”ﬂ(%fﬁﬁ%ﬁ% : 1557) 2 L
HFNTES - N_TTNF=ZAE_Z
**itﬂ R EBARAKE(AE

BEAERE)EEFRBEM - K
gg@i:ﬂ E-TELF+—AR
BREABIMMEMARRSEEBRA
A(EBETFTREEEARAR) (KA
SR :547) 2HITES - TRZEZT
+tF=AZ=_TTN\F= ﬂﬁ*&ﬁﬁk
B BR_ZTELEFRNAZETTLHF
+A HjTE%E%W,HﬁL?EHXﬁT‘E%J:m 7\
AL International Inc. (#3532 52 X (5 1
5% JADE) 2B EE - RZTT—F
—REZZTT=F+=F ' EEFe-Lux
Corporation (JASDAQRX {7 #R5% 6811)
(38 78 Quants Inc. ) Z Mf B 2 & e-Lux
(Hong Kong) L|m|ted(iﬁ$&}Quants Capital
(Hong Kong) Limited) v E%E - B & &

- BERPEZBEIGERS - BE
E’:‘*ﬁjﬁiiifﬂﬂﬂiﬁfﬂﬂﬂ
FE_TETFHABIALMARR
BRI AR AR CGREZEERER
ANAED (AR - 128) Z BB A FINew
Media CorporationZ £ B8 7548 8 & &
%o

Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee
of the Board on 7 April 2010. Mr. Cheung is currently the Chief
Financial Officer and Company Secretary of China Weaving Materials
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 3778), a company listed on the Stock
Exchange. He has over 25 years of experience in accounting, finance
and administration and has held senior positions in multinational
companies. He obtained his MBA from University of Technology,
Sydney, Australia and is an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

From March 2016 to August 2018, Mr. Cheung was an Independent
Non-Executive Director of K. H. Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
1557), a company listed on the Stock Exchange. From March 2009
to July 2011, he was a part- time tutor at the Open University of
Hong Kong (now known as Hong Kong Metropolitan University).
From March 2004 to November 2007, he was an Executive Director
of Sun Innovation Holdings Limited (now known as Digital Domain
Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 547), a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, and was also the Chief Financial Officer from March 2007
to February 2008. He was an Independent Director of LJ International
Inc. (NASDAQ: JADE), a company listed on NASDAQ from June 2007
to October 2007. From January 2001 to December 2003, he was
a Director of e-Lux (Hong Kong) Limited (now known as Quants
Capital (Hong Kong) Limited), a subsidiary of e-Lux Corporation
(JASDAQ: 6811) (now known as Quants Inc.), in charge of value-
added telecommunications services in Hong Kong, Taiwan and
China. He was the group financial controller and a director of New
Media Corporation, a subsidiary of e-New Media Company Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 128) (now known
as ENM Holdings Limited) from 1995 to 1999 and 1999 to 2000,
respectively.
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Mr. Yam Tat Wing, joined the Group in 2011 as General Manager
— Business Development and Mining of the Group, was appointed as
Executive Director on 1 March 2014 and was re-designated as Non-
executive Director and Independence Non-executive Director of the
Company on 1 January 2017 and 8 February 2024 respectively. Mr.
Yam was educated up to matriculation and he obtained a certificate
in Personnel Management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now
known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University).

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yam had served in the Hong Kong
Police Force (the “Force"”) for over 37 years, he was previously Deputy
Commissioner, Operations from January 2007 to March 2010. Mr.
Yam has extensive experience in leadership, public administration
and crisis management.

During his career in the Force, Mr. Yam was awarded the Silver
Bauhinia Star Medal, Colonial Police Long Service Medal with 3rd
clasp, the Colonial Police Medal for Meritorious Service, the Hong
Kong Police Medal for Distinguished Service and Chief Executives
Commendation. From August 2011 to August 2021, Mr. Yam was
appointed an Affiliated Fellow of Wu Yee Sun College of The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He is an Honorary Advisor to the Asian
Professional Security Association Hong Kong Chapter. Mr. Yam has
been appointed as an Honorary Adviser to the Hong Kong Police
College since 2020. He is also an Honorary Chairman of International
Legal Commercial Elites Association. In January 2025, Mr. Yam was
appointed a member of the Council of the Hong Kong Academy for
Performing Arts for a term of two years.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Choi Wing Cheong, Eric, FGA, DGA, FGAHK, CG (Diamond),
joined the Group in 1987 and currently serves as Director of
Operations. With over three decades of expertise in application
system implementation and supply chain management within the
jewellery industry, he is a qualified gemmologist and a Fellow of
The Gemmological Association of Great Britain, as well as a Director
of The Gemmological Association of Hong Kong. He has also been
appointed as an RPL Assessor for the jewellery industry under the
Qualifications Framework by the Vocational Training Council.

Mr. Choi is responsible for overseeing the daily operations, including
logistics support, information technology, administration, and
human resources. He previously led the implementation of the
ISO Quality Management System and spearheaded best practice
initiatives. In recent years, he has been dedicated to driving digital
transformation and optimizing workflows to enhance operational
efficiency and overall business performance.
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The board (“Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of the Company is
pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report for the year
ended 30 June 2025.

CORPORATE STRATEGY

The Group’s vision continues to be the leader in the jewellery
industry by developing trusted, creative solutions to the global
jewellery industry, and dedicating to innovative designs, excellent
craftsmanship, and high-quality service. The provision of quality
jewellery product to customers has always been a fundamental value
of the Group.

A healthy corporate culture is important to good corporate
governance which is crucial for achieving sustainable long-term
success of the Group. The Board considers that the corporate culture
and the purpose, value and strategy of the Group are aligned.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. The Board considers shareholders
can maximise their benefits from good corporate governance.

Compliance with the Code Provisions

The Company has adopted code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules. During the year ended 30 June 2025, the Company
has complied with the Code, except for the deviations from Code
provisions C.2.1 and D.2.5 which are explained below:

Code provision C.2.1
Under Code provision C.2.1, the roles of the chairman and the chief

executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual.
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Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor (“Mr. Victor Chan") is an Executive Director
and the Chairman of the Company. Mr. Victor Chan currently
strategizes the direction of the Group and provides leadership for the
Board. He ensures that the Board works effectively and discharges its
responsibilities, and that all key and appropriate issues are discussed
by the Board in a timely manner. Mr. Victor Chan is also responsible
for ensuring that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at
Board meetings and that all Directors receive adequate information,
which must be complete and reliable, in a timely manner.

Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley (“Ms. Cheng”) is the Managing Director
of the Company. She is responsible for day-to-day management and
marketing activities of the Group.

Although the Company does not have a post for Chief Executive
Officer, the Board considers that there is adequate segregation of
duties within the Board to ensure a balance of power and authority.

Code provision D.2.5

Code Provision D.2.5 provides that the issuer should have an internal
audit function. Issuers without an internal audit function should
review the need for one on an annual basis and should disclose the
reasons for the absence of such a function.

The Company does not have an internal audit function for the year
ended 30 June 2025. Taking into account the size and complexity of
the operations of the Group, the Company considers that the existing
organisation structure and the close supervision of the management
could provide sufficient internal control and risk management for
the Group. The audit committee of the Board regularly reviews the
effectiveness of the internal control systems and risk management of
the Group. The Board would review the need to set up an internal
audit function on an annual basis.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility of managing the
Company's business and affairs. Chairman ensures that the Board
works effectively and discharges its responsibilities, and that all key
and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely manner.

As at 30 June 2025, the Board comprises five Executive Directors,
namely Mr. Victor Chan, Ms. Cheng, Ms. Chan Wai Kei, Vicki (“Ms.
Vicki Chan"”), Ms. Chan Mei Kei, Alice (“Ms. Alice Chan") and
Mr. Wong Edward Gwon-hing; five Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul, Mr. Chan Ping Kuen,
Derek, Mr. Sze Irons, Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank and Mr. Yam
Tat Wing. All Directors are expressly identified by categories of
Executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors, in all
corporate communications that disclose the names of Directors of the
Company.

Mr. Victor Chan is the brother of Ms. Vicki Chan and Ms. Alice Chan.
They are the son and daughters of Ms. Cheng.

Biographies which include relationships of Directors are set out in
pages 27 to 34 of the annual report, which demonstrate a diversity
of skills, expertise, experience and qualifications among members of
the Board.

A list containing the names of the Directors and their roles and
functions is published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company at www.continental.com.hk.

All Directors are given the opportunity to put items on the agenda
for regular Board meetings. All Directors have access to advice and
services of the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) to ensure that all Board procedures and rules and
regulations are followed. Full minutes of Board meetings are kept
by the Company Secretary and are available for inspection on
reasonable notice. Any Director may, in furtherance of his duties,
take independent professional advice where necessary at the expense
of the Company.
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The Board is responsible for setting the strategic direction and policies
of the Group and supervising the management. Some functions
including, inter alia, the monitoring and approval of material
transactions, matters involving a conflict of interest for a substantial
shareholder of the Company or Director, the approval of the interim
and final results, adequate resources for finance department to
perform its role in financial reporting, other disclosures to the public
or regulators and the internal control systems are reserved by the
Board and the decisions relating to such matters shall be subject
to the decision of the Board. Matters not specifically reserved to
the Board and necessary for the daily operations of the Company
are delegated to the management under the supervision of the
respective Directors and the leadership of the Chairman.

The roles of the Chairman and the chief executive officer are not
separate and the explanation in connection with such deviation from
Code provision C.2.1 is set out in the section headed “Compliance
with the Code Provisions” of this report. The Chairman is responsible
for providing leadership to the Board, effective running of the Board,
ensuring all appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner and formulating business strategies. The Chairman has
ensured that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at
Board meetings and all Directors receive adequate, complete and
reliable information.

During the year ended 30 June 2025, the Board at all times complied
with Rules 3.10(1), (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three Independent Non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board; one of the Independent
Non-executive Directors is required to possess appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors has made an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of
the view that all Independent Non-executive Directors meet the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
are independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines.
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As at the date of this annual report, the Company has five
Independent Non-Executive Directors, representing more than one-
third of the Board. The Company has received from all Independent
Non-Executive Directors their confirmation of independence
pursuant to the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and considers that they are independent. Each of Mr.
Chan Ping Kuen, Derek, Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul, Mr. Sze Irons and
Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank has served as Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company for more than 9 years. They continue to
demonstrate the attributes of an Independent Non-executive Director
by providing independent views and advice and there is no evidence
that their tenure has had any impact on their independence. Taking
into consideration their independent scope of work in the past
years, the Directors consider Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek, Mr. Yu
Shiu Tin, Paul, Mr. Sze Irons and Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank to be
independent under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rule. Having considering
their valuable knowledge and experiences in the Group’s business,
the Board considers the re-election of Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek,
Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul, Mr. Sze Irons and Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank
as Independent Non-Executive Directors are in the best interest of the
Group and the Shareholders as a whole.

Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company do not have a
specific term of appointment but are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the Company’s AGM at least once every three
years in accordance with articles 115(A) and 115(D) of the Articles of
Association of the Company.

Continuous Professional Development

Under Code provision C.1.4, all Directors should participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills.

During the year ended 30 June 2025, all Directors received regular
updates and presentations on changes and developments to the
Group's business and on the latest developments in the laws, rules
and regulations relating to directors’ duties and responsibilities.
Directors’ training is an ongoing process. All Directors are
encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s
expenses. Directors are requested to provide their records of training
they received to the Company Secretary for record.
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HITEF Executive Directors
BRIZS oA Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor v/
BB/ N Zz Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley 4
PREHZ L Ms. Chan Wai Kei, Vicki v
PREH L L Ms. Chan Mei Kei, Alice v/
mARLE Mr. Wong Edward Gwon-hing v/
BUIHITESE Independent Non-executive Directors
FRIEARICAE » 8BS - MBE - A4+ Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul, BBS, MBE, JP v/
BRIARE S A Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek v/
MEERIESE A » GBS - BBS  AT#E M. Sze Irons, GBS, BBS, JP v/
REHBIAE Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank v/
EEER L L Mr. Yam Tat Wing v/
EERERABZEERE Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities Insurance

AEBERARRRENBRARESER
BRABRAEBEMCEESMEE A
BFLAMAEERRRABRREER
FiRE -

# MEEMOREAERCENER
AR MEEERIME -

Appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities
in respect of legal actions against the Directors and officers of the
Company and its subsidiaries arising out of corporate activities of the
Group has been arranged by the Group.

# Reading materials concerning latest developments in corporate
governance practices, relevant legal and regulatory developments.
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BHE_ZT_AFA=-THLEFEH During the year ended 30 June 2025, the Board held four Board
B EEeRTTHREESRE -5 meetings. The attendance records of each member of the Board
BEeREHEEEE R AT at Board meetings and the attendance records of the respective
EExeHEKEEEXRZEe S - members of the Board at the audit committee meetings, nomination
REZEEegE  FHEEEERENLR committee meetings, remuneration committee meetings and the
RARE 2 oeEE3 ZZD—F : general meetings are set out below:
BELE/BIRY
Meetings Attended/Held
ENZEE §FMZEE REFEE C—E-@mE
= Director Ezgen 2 a3 8% RRBEAS
Meetings  Meetingof =~ Meeting of 2024 Annual
Board of Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Meetings  Committee  Committee ~ Committee Meeting
HTEE Executive Directors
RS Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor 444 - - 1/1 1/1
&/t Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley 4/4 - 171 - 171
REELL Ms. Chan Wai Kei, Vicki 44 - - - 11
REBL L Ms. Chan Mei Kei, Alice 44 - - - N
BEREL Mr. Wong Edward Gwon-hing 44 - - - 11
BUFHIES Independent Non-executive Directors
RBRSCA + 8o~ Mee - AT+ Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul, Bs, MBE, 1 44 Wy, l - n
iR S Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek 44 2 1l n n
FRERIESE » oBs - BBs - AT+ Mr. Sze lrons, GBs, 8BS, P 4/4 20 i - 1/1
REBLE Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank 4/4 20 - 1N 1N
HERTE Mr. Yam Tat Wing 4/4 2 - - 171
EFESTHERR R FELHAES Directors are consulted to include matters in the agenda for regular
1RERE - Board meetings.
BHEEETHeR BHE AT Dates of regular Board meetings are scheduled at least 14 days
HAl&H - Wt REsRalaks in advance to provide sufficient notice to give all Directors an
HE - ERMEEmEEeeR /g opportunity to attend. For all other Board meetings, reasonable
SRR ARG o notice will be given.
EFehEETZEeNEREHHEE Minutes of the Board meetings and the Board Committee meetings
7 - AMESERHEERAE - 75 are duly kept and such minutes are open for inspection at any
AMEA SRS A g RACH reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.
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Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings have
recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered and decisions
reached, including any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting
views expressed. Draft and final versions of minutes are sent to all
Directors for their comment and records respectively.

Should Directors need independent professional advice, the Board
will appoint professional advisors to render the advice. The costs
associated with such professional services will be borne by the
Company.

According to the current Board practice, any material transaction
which involves a conflict of interest for a substantial shareholder or
a Director, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly
convened Board meeting. Independent Non-executive Directors who
have no material interest in the transaction will be present at such
Board meeting.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with specific
written terms of reference which states clearly with its authority and
duties. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee have included
the duties set out in code provisions D.3.3(a) to (n) of the Code,
with appropriate modifications where necessary. The revised terms
of reference setting out the Audit Committee’s authority and its
duties and responsibilities are published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. The Audit Committee comprises five
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company and is chaired
by Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank. The Audit Committee meets with the
external auditor at least twice a year.
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As set out in the terms of reference, the Audit Committee is
responsible for oversight of financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems, and for reviewing the
financial information of annual report, financial statements and
interim report. As required by code provision D.3.7, the Audit
Committee would review arrangements for employees to raise
concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal
control or other matters. The Audit Committee would ensure
that proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent
investigation of these matters and for appropriate follow up action
and acting as the key representation body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the external auditor.

All issues raised by the Audit Committee have been addressed by
management. The work and findings of the Audit Committee have
been reported to the Board. During the year, no issues brought
to the attention of management and the Board were of sufficient
importance to require disclosure in the Annual Report.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the Year in conjunction with the Company's
independent auditor and was satisfied that the consolidation
financial statements for the Year were complied with the applicable
accounting standards and Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules. The
Audit Committee therefore resolved to recommend the consolidation
financial statements for the Year be approved by the Board.

The Audit Committee does not have a former partner of the
Company’s existing auditor. The Audit Committee is provided with
sufficient resources, including the advice of an independent auditor,
to perform its duties.
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Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) currently comprises one Executive Director, Mr. Victor
Chan, and three Independent Non-executive Directors, Mr. Chan
Ping Kuen, Derek, Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank and Mr. Yam Tat
Wing. The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr. Victor
Chan. The role and function of the Nomination Committee is to
review the structure, size and composition of the Board, make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy, with due regard to
the board diversity policy, identify individuals suitably qualified to
become Board members, select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships,
assess the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors
and make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors,
and monitor the implementation of the board diversity policy and
review such policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness. A copy
of the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is available
on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website. The
Nomination Committee shall meet at least once a year.

During the year ended 30 June 2025, one meeting was held by the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee reviewed the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board and assessed the independence of all the
Independent Non-executive Directors.

Appointment and Re-election of Director

The appointment of a new Director is made on the recommendation
by the Nomination Committee or by shareholders in a general
meeting. The nomination procedures by shareholders are published
on the website of the Company at www.continental.com.hk.
All candidates must be able to meet the standards as set forth in
Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing Rules. A candidate who is to be
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director should also
meet the independent criteria set out in Rules 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.
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Any Director who is appointed by the Board shall hold office only
until the first general meeting after their appointment and shall
be subject to re-election by shareholders in a general meeting. All
Directors, including those appointed for a specific term, are subject to
retirement by rotation and eligible to offer themselves for re-election
at the AGM at least once every three years in accordance with articles
115(A) and 115(D) of the Articles of Association of the Company.
To further enhance accountability under code provision B.2.3, any
further re-appointment of an Independent Non-executive Director
who has served the Company’s Board for more than nine years will
be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by shareholders.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee with
specific written terms of reference as set out in code provisions
E.1.2(a) to (i) of the Code. The Remuneration Committee, with
delegated responsibility, is responsible for annually reviewing
the existing remuneration policy including the remuneration
packages of individual Executive Directors and senior management
whereas the Board as a whole is responsible for determining the
remuneration of Non-executive Directors with recommendations
from the Remuneration Committee, if any. Terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee are published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

A majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee are
Independent Non-executive Directors. This Committee is chaired
by Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul. The other members are Ms. Cheng, Mr.
Chan Ping Kuen, Derek and Mr. Sze Irons. The Remuneration
Committee met once during the year ended 30 June 2025 to
discuss remuneration related matters and to review and approve the
remuneration policy of the Directors and of the Group.
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Further particulars regarding Directors’ emoluments as required to be
disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules are set out in
note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient resources,
including access to independent professional advice, to perform its
duties if considered necessary.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be
the collective responsibility of the Directors and their corporate
governance duties include:

(a) developing, reviewing and implementing the Company’s
policy and practices on corporate governance;

(b) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(@ reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(d) developing, reviewing and monitoring the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements for re-election;

(e) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and
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) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year ended 30 June 2025, the above corporate
governance function has been performed and executed by the Board
and the Board has reviewed the Company’s compliance with the
Code.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. Hui Chun Lam is an employee of
the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s
affairs. The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and his
appointment and removal is subject to the Board’s approval. The
Company Secretary is accountable to the Board for matters relating
to Director’s duties, such as by giving advice on corporate governance
development and facilitating the professional development program
of Directors. All Directors have access to the advice and service of the
Company Secretary to ensure that the Board's procedures, and all
applicable law, rules and regulations, are followed. During the fiscal
year 2025, the Company Secretary has taken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors. The Company has made specific enquiries
with all of the Directors, each of whom has confirmed that he
has, throughout the year ended 30 June 2025, complied with the
required standards set out therein.
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Share Interests of Senior Management

On 22 June 2020, the Company resolved to grant the share options
to subscribe for a total of 1,200,000 shares to certain eligible persons
under the 2010 Share Option Scheme. Among the 1,200,000
options granted, 200,000 options were granted to a senior
management of the Company. During the year ended 30 June 2025,
no options were lapsed, exercised or cancelled (2024: Nil) in respect
of share options granted to the senior management.

Save for the options granted, as at 30 June 2025, none of senior
management of the Company (whose biographical details are
disclosed on page 34 of this annual report) had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board has through the Audit Committee reviewed the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems. The Board requires management to establish and maintain
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems. Evaluation of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems covering financial, operational and compliance
controls had been done on an on going basis. Review of internal
controls on different systems will be done on a systematic rotational
basis based on the risk assessments of the operations and controls.
The Board has confirmed that there was no significant weakness and
area of improvement have been identified and appropriate measures
have been taken. The Group currently does not have an internal audit
function for the year ended 30 June 2025 and the explanation in
connection with such deviation from code provision D.2.5 is set out
in the section handed “Compliance with the Code Provisions” of this
report.
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Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy (“Whistleblowing
Policy”) on 14 June 2023 which is available on the website of the
Company. The purpose of the Whistleblowing Policy is to establish a
mechanism to enable staff and other members of the Group to voice
concerns in a responsible and effective manner so as to promote
the highest standards of openness, probity and accountability, and
encourage the reporting of misconduct, unlawful and unethical
behaviour. The Whistleblowing Policy shall be review regularly by the
Board to ensure its implementation and continued effectiveness.

Anti-corruption Policy

The Company has adopted an anti-corruption policy (“Anti-
corruption Policy”) on 14 June 2023 which is available on the website
of the Company. The Anti-corruption Policy sets out the specific
behavioural guidelines that the Group’s personnel and business
partners must follow to combat corruption and demonstrates the
Group’s commitment to the practice of ethical business conduct and
the compliance of the anti-corruption laws and regulations that apply
to its operations. The Anti-corruption Policy is reviewed by the Board
and the Audit Committee as and when appropriate to ensure its
continued effectiveness.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

The Company’s external auditor is BDO Limited. There has been
no change in the Company’s external auditors for the preceding
three financial years. The Board agrees with the Audit Committee’s
recommendation for the re-appointment of BDO Limited as the
Company'’s independent auditor.
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During the year ended 30 June 2025, the remuneration paid and
payable to BDO Limited is set out as below:
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The Board adopted a board diversity policy on 5 September
2013 (”“Board Diversity Policy”). The Company recognises and
embraces the benefits of diversity of its Board members. While
all Board appointments will continue to be made on meritocracy,
the Company will ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the needs of
the Company'’s business. Selection of candidates will be based on a
range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. The Board will consider
setting measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board at
an appropriate time.

The Nomination Committee monitors the implementation of
the Board Diversity Policy and the progress on achieving those
measurable objectives and will review the Board Diversity Policy on
a regular basis to ensure its continuing effectiveness. Such policy is
available on the website of the Company.

The Group is committed to maintain diversity (including gender
diversity) across all levels of the Group. The Group ensures fair
employment practices and offer equal employment opportunities
to recruit, promote and deploy employees based on their skillset,
abilities and how they fit the job requirements and future
development of our businesses. As at 30 June 2025, the Board
has three female Directors out of ten Directors (approximately
30%). The ratio of female to male in the workforce of the Group is
approximately 1 to 1.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Board recognises the importance of effective communication
with the shareholders and investors. The Company’s AGM is one of
the principal channels of communication between the Board and its
shareholders. The Group encourages its Shareholders to attend and
participate in AGM to ensure a high level of accountability and to
keep Shareholders informed of the Group's strategy and goals. The
Company arranges for the notice for AGM to be sent to shareholders
at least 21 clear business days before the meeting. It has been the
practice, the Chairman of the Board and the Chairmen of the Board
Committees, together with the external auditor, shall attend the
AGM to answer questions of shareholders. Apart from the direct
interaction with the shareholders at the AGM, the Company has
established different communication channels with its shareholders.
We maintain a corporate website www.continental.com.hk to
publish our final and interim results announcements, financial
reports, public announcements and other relevant shareholder
information. The announcements and the Articles of Association of
the Company are published on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

The Board always ensures that shareholders’ and investors’ views are
heard and understood, and welcomes their questions and concerns
relating to the Group’s management and governance. Shareholders
and investors may also at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board by addressing to the Company Secretary by post or
by email and contact information also set as below procedures for
enquiries to the Board.
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Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’
Meetings and Directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their written requests, proposals,
enquiries and concerns to the Company for the attention of
Chairman of the Board or the Company Secretary whose contact
details are:

The Company Secretary
Continental Holdings Limited
Flats M & N, 1st Floor

Kaiser Estate, Phase lll

11 Hok Yuen Street

Hunghom, Kowloon

Hong Kong

E-mail: info@continental.com.hk
Tel no.: (852) 2363 8882

Fax no.: (852) 2765 7516

Procedures by which Shareholders may Convene a Special
General Meeting

Pursuant to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, shareholders
of the Company representing at least 5% of the total voting rights
may call for an extraordinary general meeting and put forward
agenda items by sending a written request to the Company
Secretary at the Company’s registered office. Shareholders of the
Company representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all
the shareholders who have a right to vote or at least 50 members
who have a right to vote on the resolution of the annual general
meeting to which the requests relate, may put forward proposal
for consideration at a general meeting of the Company by sending
a written request to the Company Secretary at the Company’s
registered office. Procedures on how shareholders can propose a
person for election as a Director are available at the Company’s
website for shareholders’” information.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company seeks to provide stable and sustainable returns to
the shareholders. The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the
“Dividend Policy”) in deciding whether to propose a dividend and
in determining the dividend amount. Under the Dividend Policy, the
Board shall, where appropriate, take into account, among others, the
following factors (i) the Group’s overall results of operation, financial
condition, expected working capital requirements and capital
expenditure requirements, liquidity position and future expansions
plans; (ii) the amount of retained profits and distributable reserves
of the Company; (iii) general economic conditions, business cycle of
the Group’s business and other internal or external factors that may
have an impact on the business or financial performance and position
of the Group; (iv) interim dividend paid, if any; (v) interests of the
Shareholders; (vi) statutory and regulatory restrictions; and (vii) any
other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy as appropriate from time to
time.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company maintains a website at http:/Avww.continental.com.hk
where information and updates on the Company’s business
developments and operations, list of directors and their role and
function, constitutional documents, terms of reference of the Board
committees, procedures for nomination of directors for election,
announcements, circulars and reports released to the Stock Exchange
and other information are posted. Information on the Company'’s
website will be updated from time to time. Full text of the Anti-
Corruption Policy, and Whistleblowing Policy are also available on the
Company'’s website (http://www.continental.com.hk).
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Constitutional Document

There were no significant changes in the Company’s Articles of
Association during the year. The full text of the Articles of Association
is available on the websites of Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)
and the Company (http://www.continental.com.hk).

Save as disclosed in this report, there was no other significant change
in the Company'’s constitutional documents during the year ended 30
June 2025.

GENERAL

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility in preparing the
Group’s financial statements for each financial period to give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended
30 June 2025, the Directors have selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently, made judgments and
estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the
financial statements on a going concern basis. The responsibilities of
the auditor with respect to the financial reporting are set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on page 77 of this annual report.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 30 June 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 41 to
the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
APPROPRIATIONS

The Group's financial performance for the year ended 30 June 2025
and the financial position of the Group at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 80 to 270.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 30 June 2025.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business review of the Company and a discussion and analysis of
the Group's performance during the year and the material factors
underlying its results and financial position are set out in the
Chairman’s Statement on pages 7 to 13 of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

1. Economic climate and individual market performance

As jewellery and diamonds are luxury consumer products,
the impact of global financial and economic conditions on
consumer confidence and purchasing power would affect
sales and results of the Group. The economic growth or
decline in our geographical markets that affected consumer
spending on jewellery would also affect the revenue of the
Group. In addition, economic environment would affect the
production cost of jewellery business such as rent, labour
cost, packaging and transportation cost etc.
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In property side, economic climate directly affects the value
of properties and investors' interest in our property projects
and rental income. Rising construction costs, labour costs,
material prices and interest rate will affect the budget and the
timing for completion of the property projects.

The Group’s mining business requires substantial investment
and may not achieve expected financial results. The
fluctuation in price of mineral ores may affect prospects of
the investments and impairment of the mining business may
affect the valuation of mining assets.

Market risk

The Group is exposed to certain market risks such as interest
rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The details are set out in
note 46.2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group’s bank loans with floating
interest rates. As at 30 June 2025, it is estimated that a
general increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables remaining constant, net loss for the
year would have increased/decreased and retained profits
decreased/ increased by approximately HK$7.9 million.
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FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS

TEMHREER

TEMBREREONAT ¢

The financial key performance indicators are analysed as below:

2025 2024 +/(-)
FET FET &g
HK$'000 HK$'000 Change

L FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
o Turnover 585,835 360,402 62.6%
$HEE BN Cost of Sales (474,977) (403,159) 17.8%
EF,(E18) Gross Profit/(loss) 110,858 (42,757) -359.3%
EFEK(FEEE)(%)  Gross profit/(loss) margin (%) 18.9% -11.9% 30.8%pp@E 72

NATIHEB AFE(LESIE  Loss attributable to owners of the

Company (259,112) (257,302) 0.7%
FEEE(%) Net loss margin (%) -44.2% 71.4%  27.2p0pADE
MERF S R AAEHLAT LBIT

EHE(TLBIT]) (298,460) (241,724) 23.5%

LBITEEL 2&(%) LBIT margin (%) -50.9% -67.1% 16.2%ppE N
488 EEBFR(%) Return on total assets (%) -10.5% -7.2% -3.3%
FTERBER KEY FINANCIAL INDICATOR
B RIRTTHES Cash and bank balances 36,358 49,156 -26.0%
mEBERE Net current liabilities (388,543) (223,783) 73.6%
mEE Total assets 2,829,079 3,366,905 -16.0%
walE Total liabilities 1,180,217 1,386,246 -14.9%
RITER Bank loans 796,081 1,036,236 -23.2%
NATIHEA AFE(RREZ  Equity attributable to owners

of the Company 1,562,454 1,817,479 -14.0%
B ER(RBLE) Quick ratio (Cash ratio) 0.04 0.05 -20%
mEILL R (%) Current ratio (times) 0.60 0.78 -23.1%
BEABLE(%) Gearing ratio (%) 35.85% 36.19%  -0.34ppEDE
PSR 2 [0 #R(%) Return on shareholders’ equity (%) -16.6% -142%  2.4ppEDE
FIREANEIE (GBL) Basic loss per share (HK cents) (37.93) (37.67) 0.69%
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

1.

Environmental Protection

The Group promotes environmental protection by raising the
employees’ awareness of resources saving and efficient use of
energy. In recent years, the Group has implemented several
policies to encourage employees for saving energy and
paper. All these policies aim at reducing resources and saving
costs which are beneficial to the environment and meet the
commercial goals of the Group.

Operating Practices

The Group upholds high standards of operating practices and
complies with stringent jewellery manufacturing standards.

7N F—ENB AR AEEEH One of the subsidiaries of the Company is a certified member
B2 8§ g (Responsible Jewellery of the Responsible Jewellery Council (“RJC"). RIC is a not-
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for-profit organization which promotes responsible ethical,
social and environmental practices in respect of human
rights throughout the Diamond, Gold and Platinum Group
Metals jewellery supply chain. As a certified member of the
RJC, the subsidiary had undergone independent, third party
auditing to show our business practices at all facilities within
the certification scope conform to RJC’s Code of Practices for
business ethics, labour rights and working conditions, social
and environmental performance. The Group has stringent
requirements to maintain high levels of quality control and
responsible business practices.

For further information about the environment policies and
performance of the Company during the year, please refer
to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report (“ESG
Report”) prepared in accordance with Appendix C2 to the
Listing Rules. The ESG Report is available on the Company’s
website at www.continental.com.hk and the Stock
Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES,
SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The Group believes that employees are important assets and provides
competitive remuneration packages to attract and retain employees.
The management regularly reviews the Group’s remuneration of its
employees and ensures that it is up to prevailing market standard.

The Group values mutually-beneficial and long-standing relationships
with its suppliers and customers. The Group aims at delivering high
quality products to its customers and developing mutual trust with its
suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 30 June 2025, the Company’s reserves available for distribution
amounted to HK$609,650,000 (2024: HK$932,902,000).

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 272.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions totaling
HK$195,000.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for 30.8% of the total sales for the year and sales to the
largest customer included therein amounted to 9.2%. The largest
supplier and the five largest suppliers accounted for 35.9% and
67.1%, respectively, of the Group's total purchases for the year.

As far as the Directors of the Company are aware, neither the
Directors, their respective associates nor any shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the
Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor (Chairman)

Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley (Managing Director)
Ms. Chan Wai Kei, Vicki

Ms. Chan Mei Kei, Alice

Mr. Wong Edward Gwon-hing

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul, BBS, MBE, JP

Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek

Mr. Sze Irons, GBS, BBS, JP

Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank

Mr. Yam Tat Wing
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In accordance with Articles 109, 115(A), 115(B) and 115(D) of the
Articles of Association, Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley, Ms. Chan Wai
Kei, Vicki and Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek shall retire from office by
rotation and all of them are eligible for re-election at the AGM.

Each of the five Independent Non-executive Directors has submitted
written confirmation in respect of the factors set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules concerning his independence. The Board
considers each of the five Independent Non-executive Directors to be
independent.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The name of all directors who have served on the boards of the
subsidiaries of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report are available on the website of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 27 to 34 of the
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
directors’ and senior management’s liabilities in respect of legal
actions against its directors and senior management arising from
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in force
for the benefit of the directors as required by section 470 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong)
when the Directors’ Report prepared by the Directors is approved in
accordance with section 391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Details of the share option scheme of the Company are set out
on pages 19 to 25 and in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B
OF THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there are no other changes
to the Directors’ information as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Hong Kong Listing Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report and in note 44 to
the consolidated financial statements, no transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to which the Company’s holding
company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which
a director of the Company or an entity connected with a director had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or
at the end of the financial year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules, the interests of directors
of the Company in businesses which might compete with the Group
during the year ended 30 June 2025 and as at 30 June 2025 were as
follows:

Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley, a Director of the Company, has held
interest in companies engaged in the same businesses of property
investments in Hong Kong and gold mining activities in Indonesia.
Although some of the businesses carried out by these companies
are similar to those of the Group, they are of different scale and/or
at different locations. Therefore, the Board is of the view that the
businesses of those companies did not compete with the businesses
of the Group. The transfer of such interest and directorship is in legal
proceeding.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or in existence during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2025, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and their associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO") as recorded in the register maintained by the Company under
Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were
set out below:
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EENRG - HERGORE DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
HEP2EZREE®) POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (CONTINUED)

1. RAEAT 2 =R 1. Interests in the Company
R N
[EX:<h)
FRRZEBRHUE (RHEHHE) L NER
Number of ordinary shares of the Company Percentage
(after Share Consolidation) of the
BARER DRIER TERARE R Company's
Personal Corporate  Underlying #%t  issued share
EENR Name of Directors interest interest interest Total capital
BRESZ Chan Wai Lap, Victor 270,000 - 2,000,000 2,270,000 0.33%
([BR%EED) (“Mr. Victor Chan”) (F3E=)
(Note 2)
- (e:3 Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley - 506,339,522 - 506,339,522 74.12%
([#2t]) (“Ms. Cheng") (FffEE—)
(Note 1)
PREETH Chan Wai Kei, Vicki - - 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.29%
(MBRZ#xzt])  ("Ms. Vicki Chan”) (M=)
(Note 2)
e i e Chan Ping Kuen, Derek 20,000 - - 20,000 0.003%
FEE Yam Tat Wing 240,000 - 2,000,000 2,240,000 0.33%
(ft3E=)
(Note 2)
=5ARE Wong Edward Gwon-hing - - 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.29%
(fitzE=)
(Note 2)
Wiid— ZE RS LT HEAET0% Note 1: Such interests are held by Tamar Investments Group Limited,
Z ‘A &) Tamar Investments which is a company owned as to 70% by Ms. Cheng.
Group Limited #§ B < &6 Ms. Cheng and Mr. Victor Chan are directors of Tamar
2+ KBRS &5 A& Tamar Investments Group Limited.
Investments Group LimitedZ
HE-
W= ZEEmEERER ZER Note 2: These interests represented the interests in underlying shares
W I 2 7R A BB RARR 1 1 of the Company in respect of share options granted to the
il Directors.
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Tamar Investments Group

Limited
BEEpE Name of Directors
BR{ENL Chan Wai Lap, Victor
= )e: Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley
PREH Chan Wai Kei, Vicki
eSS Chan Mei Kei, Alice
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (conTINUED)

2. Interests in associated corporation

Tamar Investments Group Limited

hREEE

28T

[ NER

B LEzEBREE Percentage

Number of ordinary shares of of the issued

the associated corporation share capital

BARER DRER Rk of the
Personal Corporate  Underlying #s+  associated
interest interest interest Total corporation
16 - - 16 16%

70 - - 70 70%

7 - - 7 7%

7 - - 7 7%

Except as disclosed above, as at the reporting date, none of the
Directors or their respective associates had any personal, family,
corporate or other interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements,
no time during the year were the rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or children under
18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors or their respective spouse or children under 18
years of age to acquire such rights in any other corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 30 June 2025, no person, other than Mr. Victor Chan, Ms.
Cheng, Ms. Vicki Chan and Ms. Chan Mei Kei, Alice, whose interests
are set out in the section “Directors’ interests and short positions in
shares, underlying shares and debentures” above, had registered an
interest in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company
that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the connected party transactions, which also constituted as
related party transactions are set out in note 43 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at the
date of this report.
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EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

On 23 September 2025, the Group, as the vendor and an
independent third party, as purchaser entered into the sale and
purchase agreement. Pursuant to which the vendor conditionally
agreed to sell to the purchaser, and the purchaser conditionally
agreed to acquire, the Sale Shares, representing the entire issued
shares of the Big Bonus Limited, and the Sale Loan, (the “Disposal”)
at the Consideration of RMB33,370,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$36,470,073). Big Bonus Limited is an indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company and its principal asset is 100% interest
in Hongzhuang Gold Mine in Henan Province, PRC, which has
two mining areas. Details of the Disposal were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 23 September 2025.

Details of the significant events after the reporting date is set out in
note 49 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM of the
Company to re-appoint the auditor, BDO Limited.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Wai Lap, Victor
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 September 2025
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Tel : +852 2218 8288
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TO THE MEMBERS OF CONTINENTAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Continental Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 80 to 270, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June
2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
30 June 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment of mining right and related non-financial
assets

(Refer to notes 3.8, 3.9, 3.11, 3.13, 4, 14, 15 and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements)

As at 30 June 2025, the Group had carrying amounts (before current
year's impairment) in relation to mining right and non-financial assets
of approximately HK$495.9 million and HK$27.8 million respectively
relating to one of the cash-generating units within the mining
operation segment (the “Mining CGU II”).

Management has performed an impairment assessment in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policies and recognised
impairment losses of mining right and property, plant and equipment
of approximately HK$26.6 million and HK$0.46 million respectively
for the year ended 30 June 2025. Management engaged an
independent valuation firm to estimate the recoverable amount of
the Mining CGU Il using market approach with reference to recent
comparable transactions undertaken in the mining industry.

We identified the impairment assessment of mining right and related
non-financial assets as a key audit matter because of its significance
to the consolidated financial statements and because the selection
of recent comparable transactions involve significant judgement and
estimates with respect to the underlying market approach.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)
Our response:
Our procedures in relation to management'’s impairment assessment

of mining right and non-financial assets attributable to the Mining
CGU Il'included:

evaluating the independent valuation firm’s competence,
expertise and objectivity;

- assessing the appropriateness of the valuation methodology
used by management and the independent valuation firm;

- reviewing and challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions and critical judgement areas which underpin the
fair value estimation;

- engaging an auditor’s expert to assist us to assess the
appropriateness of the valuation methodology and the
reasonableness of the inputs, assumptions and estimations
used by management and the independent valuation firm
which underpin the fair value estimation; and

- checking the accuracy and the relevance of the input data
used.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Valuation of investment properties
(Refer to notes 3.12, 4 and 16 to the consolidated financial
Statements)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s investment properties at
30 June 2025 was HK$1,714 million. Investment properties are
measured at cost on initial recognition, and thereafter are carried
at fair value, with any changes therein recognised in profit or loss.
During the year ended 30 June 2025, the Group recognised a fair
value loss on its investment properties of HK$276.1 million. The
valuation of investment properties involves significant judgement
and estimates and is underpinned by a number of key assumptions.
The Group carries out a valuation of its investment properties by
using income capitalisation method or direct comparison method,
as appropriate. To assist management in this area which involves
significant judgements and estimates, the Group engaged an
independent valuation firm to perform the property valuation.

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key audit
matter because of its significance to the consolidated financial
statements and because the valuation of investment properties can
be inherently subjective and requires significant judgement.
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- evaluating the independent valuation firm’s competence,
expertise and objectivity;

- assessing the appropriateness of the valuation methodology
used by management and the independent valuation firm;

- reviewing and challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions and critical judgement areas which underpin the
fair value estimation;

- engaging an auditor’s expert to assist us to assess the
appropriateness of the valuation methodology and the
reasonableness of the inputs, assumptions and estimation
used by management and the independent valuation firm
which underpin the fair value estimation; and

- checking the accuracy and the relevance of the input data
used.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Assessment of the net realisable value of the properties under
development and properties for sale

(Refer to notes 3.15, 4 and 24 to the consolidated financial
statements)

As at 30 June 2025, the Group had carrying amounts of properties
under development and properties for sale of approximately
HK$279.4 million.

Management has performed a net realisable value (“NRV")
assessment of the properties under development and properties
for sale in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies and
recognised a write-down of the properties under development of
approximately HK$7.5 million for the year ended 30 June 2025. The
NRV assessment involves significant judgement and estimates and is
underpinned by a number of key assumptions including determining
open market value and/or the market evidence of transaction
prices for similar properties in the same locations and conditions
and the estimated costs to completion. To assist management in
this area which involves significant judgements and estimates, the
Group engaged an independent valuation firm to perform the NRV
assessment for certain properties under development and properties
for sale.

We identified the NRV assessment of properties under development
and properties for sale as a key audit matter because of its
significance to the consolidated financial statements and because the
NRV assessment of properties under development and properties for
sale can be inherently subjective and requires significant judgement.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Our response:

Our procedures in relation to the NRV assessment of properties under
development and properties for sale included:

- evaluating the independent valuation firm’s competence,
expertise and objectivity;

- assessing the appropriateness of the valuation methodology
used by management and the independent valuation firm;

- reviewing and challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions and critical judgement areas which underpin the
NRV assessment;

- engaging an auditor’s expert to assist us to assess the
appropriateness of the valuation methodology and the
reasonableness of the inputs, assumptions and estimation
used by management and the independent valuation firm
which underpin the NRV assessment; and

- checking the accuracy and the relevance of the input data
used.

Other Information in the Annual Report

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.



Independent Auditor’s Report m B3 ZE B

FHAMNEMER ()

BARBRMBEEMBERROETR - R
METRMELMEN  FlEEF -
EREMEMELS BEAMBRERE
BAEEZERT I TRNBEFEE
ABEHEUFFEEAHERRANE
e EREMATHMITHTIE - R
RREMERFEEARHREUL - M
FERETZEE - £EE - RIFPRE
(ERCIE T

EERRSMBRRARRBNER

EXFRAARERBSHMASEMD
FEMBHREEMGHEIRBE QT
FOIRERREE R A FERNGEY
F) AR BN AE B A R F Sk BA BR T E B EY
EASHERRIL AT BB N EREFI R E -

RRBEGEEMBERRE - EFTARFN
it BERERFELENEN  XHEER
BRTRERSELLAROEIR - A
RERBECERETER  KIEF
BER BEREBRIELLE L5
BEHMERNERTR

EXNEAREERE ERENMBRE
Big - BB eHMESEITHELRT
[E:0b=gEa

Other Information in the Annual Report (continued)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Directors’ Responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group'’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 405 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in @ manner that achieves fair presentation.

plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the group
as a basis for forming an opinion on the group financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the work performed for the purposes of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

FREMETIN  HMBEZREQER
TErEMBEZEE  BRATHEREASE
BERAE - BRRMAEERTEMNER
ERAE IV (R BARE

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lui Chi Kin
Practising Certificate Number P06162

Hong Kong, 29 September 2025
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2025 2024
HtaE FExT FET
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
& Revenue 6 585,835 360,402
HERA Cost of sales (474,977) (403,159)
ER,7(38) Gross profit/(loss) 110,858 (42,757)
SHE R SHECA Selling and distribution costs (18,553) (17,880)
1THERA Administrative expenses (97,517) (109,444)
Ha A « s Other income, other gains and
B85 5R losses, net 10,614 8557
B REWFENEMER  (Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment
FIBE 2 CRIEER), loss on trade receivables and other
REEER D FEE receivables, net (1,277) 642
WEYENTFEZ EE Change in fair value of investment
properties 16 (276,058) (87,938)
gk CRiEER), (Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment
BB E R loss on mining right 20 (26,599) 9,406
TSR AR Finance costs 7 (37,212) (52,425)
Bl A EEEE Share of results of joint ventures (1) (1)
FE(h—FEt & R RIEE Share of result of an associate 73 (2,309)
BRETEHAIEGE Loss before income tax 8 (335,672) (294,149)
FTisBiEse,(A%) Income tax credit/(expense) 9 5,066 (6,165)

FREE Loss for the year (330,606) (300,314)
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HEZZT-_RAF A A=TRHLFE

2025 2024
Mt FET FET
Notes HK$°000 HK$000
Hh2mE Uk - HIBRBITE  Other comprehensive income,
net of tax
HETEH/EEEFE>  Items that may be subsequently
HA : reclassified to profit or loss:
AAF(EEE A E A2 zs  Change in fair value of debt instruments
ZEBRTARAFEZE at fair value through other
comprehensive income - 153
RHEEAAFEF AEAM  Reclassified to profit or loss upon
2HENEZEFTARE  disposal of the debt instruments
Foiar Ei=E at fair value through other
comprehensive income (95) -
HEGINEFS ZEH =%  Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations 10,528 (2,502)
HETSEHHEEEIE 2 tems that will not be subsequently
HE : reclassified to profit or loss:
A ESFAEMEEWZE Change in fair value of equity
ZIRARTERAFEZ%E)  instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income (5,784) (2,611)
FREMDEKE Other comprehensive income
HMBRFLIE for the year, net of tax 4,649 (4,960)
FRAZHEKEEEE Total comprehensive income
for the year (325,957) (305,274)
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2025 2024
FExT FETL
HK$'000 HK$'000
EEFEREE : Loss for the year attributable to:
VIN/NETE 2 =N Owners of the Company (259,112) (257,302)
FEPE il A Non-controlling interests (71,494) (43,012)
(330,606) (300,314)
EhRFR2ERRELE Total comprehensive income for
the year attributable to:
INNETEZ 7 =N Owners of the Company (254,549) (262,258)
FEFEHIE R Non-controlling interests (71,408) (43,016)
(325,957) (305,274)
B JBN
HK cent HK cent
AATEEAE(LEEZ  Loss per share for loss attributable
BRER to the owners of the Company
- 7N — Basic (37.93) (37.67)
— g — Diluted (37.93) (37.67)




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position m %25 B & AR 3=

As at 30 June 2025
RZZE-RFA=1H

Annual Report 2025 F%f;

2025 2024
Kt FET FAEIT
Notes HK$'000 HK$000
BEEREHE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
EREBEE Non-current assets
W% - B MR Property, plant and equipment 14 21,877 25,688
FEREEE Right-of-use assets 15 27,951 32,445
LEME Investment properties 16 1,714,400 1,990,400
EE Goodwill 17 - -
%ﬁ?ﬁé Intangible assets 18 6,533 7,304
FRHERE Mining right 20 469,307 484,054
R—EEE AR 2 s Interests in an associate 21 = 21,253
NG B 7 s Interests in joint ventures 22 1,037 1,038
AAFEF A2 E Yz Financial assets at fair value through
ZEREE other comprehensive income 23 13,868 22,003
LAAFEzF ABz 24 Financial assets at fair value through
BE profit or loss 27 - 10,067
RIEFHIR & = Deferred tax assets 36 840 840
2,255,813 2,595,092
REBEE Current assets
BRAYENGFEE Properties under development and
properties for sales 24 279,398 485,123
wE Inventories 25 147,599 155,681
Z 5 EWEIE Trade receivables 26 84,251 61,399
TEREIE ~ e REMFEL  Prepayments, deposits and other
IE receivables 25,660 17,933
AFEFABz 4@ Financial assets at fair value through
EE profit or loss 27 - 2,521
HeNIREER Cash and cash equivalents 28 36,358 49,156
573,266 771,813
REBERE Current liabilities
22 EA A Trade payables 29 (66,633) (59,770)
HithfEFUB RSt E R Other payables and accruals 29 (42,341) (37,714)
BHEE Contract liabilities 30 (243) (343)
RITER Bank loans 31 (796,081) (882,506)
HEAE Lease liabilities 32 (5,150) (4,923)
PERRAR AR 2 B Loan from a controlling shareholder 35 (10,000) -
JEAS BB A Bk IE Due to related companies 34 (38,396) (7,379)
FERtE S FEIIE Due to joint ventures 22 (1,036) (1,036)
A ETAEZZEE  Financial liabilities at fair value through
=L profit or loss 27 (211) -
TR IB RS Provision for tax (1,718) (1,925)
(961,809) (995,596)
RBEERE Net current liabilities (388,543) (223,783)
BEERTRBERE Total assets less current liabilities 1,867,270 2,371,309
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2025 2024
MiaF FET FEIT
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
FEREBAEG Non-current liabilities
RITER Bank loans 31 - (153,730)
HEARE Lease liabilities 32 (4,073) (7,834)
F‘ﬁ?HW%Uﬁé = *}( Due to non-controlling interests 33 (93,675) (80,670)
FE(S RERE A R Due to related companies 34 (5,021) (30,047)
PR A% BR HR Z% Loan from a controlling shareholder 35 (4,385) (4,280)
ELEFIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 36 (111,254) (114,089)
(218,408) (390,650)
BEEFRE Net assets 1,648,862 1,980,659
ez EQUITY
RN Share capital 37 560,673 560,673
E Reserves 38 1,001,781 1,256,806
AATEE ABEER Equity attributable to the owners of
the Company 1,562,454 1,817,479
FEEFIfE R Non-controlling interests 86,408 163,180
EREEE Total equity 1,648,862 1,980,659
REES=S On behalf of the Board
BRIZESL Chan Wai Lap, Victor
EZE Director
BB/ Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley
= Director
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2025 2024
Kzt FET T#ET
Notes HK$'000 HK$000
KESEHIEETRE Cash flows from operating
activities
BRPTS AT RIEE Loss before income tax (335,672) (294,149)
E5t ~N5E B FEE - Adjustments for:
BATS B AR Finance costs 37,212 52,425
JE(LE SRt Share of results of joint ventures 1 1
e —MEE S A R A Share of result of an associate (73) 2,309
Y - R NREREITE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 2,446 4,027
FREEETE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 6,506 6,020
SRR Y AR (R/E  Impairment loss/(reversal of

s ERm) impairment loss) on mining right 26,599 (9,406)
| &R 7 REEE Impairment loss on intangible assets 804 965
PR Y E R Impairment loss on goodwill - 8,124
BREEE 7 BEEE Impairment loss on right-of-use assets 428 717
M BERREZHE  Impairment loss on property,

&g plant and equipment 2,192 6
FERE Provision for inventories 2,167 1,566
B pElh=a L EmpEls  Impairment loss/(reversal of

IR 7 FEERE S ClE impairment loss) on trade

Bk ) %E receivables and other

receivables, net 1,277 (642)
WoRZER AR YE R EFE Write down of properties under
L IE 3 development and properties
for sales 7,552 141,031
WS b e < =R IE Write off of other payables = (7,747)
HEWME  BEKSERE 2 Gain on disposal of property,

e plant and equipment (122) (34)
HEUAFEET AEM Gain on disposal of debt instruments

AEWRZERTA at fair value through other

U5 comprehensive income (95) _
B Y ENT(E Y &H) Change in fair value of investment

properties 276,058 87,938
AAFEETAERZ Fair value (gain)/loss on financial

SRVEE Y NTE assets at fair value through profit

(Ig25),/ 515 o7 lgss (621) 351
KEFIHHNE (Uzs) B4 Unrealised foreign exchange

(gain)/loss (221) 1,261
StiE —RIREEE A T8 Gain on debt modification on
1B ETE 2 WS amounts due to a related company - (1,289)
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2025 2024
HtaE FExT FET
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
BEESEHAI 2 KE Operating profit/(loss) before
wHL(E5E) working capital changes 26,438 (6,526)
RPN FEYZER D Decrease in properties under
development and properties for sale 208,813 44,671
FERD Decrease in inventories 5,915 25,926
Z S ErIE (g ) 4> (Increase)/Decrease in trade receivables (24,173) 3,790
FTENFIE ~ 2E NEMEY Increase in prepayments, deposits and
RIBIEAN other receivables (7,727) (2,671)
AFET ABm e/l Decrease in financial assets and liabilities
BENMBERD at fair value through profit or loss 13,193 3,961
BH5RHMENFIEAN  Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other
FEETE RN, Crd) payables and accruals 11,490 (41,488)
BHBERD Decrease in contract liabilities (100) (11)
KEMBzEE Cash generated from operations 233,849 27,652
EAFE Interest paid (45,837) (63,373)
ETFET Income tax paid (551) (578)
EETE S (FFAE)Z  Net cash generated from/(used in)
B HEE operating activities 187,461 (36,299)
RETEEESRE Cash flows from investing activities
REVE - KEREE Additions to property,
plant and equipment (453) (2,946)
NBIREYE Additions to investment properties (58) (238)
HENRAFET AEMET Proceeds from disposal of financial
W2 B E 25 assets at fair value through other
IB comprehensive income 23,904 2,342
ﬁ’%%% R N &2 FT Proceeds from disposal of property,
1SR plant and equipment 309 193
EEURE 'J HIR A=1E A LA £ Withdrawal of time deposits with
ZEHTFER original maturities over three months - 6,406
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2025 2024
Mt FET FET
Notes HK$°000 HK$000
REZEFS>HE2F5  Net cash generated from
investing activities 23,702 5,757
REITBRERE Cash flow from financing activities
UrBSIER IS FrAEAEE)  Cash outflows arising from acquisition
REm of non-controlling interests 47 (5,840) =
FEFE AR R Advance from non-controlling interests 45 13,005 17,141
RAHSE 5 Ak Advance from a related party 45 3,837 781
PG RS B EAER Advance from a controlling shareholder 45 10,000 -
ERHEAEAEEHE Repayment of principal and interest
amount of lease liabilities 45 (6,043) (5,286)
FTIZIRTTER New bank loans 45 62,235 247,513
EEBITER Repayment of bank loans 45 (302,390) (269,579)
BETE A 2E%/FE8  Net cash used in financing activities (225,196) (9,430)
RHERBREZEERMAPFEE  Net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents (14,033) (39,972)
FHNZRERREEHE Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year 49,156 90,695
SMSERSE) /S FE  Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net 1,235 (1,567)
FRZEGRECEE Cash and cash equivalents at
end of year 36,358 49,156
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LN IN 3
Equity attributable to the owners of the Company

ATET

AR EXR®  BEEM AAfi2E
RA R i BtRE RRRE TARE i He  haRE  REEA g HANER  ERER

Fair value

Share Non- Captal ~ Exchange Assets through other Non-

Share option ~ distributable Other Specil  contribution  fluctuation  revaluation  comprehensive Retained controling Total
apital reserve reserve reserve reserve Teserve reserve reserve  ncomeresene profits Total interests equity

TEr  TET  TEr  TEn  TAn  TEr  TEr  TEm TEw TEw TEn TEr TEn
HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSOO0  HKSOO0  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSOO0  HKSO00  HKSOOO  HKSO00  HKS000  HK$'000

RZB==E£+§ Balanceasat
-Bkth 1July 2023 560,673 6,609 273606 (7.3%) 2,103 28,567 (31,204) 36,385 (3844) 1218444 2079737 2061% 2285933

BRIERER(ELN Lapsed of share option
(fE=+A)  uponexpiy (note 39) = (1,409) = = = - - - - 1409 - - -

SFEAZZS  Transactons with
owners - (1,409) - - - - - - - 1409 - - -

FRER Loss for the year = = = = = = = = - (57300 (257.300) (43012)  (300314)

Eh2H%E:  Other comprehensive
income:
BEBNERL  bchange differences on
ERZR translation of foreign
geilin - - - - - - e - - - (U v
INATEEFALH Changesin fairvalue
2ENREZER  of finandal assets at
BENHEZ  fairvalve through
2% other comprehensive
income - - - - - - - - (2.458) - (2.458) - (2,458)

ER2ANHELE Total comprehensive
income for the year - - = = - - (249%) - Q458 (257300  (262.258) @3016)  (305,274)

R=Z-M&EXA Balance as at
=tEzES  30June 2024 560,673 5200 273,606 (7,39) * 2,103 % 28567 (33,702)*  36,385¢ (6302)*  962551% 1817479 163180 1,980,659
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ANARENEGRS
Equity attributable to the owners of the Company

NAREs

FIRK EiRE  AEER AHHRE
Rx  BRERE [ EBBE  RHBE  REER i BE  bERE  REE B FENEE  BHAE

Fairvalue

Share Non- Capital  Exchange Assets  through other Non-
Share option  distributable Other Special ~contribution  fluctuation  revaluation  comprehensive  Retained controlling Total
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve Teserve  income resenve profits Total interests equity
b3 223 7Er FEr T 771 771 7 FEr FEr FEr TEr TEr
HKS 000 HKs'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS$ 000
WZB-BELE - Balanceasat

A2ts 1July 2024 560,673 5,200% 273,606* (7,39) * (2103)% 28567 (33702)*  36,385* (6302)* 962551 1817479 163180 1,980,659
BREER&AH  Lapsed of share option

(BE=A)  uponexpiy (note39) = (470) = o o - - - - an - - B
FesliEESE  Changesin ownersip

ERTAME  interestsinasubsidary

DFERE  wihout changein

BHEHE  contol (oted)

Bt - - - bW - - Im - - - wm B 680
SEEAZRS  Transactions with owners - (470) - (363) - - (13) - - 410 (476) (5,364) (5,840)
FRER Losshrtheyea - - - - - - - - - M My
Efb2EhE:  Other comprehensive

income:
HEENER  Bchange differences on
Eitz8 {ransltion of foreign
operations - - - - - - 10442 - - - 10442 86 10528
IHENATEEA Redassifed to profitor

E2EMREZ  lossupon disposelof

[EHTERES  debtintumentsatfar

HERER value through other

comprehensie income - - - - - = o - (%5) - (%) . (95
DIAFEETARS  Changes infairvalue of

SEMEzER  financal assets at fai

BENFEZ  valuethoughother

2 comprehensive ncome - - - - - - - - (5,784) - (5,784) - (5,784)
EXREUESE  Total comprehensive

income for the year - - - - - - 10442 - (5879) (89112 (284549 (M408)  (3%5950)
HAHELATEETA Transfer with equty upon

ARG diposalof equity

BRTEREZ  instumentsat far

& vlue thiough other

comprefensive income - - - - - = = - 5711 5711) , ; ;
RZE-HEAR  Balanceasat

=TAZER 30 June 2025 560,673 4730 273,606* (7,759)* (2103 28567 (B3 36,385* (6470 698198* 1562454 86408  1,648862

* ZEREBERERBREAMBMRAERS * These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of

ZERAE#1,001,781,0008 (=

ZPO4F : 1,256,806,000/87T) ° statement of financial position.

HK$1,001,781,000 (2024: HK$1,256,806,000) in the consolidated
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Continental Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong.
The address of the Company’s registered office and principal
place of business is Flats M & N, 1st Floor, Kaiser Estate, Phase
Ill, 11 Hok Yuen Street, Hunghom, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The
Company'’s shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “"Group”) are principally engaged in the following
activities:

o Design, manufacturing, marketing and trading of fine
jewellery and diamonds (the “Jewellery Business”)

o Property investment and development
o Mining operation
° Investment

In the opinion of the directors, the Company’s ultimate
holding company is Tamar Investments Group Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.
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GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 80 to 270
have been prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards which collective terms include all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial
statements also include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

ADOPTION OF HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS

(a) Adoption of revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards - effective 1 July 2024

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA that are
relevant to its operations and effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2024.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to Hong Kong  Presentation of Financial Statements - Classification
Interpretation 5 (Revised) by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
and HKFRS 7

None of these amendments has a material impact
on the Group's results and financial position for the
current or prior period. The Group has not early
applied any new or amended HKFRS Accounting
Standards that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.
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2. ADOPTION OF HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards
that have been issued but are not yet effective

The following new and revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards, potentially relevant to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, have been issued,
but are not yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group. The Group’s current intention
is to apply these changes on the date they become
effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification and Measurement

and HKFRS 7 of Financial Instruments?
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements?
Amendments to HKFRS  Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting
Accounting Standards ~ Standards - Volume 112

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-cependent Electricity?
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and HKAS 28 and its Associate or Joint Venture*

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

Notes:

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027

e No mandatory effective date yet determined by

available for adoption
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2.

ADOPTION OF HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards
that have been issued but are not yet effective
(continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7, Amendments
to the Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments

The amendments clarify that a financial liability is
derecognised on the ‘settlement date’ and introduce
an accounting policy choice to derecognise financial
liabilities settled using an electronic payment system
before the settlement date. Other clarifications
include the classification of financial assets with
Environmental, Social and Governance linked
features via additional guidance on the assessment
of contingent features. Clarifications have been
made to non-recourse loans and contractually linked
instruments.
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2.

ADOPTION OF HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards
that have been issued but are not yet effective
(continued)

HKFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 sets out significant new requirements
for how financial statements are presented, with
particular focus on the statement of profit or loss,
including requirements for mandatory sub-totals
to be presented, aggregation and disaggregation
of information, as well as disclosures related to
management-defined performance measures. The
aim of HKFRS 18 is to improve comparability and
transparency of companies’ performance reporting.
HKFRS 18 has also resulted in narrow changes to the
statement of cash flows.
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ADOPTION OF HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards
that have been issued but are not yet effective
(continued)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards,
Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11

The amendments include clarifications,
simplifications, corrections, and changes intended
to improve consistency in (i) HKFRS 1, First-time
Adoption of International Financial Reporting
Standards; (ii) HKFRS 7, Financial Instruments:
Disclosures and Guidance on implementing HKFRS
7; (i) HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments; (iv) HKFRS 10,
Consolidated Financial Statements; and (v) HKAS 7,
Statement of Cash Flows.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7, Contracts
Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity

The amendments include guidance on the ‘own-use’
exemption for purchasers of electricity under such
power purchase agreements; and hedge accounting
requirements for companies that hedge their
purchases or sales of electricity using power purchase
agreements.
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2.

ADOPTION OF HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards
that have been issued but are not yet effective
(continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify with situations where
there is a sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture. When
the transaction with an associate or joint venture
that is accounted for using the equity method, any
gains or losses resulting from the loss of control of
a subsidiary that does not contain a business are
recognised in the profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or
joint venture. Similarly, any gains or losses resulting
from the remeasurement of retained interest in any
former subsidiary (that has become an associate or a
joint venture) to fair value are recognised in the profit
or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’
interests in the new associate or joint venture.
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2.

ADOPTION OF HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards
that have been issued but are not yet effective
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21, Lack of Exchangeability

The amendments clarify the requirements on
determining whether a currency is exchangeable into
another currency, and the spot exchange rate to use
when it is not.

The directors of the Company have performed an
assessment of the above amendments to standards
and interpretations and have concluded on a
preliminary basis that these amendments to standards
would not have a significant impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in subsequent
years.

Other than HKFRS 18, the Group does not expect
these pronouncements issued by the HKICPA, but
not yet effective, to have a material impact on the
Group's financial statements.

Even though HKFRS 18 will not have any effect on
the recognition and measurement of items in the
consolidated financial statements, it is expected
to have a material effect on the presentation and
disclosure of certain items. These changes include
categorisation and sub-totals in the statement
of profit or loss, aggregation or disaggregation
and labelling of information, and disclosure of
management-defined performance measures.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1

Basis of preparation

The material accounting policies that have been used
in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are summaries below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented
unless otherwise stated. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical
cost basis except for certain properties and financial
instruments, which are measured at fair values as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company considered that
the Group is able to continue as a going concern
notwithstanding that the Group incurred a loss
attributable to the owners of the Company of
approximately HK$259,112,000 during the year
ended 30 June 2025, and as of that date, the Group’s
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
approximately HK$388,543,000. As at 30 June 2025,
the Group had bank loans of HK$796,081,000 (note
31), which were all classified as current liabilities,
while the Group only maintained its cash and cash
equivalents of HK$36,358,000.



Annual Report 2025 F%f;

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %5 B #S3R TR M 5T

For the year ended 30 June 2025
HEZZT-_RAF A A=TRHLFE

- BITEE®)

3.1

REEE ()

REHEERFELEEE
BRI ERNEE
1H - BERERE
EBANGAMTRREL
R EIR+RE A HfE Ay
RERERR - ARAE
ERHEARERDHE
RV BERIAFHBLE
EARER - DEEAR
ZEAEENARRREE
T RRIBAKRAREB AT
EEREMIR - Wit MAT
AHE RfEhE

1. RELEBHE -
AEBBELE—
BEYFEBNRF
EWMHENETE
iz - WIEHKR T
B8 i % 70 T8 ORI ER
WENL - HFE
B AR ZE Bz Y
XIEEMEHE - I
SEARBEE
WIRITER * &
¥ 514,806,000/
T o (B8 Fali iR

3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

When assessing the appropriateness of the use of
the going concern basis for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, the directors have
prepared a cash flow forecast covering a period
of 15 months from the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements. The directors of
the Company have given careful consideration to
the future liquidity and performance of the Group
and the Group’s available source of financing,
having regard to the following plans and measure,
in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to continue as a going concern:

1. Subsequent to year end date, the Group sold
certain units of the properties for sale of a
property project and it is expected that the
remaining units would be sold during the
forecast period at a margin sufficient to cover
the bank loans associate with this property
project of HK$14,806,000, which are
classified under current liabilities. The excess
funds after the repayment of the said bank
loans will serve as additional working capital
for the Group;
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

Subsequent to the year end date, the
Group successfully renewed a bank loan of
approximately HK$654,694,000, which was
classified under current liabilities as at 30 June
2025, for a term of 3 years. The directors of
the Company expect that the bank loan of
HK$606,500,000, despite the existence of
the repayable on demand clause, would be
repayable after 30 June 2026 based on the
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreement, taking into account the Group’s
compliance record with the bank, including
timely settlements and the availability of
sufficient assets as collateral;

The directors of the Company expect that
the other bank loans classified under the
current liabilities could be repaid as scheduled
or renewed upon expiry on the basis of the
Group's past records in the compliance with
the terms of the relevant bank loans, including
timely settlement of bank loans and/or the
availability of sufficient assets as collaterals;
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

In June 2025, the controlling shareholder of
the Company (the “Controlling Shareholder”)
has granted a loan facility of HK$60,000,000
to the Company to support the Group
for its working capital requirements up to
30 September 2026 and the directors of
the Company are of the opinion that it is
the present intention of the Controlling
Shareholder to extend the facility should the
need arise;

Pacific Islands Company Limited (“Pacific
Islands”), a related company owned by a
director of the Company, and BN f1E#H
REKAAERAR (“BH"), in which the
Controlling Shareholder is a key management
personnel, have agreed not to demand
repayment of loans of approximately
HK$6,880,000 and HK$31,516,000
respectively, until all other third-party liabilities
of the Group have been settled;
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

The Group is contemplating the disposal of
certain assets to enhance its liquidity and
reduce indebtedness. On 23 September
2025, Continental Mining Holdings Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a sale and purchase agreement
to dispose of entire issued shares of a
wholly owned subsidiary, Big Bonus Limited
(the "Target Company”), of which the net
assets primarily consist of the mining right
(note 19) and the entire loan owing by the
Target Company, for a cash consideration of
RMB33,370,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$36,470,073). The directors of the
Company expect that the consideration, if
the transaction is to be proceeded with and
completed, would be received within the
forecast period.

The Group will continue its effort to enhance
its operations and implement measures to
tighten cost controls over various operating
expenses to improve its cash flows from
operations to strengthen the working capital
of the Group.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

In the opinion of the directors, taking into account
the above plans and measures, the Group will have
sufficient working capital to finance its operation
and meet its financial obligations as and when they
fall due. Accordingly, the directors consider it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above plans and
measures, it might not be able to continue as a going
concern, and adjustments would have to be made to
write down the carrying value of the Group's assets to
their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-
current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects
of these adjustments have not been reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

The financial information relating to the year
ended 30 June 2025 included in this preliminary
announcement of annual results does not constitute
the Company’s statutory annual consolidated
financial statements for that year but is derived
from those financial statements. Further information
relating to these statutory financial statements
required to be disclosed in accordance with section
436 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
Cap. 622 (the “Companies Ordinance”) is as follows:

The Company had delivered the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2024 to the Registrar of
Companies as required by section 662(3) of, and Part
3 of Schedule 6 to, the Companies Ordinance and will
deliver the financial statements for the year ended 30
June 2025 in due course.

The Company’s auditor has reported on those
financial statements of the Group for both years. The
auditor’s reports were unqualified; did not include a
reference to any matters to which the auditor drew
attention by way of emphasis without qualifying
its report; and did not contain a statement under
sections 406(2), 407(2) or (3) of the Companies
Ordinance.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

53

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries. Inter-company transactions and balances
between group companies together with unrealised
profits are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of impairment on the asset transferred, in
which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group's interest and the non-controlling interest
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between
the amount by which the non-controlling interest
is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company as “Other
reserve”.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls
an investee if all three of the following elements are
present: (i) power over the investee, (ii) exposure, or
rights, to variable returns from the investee, and (iii)
the ability to use its power to affect those variable
returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in
any of these elements of control.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3

34

35

Subsidiaries (continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
accumulated impairment loss, if any. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividend received and receivable.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary
nor a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but not control or joint
control over those policies. In consolidated financial
statements, associates are accounted for using the
equity method whereby they are initially recognised
at cost and thereafter, their carrying amount are
adjusted for the Group’s share of the post-acquisition
change in the associates’ net assets except that losses
in excess of the Group’s interest in the associate are
not recognised unless there is an obligation to make
good those losses.

Joint arrangements

The Group is a party to a joint arrangement where
there is a contractual arrangement that confers joint
control over the relevant activities of the arrangement
to the Group and at least one other party. Joint
control is assessed under the same principles as
control over subsidiaries.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.5

3.6

Joint arrangements (continued)

The Group classifies its interests in joint arrangements
as joint ventures where the Group has rights to only
the net assets of the joint arrangement.

Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity
method whereby they are initially recognised at cost
and thereafter, their carrying amounts are adjusted
for the Group’s share of post-acquisition changes
in the joint ventures’ net assets except that losses in
excess of the Group's interest in the joint venture are
not recognised unless there is an obligation to make
good those losses.

Foreign currency translation

In the individual financial statements of the
consolidated entities, foreign currency transactions
are translated into the functional currency of the
individual entity using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the reporting
date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at that date. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the reporting date retranslation
of monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in
profit or loss.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.6

Foreign currency translation (continued)

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined and are reported as part of
the fair value gain or loss. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual
financial statements of foreign operations, originally
presented in a currency different from the Group’s
presentation currency, have been converted into HK$.
Assets and liabilities have been translated into HK$
at the closing rates at the reporting date. Income
and expenses have been converted into HK$ at the
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates, or at
the average rates over the reporting period provided
that the exchange rates do not fluctuate significantly.
Any differences arising from this procedure have
been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in the exchange fluctuation
reserve in equity.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.7

Goodwill

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill arising from an acquisition is
allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the acquisition. A cash-generating unit is the
smallest identifiable group of assets that generates
cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash
inflows from other assets or groups of assets. A cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually, by comparing its
carrying amount with its recoverable amount (see
note 3.13), and whenever there is an indication that
the unit may be impaired.

When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the
impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit first,
and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata
on the basis of the carrying amount to each asset
in the unit. However, the loss allocated to each
asset will not reduce the individual asset’s carrying
amount to below its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable) or its value in use (if determinable),
whichever is the higher. Any impairment loss for
goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is not
reversed in subsequent periods.

O



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %= 5 BI #S3R =Mz

For the year ended 30 June 2025
HEZZ-_RAF A A=TAHLFE

—
o

3 - R KRB

WE - BB MR (EZ
TRERRIN AR AN (B AR
BEMSEEEZEEN
NGB E TR B RS E
FEmELE 2 EREEE
HRA) B R ITERE
AR E R 1R (PifRE3.13) 71
fR o REBRA RAEHE
TR B AR RREERN 2
AJRERANEEBIEE K
REER] SEMET B - T &
FABEZRESBRIE
RREBEERR (W

HE)

RREREERERETRE
N TERGEE 2 hET
A] {5 A BN LA B AR VA
SHRNANFTE o BLULEA 2
FE2ERMAT
IHAE WEERSSEL
[EErTERFE
(BREBE)N
EEYN WHERS3EL
[EErTERFE
(BREBE)N
HENFRE WHESS4EL
[EErTERFE
(BREBE)N
iR s 10% - 33%
il & 17% - 20%
Rt
B 25%

3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.8

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost, which
comprise purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses (note
3.13). Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably.

Other than mining structures and the construction in
progress, depreciation is calculated on the straight-
line basis to write off the cost of each asset over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:
Factory buildings Over the term of the leases or
estimated useful lives of 25 years,

whichever is shorter
Commercial buildings Over the term of the leases or
estimated useful lives of 33 years,

whichever is shorter

Leasehold Over the term of the leases or

improvements estimated useful ives of 4 years,

whichever is shorter

Plant and machinery 10% - 33%

Furniture, fixtures 17% - 20%
and equipment

Motor vehicles 25%
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.8

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation on mining structures is provided to write
off the cost of the mining structure using units-of-
production method based on the total proven and
probable mineral reserves of the ore mines.

The depreciation method, assets’ residual values and
useful lives, are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate,
at each reporting date. The gain or loss on retirement
or disposal of an asset of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between
the sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss on disposal.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less
accumulated impairment losses (if any). Cost
comprises direct costs of construction. No
depreciation is provided for in respect of construction
in progress until it is completed and ready for its
intended use.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.9

Leasing

All leases are required to be capitalised in the
consolidated statement of financial position as right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities, but accounting
policy choices exist for an entity to choose not to
capitalise (i) leases which are short-term leases and/
or (ii) leases for which the underlying asset is of low-
value. The Group has elected not to recognise right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-value assets
and leases for which at the commencement date
have a lease term less than 12 months and does
not contain a purchase option. The lease payments
associated with those leases have been expensed on
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use asset is recognised at cost and would
comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement of
the lease liability (see below for the accounting policy
to account for lease liability); (ii) any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date, less any
lease incentives received; (iii) any initial direct costs
incurred by the lessee and (iv) an estimate of costs to
be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories. The Group
measures the right-of-use assets applying a cost
model which measures at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liability.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.9

Leasing (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

The Group accounts for leasehold land and buildings
that are held for rental or capital appreciation
purpose under HKAS 40 and are carried at fair value.
The Group accounts for buildings which is held for
own use under HKAS 16 and would be under cost
model. For right-of-use assets related to interests
in leasehold land where interest in the land is held
as inventory are carried at lower of cost and net
realisable value in accordance with note 3.15. Other
than the above right-of-use assets, the Group also
has leased a number of properties under tenancy
agreements which the Group exercises it judgement
and determines that it is a separate class of asset apart
from the leasehold land and buildings which is held
for own use namely “other properties leased for own
use”. As a result, the right-of-use asset arising from
the properties under tenancy agreements are carried
at depreciated cost.

Lease liabilities

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date
of commencement of the lease. The lease payments
are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that
rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally
the case of the Group, the Group uses the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.9

Leasing (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The following payments for right to use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not
paid at the commencement date of the lease are
considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed payments
less any lease incentives receivable: (ii) variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at
commencement date; (iii) amounts expected to be
payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
(iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee
is reasonably certain to exercise that option and (v)
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring
the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or
lease modifications, e.g., a change in future lease
payments arising from change in an index or rate, a
change in the lease term, a change in the in substance
fixed lease payments or a change in assessment to
purchase the underlying asset.



Annual Report 2025 F%f;

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %5 B #S3R TR M 5T

For the year ended 30 June 2025
HEZZT-_RAF A A=TRHLFE

- BITEE®)

3.9

3.10

3.1

HE(#E)
TERUITANZ BFt B IE

AEE D RETHEAHE
HEEYF - KEMEL
HEBARERAENA
NEAREERSER - i
B R EHEEL
Z A EERAGTARE
BEZRESRE  WHRHE
BN AE AR S
¥ o

BLEE

BEREwErEAFHA
D2 B EERK
IR AR EE R RERS
B (R T XX H5E3.13
BHREREEREREBZ
EER) ©

g

EREBHEIR AR AN R AT 55
FATIRERE RS » I
NEEBLDERENEAE
B RARAEHERE
B3H o

3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.9

3.10

3.11

Leasing (continued)

Accounting as lessor

The Group has leased out its investment properties to
a number of tenants. Rental income from operating
leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised as an expense on the
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that
are acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses (see the
accounting policy in note 3.13 below in respect of
impairment losses on intangible assets).

Mining right

Mining right is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses and are
amortised on the units-of-production method based
on the total proven and probable reserves of the ore
mines.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.12

3.13

Investment properties

Investment property is property held either to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or for both, but
not held for sale in the ordinary course of business,
use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes. On initial recognition,
investment property is measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment property is stated at fair
value. Fair value is determined by external professional
valuers, with sufficient experience with respect to
both the location and the nature of the investment
property. The carrying amounts recognised at the
reporting date reflect the prevailing market conditions
at the reporting date.

Gains or losses arising from either changes in the
fair value or the sale of an investment property are
included in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.

Impairment of non-financial assets (except for
goodwiill)

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
mining right, and interests in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures are subject to impairment testing.
They are tested for impairment whenever there are
indications that the assets’ carrying amount may not
be recoverable.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.13

Impairment of non-financial assets (except for
goodwill) (continued)

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment at least annually, and whenever there
is an indication that they may be impaired.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value,
reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal, and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessment of time value of money
and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent from those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generate cash inflows
independently (i.e. a CGU). As a result, some assets
are tested individually for impairment and some are
tested at CGU level. Any impairment loss is charged
pro-rata to the assets in the CGU, except that
the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable) or value in use (if determinable),
whichever is the higher.

~



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %= 5 BI #S3R =Mz

For the year ended 30 June 2025
HEZZ-_RAF A A=TAHLFE

—
0]

313 FEMEERE(BHER
(&)

3.14

fis A LA RERE & EE AT MR 1 2
B TR A NES -

A CRERE

HEEE

Z BRSBTS (I
EREDHEBEMEE

AR
B3H) o

SR(RHBRTEX

EMTA

(1)

EHEE

TREEGRER
TEEERRE
K2 B 5 e
FR) MR IA R
BX (LI FELA
N EFT AR
ZEBME)EZ
BERNEBERL
BIZZXHHRA
B TRBE
ABEXRDZE
2 W KB 15
B HEIEE -

FMIEERERE
EEERNRSH
(BIAR SR EAGHE
BEYHEZEE
ZB)HER - FR
BEEHARN R
HIAR A M5 E
pIHESL 2 A A
BREEZZR

BEERE

3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.13

3.14

Impairment of non-financial assets (except for
goodwiill) (continued)

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined,
net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment
loss had been recognised.

Financial Instruments

0] Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component)
is initially measured at fair value plus, for an
item not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs that are directly attributable
to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable
without a significant financing component is
initially measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of
financial assets are recognised on the trade
date, that is, the date that the Group commits
to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the market place.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14

Financial Instruments (continued)

)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirely when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt
instruments depends on the Group’s business
model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset. There are
three measurement categories into which the
Group classifies its debt instruments:

Financial assets at amortised cost: Assets
that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Financial assets
at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method. Interest
income, foreign exchange gains and losses
and impairment are recognised in profit or
loss. Any gain on derecognition is recognised
in profit or loss.

O
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0] TREE &) 0] Financial assets (continued)

BT AE) Debt instruments (continued)
AN FEE A B Fair value through profit or loss: Financial
% UAFEMES assets at fair value through profit or loss
ABRTLRE include financial assets held for trading,
EAEEEES financial assets designated upon initial
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recognition at fair value through profit or
loss, or financial assets mandatorily required
to be measured at fair value. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of selling or

ANEEHEZ S repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives,
BBE - SRE including separated embedded derivatives,
EMARHLEE are also classified as held for trading unless
o B (O] 7] B A they are designated as effective hedging
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instruments. Financial assets with cash flows
that are not solely payments of principal
and interest are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss, irrespective
of the business model. Notwithstanding
the criteria for debt instruments to be
classified at amortised cost or at fair value
through other comprehensive income, as
described above, debt instruments may be
designated at fair value through profit or loss
on initial recognition if doing so eliminates,
or significantly reduces, an accounting
mismatch.
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3. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14 Financial Instruments (continued)

)

Financial assets (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

Fair value through other comprehensive
income: Financial assets that are held within
a business model whose objective is to be
achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling the financial assets and
the contractual terms of the financial assets
give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding
are measured at fair value though other
comprehensive income. Interest income
calculated using the effective interest method,
foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss.
Other net gains and losses are recognised
in other comprehensive income. On
derecognition, gains and losses accumulated
in other comprehensive income are recycled
to profit or loss.
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(i) BREE (F) () Financial assets (continued)
T A Equity instruments
R HER I IE On initial recognition of an equity investment
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that is not held for trading, the Group could
irrevocably elect to present subsequent

CIRNGIE: &ip:ih changes in the investment's fair value in
EEEMmEEY other comprehensive income. This election

#2IRERT
HZRERD -

is made on an investment-by-investment
basis. Equity investments at fair value through

ZRERRE R other comprehensive income are measured
HEH - UMAF at fair value. Dividend income are recognised
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cost of the investments. Other net gains and
losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income and are not reclassified to profit or
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14 Financial Instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for
expected credit loss (“ECLs”) on trade
receivables and other financial assets
measured at amortised cost and debt
instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income. The ECLs are
measured on either of the following bases:
(1) 12 months ECLs: these are the ECLs that
result from possible default events within the
12 months after the reporting date; and (2)
lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from
all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument. The maximum
period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then
discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14 Financial Instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(continued)

The Group has elected to measure loss
allowances for trade receivables using HKFRS
9 simplified approach and has calculated
ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on
the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are
based on the 12-months ECLs. However,
when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since origination, the allowance will
be based on the lifetime ECLs.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14

Financial Instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(continued)

When determining whether the credit risk of
a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition and when estimating
ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative
information analysis, based on the Group'’s
historical experience and informed credit
assessment and including forward-looking
information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it
is more than 30 days past due. Depending on
the nature of the financial instruments, the
assessment of a significant increase in credit
risk is performed on either an individual or
a collective basis. When the assessment is
performed on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due
status and credit risk ratings.

ul
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(i) ZFEEZHE (ii) Impairment loss on financial assets
V3 =1C-)) (continued)
AEBERE - M The Group considers a financial asset to be
&% A KA B8 in default when the debtor is unlikely to pay
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and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

The Group considers a financial asset to be
credit-impaired when:

- significant financial difficulty of the
debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default
or being more than 90 days past due
event unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information
demonstrate otherwise;
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14 Financial Instruments (continued)

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets
(continued)

- the restructuring of a loan or advance
by the Group on terms that the Group
would not consider otherwise;

- it is becoming probable that the
debtor will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market
for a security because of financial
difficulties.
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(i) ZFEEZHE (ii) Impairment loss on financial assets
BB () (continued)
fii 8 &R 7R H The Group writes off a financial asset when
FHERENE there is information indicating that the
HEmERK counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
[l 7] & - 5 2 ¥ and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
FHEETER for example, when the counterparty has been
N EEAWER placed under liquidation or has entered into

Fo AEEEH

bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement

ERBEELERERE activities under the Group's recovery
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AEEH DR a derecognition event. Any subsequent
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REERE=RF The Group recognises an impairment gain
WRABESHI or loss in profit or loss for all financial
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EEEEREHE allowance account.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14

Financial Instruments (continued)

(i)

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the
liabilities were incurred. Financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss are initially
measured at fair value and financial liabilities
at amortised costs are initially measured at
fair value, net of directly attributable costs
incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
trade payables, other payables and accruals,
bank loans, amounts due to non-controlling
interests, loan from a controlling shareholder,
amounts due to joint ventures and amounts
due to related companies are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method. The related interest
expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gain or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the amortisation process.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14

Financial Instruments (continued)

(i)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss include financial liabilities held for
trading and financial liabilities designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of sale in the near term. Derivatives, including
separated embedded derivatives, are also
classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments.
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading
are recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value, with changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14

Financial Instruments (continued)

(iv)

v)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts or payments through the
expected life of the financial asset or liability,
or where appropriate, a shorter period.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset
when the contractual rights to the future
cash flows in relation to the financial asset
expire or when the financial asset has been
transferred and the transfer meets the
criteria for derecognition in accordance with
HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %= 5 BI #S3R =Mz

For the year ended 30 June 2025
HEZZ-_RAF A A=TAHLFE

—
N

314 E£@IAE)
)  ARILTER(E)

ERAEEMAR
H»—AXAM
REEANAE
BEARTR &
RER HERE
SEIREY PN
B ERRS
HEFTERAR
RILERRKE
& &R A
(RN =N0): 5
[EIRER:OR:SXEDADS
meEBREKHEM
2HKEKRAE

=7
s ©

3.15 &FE&

TFERKAER] B3R 3E
ZEIRETIRR o BN
BFHEEEE - M5
P BB a2 A B R
BEMH  BRETRIZ
PN BEEM - 7]
HIHARE A B EBE
ferp 2 (R S ERATTK
PEE A 2 R RT AR )2
{EH R EMBKAGTE -

3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14

3.15

Financial Instruments (continued)

v) Derecognition (continued)

When an existing financial liability is replaced
by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified,
such an exchange or modification is treated
as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined using the
weighted average basis and, in the case of work
in progress and finished goods, comprises direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion
of overheads. Net realisable value is based on the
estimated selling prices in the ordinary course of
business less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.15

3.16

Inventories (continued)

The cost of properties under development and
properties for sale comprise the acquisition cost of
land, construction costs, professional fees, other
direct expenses and capitalised borrowing costs
(see note 3.19). Properties under development and
properties for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less estimated cost of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred
to the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or
other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.16 Revenue recognition (continued)

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods or
service may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. Control of the goods or service is transferred
over time if the Group's performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

o creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over
time, revenue is recognised over the period of
the contract by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the goods or
service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.16 Revenue recognition (continued)

)

Sales of jewellery

Customers obtain control of the jewellery
when the jewellery are delivered to and have
been accepted. Revenue is thus recognised
upon when the customers accepted the
jewellery. There is generally only one
performance obligation. Invoices are usually
payable 30 to 120 days.

Some of the Group’s contracts with
customers from the sale of goods provides
customers a right of return (a right to
exchange another product). These rights
of return do not allow the returned goods
to be refunded in cash. The right of return
gives rise to variable consideration. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception using expected value method and
constrained until the associated uncertainty is
subsequently resolved. The application of the
constraint on variable consideration increases
the amount of revenue that will be deferred.
In addition, a refund liability is recognised
which included in accrued liabilities as well as
a right to recover returned goods assets.

ul
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.16 Revenue recognition (continued)

®

(i)

Sales of jewellery (continued)

Some of the Group's contracts with
customers from the sale of goods provide
customers a volume rebate if the customer
purchases more than certain volume of
goods in a calendar year. The volume rebates
give rise to variable consideration. A refund
liability would be recognised based on the
estimate of the expected value to be paid
for the customer’s volume-based rebated.
Any expected volume rebate provision is
recognised as refund liabilities which included
in accrued liabilities.

Sale of property

Revenue arising from the sale of properties
held for sale is recognised in profit or loss on
the basis that control over the ownership of
the property has been passed to the customer
during the current accounting period, which
is the point in time when the customer has
the ability to direct the use of the property
and obtain substantially all the benefits of the
property. Deposits and instalments received
on properties sold prior to the date of revenue
recognition are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position under contract
liabilities.
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= %E JB(%(%) 3. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.16 WEmR(E) 3.16 Revenue recognition (continued)
(i) FHZHA (i) Rental income
HEWAREE Rental income is recognised on a straight-line
HANRBERETE basis over the lease terms.
7
(v)  FIEHA (iv)  Interest income
MEWAKAE Interest income is recognised on a time-
B A &L b2 R [ proportion basis using the effective interest
b ) B EFE R method; and
54
) BREHKA (W  Dividend income
A% B A R B AL Dividend income is recognised when the
AR R U EFRIE 2 shareholder’s right to receive payment is
RERIRFRERR o established.
3.17 {EEEF 3.17 Employee benefits
RIKEHN Retirement benefits
EE ZRINEFFERFTTE Retirement benefits to employees are provided
G BIRS - through defined contribution plans.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.17

Employee benefits (continued)

Retirement benefits (continued)

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ relevant income and
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

Prior to the MPF Scheme becoming effective, the
Group operated a defined contribution retirement
benefits scheme (the “Prior Scheme"”) for those
employees who were eligible to participate in this
scheme. The Prior Scheme operated in a similar way
to the MPF Scheme, except that when an employee
left the Prior Scheme before his/her interest in the
Group's employer contributions vested fully, the
ongoing contributions payable by the Group were
reduced by the relevant amount of the forfeited
employer’s contributions.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.17

Employee benefits (continued)

Retirement benefits (continued)

The employees of the subsidiaries which operate in
the People’s Republic of China except Hong Kong and
Macau (“Mainland China”) are required to participate
in a retirement benefits scheme (the “RB Scheme”)
operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll to the RB Scheme to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the RB Scheme is to pay the ongoing
required contributions under the RB Scheme.
Contributions under the RB Scheme are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the RB Scheme.

The employees of the subsidiaries which operate in
the United Kingdom (“UK") and the United States
of America (“USA") are required to participate in a
retirement benefits scheme operated by the local
government. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ relevant income and
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the retirement
benefits scheme.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit
or loss as employees render services during the year.
The Group's obligations under these plans are limited
to the fixed percentage contributions payable to these
plans.

O
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.17

3.18

Employee benefits (continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result
of services rendered by employees up to the reporting
date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as
sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until
the time of leave.

Share-based compensation

All share-based payment arrangements granted after
7 November 2002 and had not vested on 1 January
2005 are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements. The Group operates equity-settled share-
based compensation plans for remuneration of its
employees and other eligible participants.

All employee services received in exchange for the
grant of any share-based compensation are measured
at their fair values. These are indirectly determined by
reference to the equity instruments awarded. Their
value is appraised at the grant date and excludes the
impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for
example, profitability and sales growth targets).
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.18 Share-based compensation (continued)

All share-based compensation is recognised as an
expense in profit or loss over the vesting period
if vesting conditions apply, or recognised as an
expense in full at the grant date when the equity
instruments granted vest immediately unless the
compensation qualifies for recognition as asset, with
a corresponding increase in the share option reserve
in equity. If vesting conditions apply, the expense
is recognised over the vesting period, based on the
best available estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest. Non-market vesting
conditions are included in assumptions about the
number of equity instruments that are expected to
vest. Estimates are subsequently revised, if there is
any indication that the number of equity instruments
expected to vest differs from previous estimates.

At the time when the share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in reserve will
be transferred to share capital. After vesting date,
when the vested share options are later forfeited or
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to retained profits.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.19

3.20

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the acquisition,
construction or production of any qualifying asset are
capitalised during the period of time that is required
to complete and prepare the asset for its intended
use. A qualifying asset is an asset which necessarily
takes a substantial period of time to get ready for
its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are
expensed when incurred.

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset
for its intended use or sale are being undertaken.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
complete.

Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise
those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities
relating to the current or prior reporting period, that
are unpaid at the reporting date. They are calculated
according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to
the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the
taxable profit for the year.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.20 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on
temporary differences at the reporting date between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
financial statements and their respective tax bases.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
tax losses available to be carried forward as well
as other unused tax credits, to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit, including existing taxable
temporary differences, will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, unused tax
losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

An exception to the general requirement on
determining the appropriate tax rate used in
measuring deferred tax amount is when an
investment property is carried at fair value under
HKAS 40 “Investment Property”. The deferred
tax amounts on these investment properties are
measured using the tax rates that would apply on
sale of these investment properties at their carrying
amounts at the reporting date as the presumption is
not rebutted.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.20 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary differences arising from initial
recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither taxable nor accounting profit
or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on interests in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary differences and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, provided they
are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting
date.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or
when they relate to items recognised directly in equity
in which case the taxes are also recognised directly in
equity.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.21

Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and
prepares segment information based on the regular
internal financial information reported to the chief
operating decision-maker i.e. the executive directors
for their decisions about resources allocation to the
Group'’s business components and for their review of
the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information
reported to the executive directors are determined
following the Group’s major line of business.

The Group has identified the following reportable

segments:

o Jewellery Business

o Property investment and development
o Mining operation

° Investment

Each of these operating segments is managed
separately as each of the product and service lines
requires different resources as well as marketing
approaches. All inter-segment transfers, if any, are
carried out at arm'’s length prices.

ul
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.21

Segment reporting (continued)

The measurement policies the Group uses for
reporting segment results under HKFRS 8 are the
same as those used in its financial statements
prepared under HKFRS Accounting Standards,
except that finance costs, income tax expense and
corporate income and expenses which are not directly
attributable to the business activities of any operating
segment, are not included in arriving at the operating
results of the operating segment.

Segment assets include all assets but cash and cash
equivalents, time deposit with original maturities over
three months and deferred tax assets. In addition,
corporate assets which are not directly attributable to
the business activities of any operating segment are
not allocated to a segment, which primarily applies to
the Group’s headquarter.

Segment liabilities exclude bank loans, loan from a
controlling shareholder, provision for tax, deferred
tax liabilities and corporate liabilities, which are not
directly attributable to the business activities of any
operating segment.
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322 EEA 3.22 Related parties
(a) B AT AL (a) A person or a close member of that person'’s
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BB KRN Company; or
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(iif) =3/ NN ]| (i) is @ member of key management
3 N A Al personnel of the Company or the
NAEZ Company's parent.

ZEEE
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Efa] 514 - R 2R following conditions apply:
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.22 Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply: (continued)

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is
a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.22 Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply: (continued)

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of the
employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).
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3. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.22 Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions apply: (continued)

(vii)

(viii)

A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity
or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

The entity or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to
the Company or to the Company’s
parent.



Annual Report 2025 F%f;

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %5 B #S3R TR M 5T

For the year ended 30 June 2025
HEZZT-_RAF A A=TRHLFE

g

-

-

SRR )
3.22 BT (&)
22 ATRIER L] RE
KB - s AT
TR S TEER A &
AT ZEFE 7 REERK
8 8

TN

s mg R

SN B

I

A\

i) ZALTZFER
FBRREMNE

(i) ZATEREMBHR
EHEBEZ TR
&

(i) ZALTZEZAL
EBEREHNE
ZEBA -

BASEE S b ET R A

AEEERFENEMEZ AR
H - WA LR R E MR
RIRE  BREZFEN TR
REAEABRYEREZRRE
1 e

AEBBARRIEL T KRR ©
mEGT TR R B R - HAR
BERERERAMREE - LATAT
AW RBERRZ A RR
& EEARN T —EMBRFESH
BENABZEESBELEX

B

3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.22 Related parties (continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with
the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;
(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic

partner; and

(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below:
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4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Estimated fair value of investment properties

As at the reporting date, the Group’s investment properties
are stated at the value based on the valuation performed
by an independent valuation firm. In determining the fair
value, the valuer applies the income capitalisation method
or direct comparison method, as appropriate. In relying on
the valuation, management has exercised their judgement
and are satisfied that the methods of valuation adopted are
appropriate for the relevant property and reflective of current
market conditions.

Net realisable value of properties under development
and properties for sale

Management determines the net realisable value of
properties under development and properties for sale by
using prevailing market data such as most recent sales
transactions and market valuation report available from
independent valuation firm. Such valuation is made based on
certain assumptions, which are subject to the determination
of open market value and/or the market evidence of
transaction prices for similar properties in the same locations
and conditions. In making the judgement, reasonable
consideration has been given to the estimated costs to
completion. These estimates are regularly compared to actual
market data and actual transactions in the market.
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4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Provision for ECLs on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The expected loss rates are based on days past
due for groupings of various customer segments that have
similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is initially based
on the Group's historical observed default rates. The Group
will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information.

At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates
would be reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed. The assessment of the correlation
among historical observed default rates, forecast economic
conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of
ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s
trade receivables is disclosed in notes 26 and 46.3 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite useful life

Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite useful life are impaired requires an estimation
of the recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units
to which goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite life
and other non-financial assets have been allocated which is
considered to be the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. The value-in-use calculation requires the
directors to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise
from cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value. The fair value less costs
of disposal involve the use of market approach which includes
the use of comparables in the active market.
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4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (except for goodwill
and intangible assets with indefinite useful life)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Where an indicator of impairment exists, a
formal estimate of the recoverable amount is made, which is
considered to be the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. All non-financial assets are reviewed
for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable
in accordance with the accounting policy as disclosed in
note 3.13. In carrying out the impairment assessment of
mining right and related non-financial assets, the directors
use their judgement in selecting an appropriate valuation
technique. Where appropriate, the valuation is estimated
by independent valuation firm to estimate the recoverable
amount of the Mining CGU I as defined in note 14(b) using
market approach with reference to recent comparable
transactions undertaken in the mining industry. Any changes
in economic conditions and mineral prices and the availability
of comparable transactions may materially affect the
estimation of the recoverable amount of the non-financial
assets.

Provision for inventories

In determining the amount of allowance required for
obsolete and slow-moving inventories, the Group would
evaluate ageing analysis of inventories and compare the
carrying value of inventories to their respective net realisable
value. A considerable amount of judgement is required
in determining such allowance. If conditions which have
impact on the net realisable value of inventories deteriorate,
additional allowances may be required.

ul
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4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Amortisation of mining right and depreciation of
mining structures

Mining right and mining structures are amortised/depreciated
on the units of production method based on the total proven
and probable mineral reserves of the ore mines. The directors
of the Company exercised their judgement in estimating the
total proven and probable reserves of the ore mines.

Estimate of current tax and deferred tax

The Group is subject to taxation in various jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the amount
of the provision for taxation and the timing of payment of the
related taxation. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax
provisions in the periods in which such determination are
made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
are recognised as management considers it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, such differences will
impact the recognition of deferred tax assets and income tax
expenses in the periods in which such estimate is changed.
The outcome of their actual utilisation may be different.
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0 - RS R HE 4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

(%) AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)
AFEE Fair value measurement
REBRE MWK ATE < %A A number of assets and liabilities included in the Group’s
BERBEAELATEFES consolidated financial statements require measurement at, or
HEE o disclosure of, fair value.
AEBERNIECHEERAE The fair value measurement of the Group’s financial and
AT EFEFRAEERATISA non-financial assets and liabilities utilises market observable
BRGABLEE - EEATE inputs and data as far as possible. Inputs used in determining
StERER 2@ AE T ERFTE fair value measurements are categorised into different levels
REERMPTAZ B A G2 A8 based on how observable the inputs used in the valuation
REZEDETRER technique utilised are:
o FIE: HERIEBEWRGRES e level 1:  Quoted prices in active markets for identical
52 B (REFE items (unadjusted);
)
o F2E: EFEEEABE e level2:  Observable direct or indirect inputs other than
ZHAB(TBES Level 1 inputs;
1BzEAE)
o F3IE: BEBR B AE e level 3:  Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from
(BN IER B 58 market data).
&) o
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

The classification of an item into the above levels is based on
the lowest level of the inputs used that has a significant effect
on the fair value measurement of the item. Transfers of items
between levels are recognised in the period they occur.

The Group measures the following items at fair values:
o Investment properties

o Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

o Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

For more detailed information in relation to the fair value
measurement of the items above, please refer to note 16 and
note 46.5 to the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker that
are used to assess performance and allocate resources.
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- oEER @) 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
KRR ZHATEEHRELETE The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as
BIEREKE - ITESEHAE the Company’s executive directors. The executive directors
BOAEELEREREEDED have identified the Group’s four business lines as operating
WE AKIEE3.21F & — SRl - segments as further described in note 3.21.

(@) XEDH (@)  Business segment
HRER NERERER G e i e
Property investment
Jewellery Business and development Mining operation Investment Consolidated

2025 024 2025 024 2025 024 2025 024 2025 024
i T M T b T G 7B
HKS000  HKSOOO  HKSO00  HKSOMO  HKSO0  AKSOOD  HKSOO0  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSOOD

REbiE Seqment revene:
BETHRER /KA Sdes tofevenue from
DREEZAE  etemd pars RO T K c YT T - L)
e Seqment resuts 19,857 (B36%) (13174 (266589) (40211) (1919 1832 2518 (331,69 (289,681)
FARRR Unallocated expenses (2,165) (179)
B Fiance osts (181 6m)
BEERAEE  Lossbefore icome tax (3%6672) (294,19
HEER NERERER R & &
Property investment
Jewellery Business and development Mining operation Investment Consolidated

225 2004 225 2004 225 2004 225 2004 225 2004
&L T &R T FER T FER FAr 773 FAr
HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000
ABEE Segment assets 251497 U474 200222 2505785 500,647 518242 28938 813 2191304 331632
BelBesE  Coshand cashequivalents 36,358 49,156
EHERE Deferred tax assets 840 840
KORATEE  Undlocated comorate aset 51 55
B2z Total asets 2809079 3366905
Seqment iabltes 106,499 91,509 112,408 101,169 32710 31,302 4,162 4853 255,839 28833
Bank loans 796,081 1,036,236

Loan from a controling
sharefolder 14,385 4280
fEkE Provision for tax 1718 1925
ELHEaE Deferted ta ablites 11254 114,089

FORATEE  Unalocated corporate
liblies 940 883
BlEEE Totalliablties 1180217 1386246



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m 435 B #E3R R MIEE

For the year ended 30 June 2025
HEZZ-_RAF A A=TAHLFE

—
o

+H -

DEE R ) 5.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

() X&Eo3(E) (a)  Business segment (continued)
HRER NERERER b e b b
Property investment
Jewellery Business and development Mining operation Investment Consolidated
225 204 225 204 2025 204 2025 204 225 204
7T 741 i FAr 7E TAr #&n A #&i 7Ar
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKs'000 HKS 000 HKs'000 HKS 000
H Othersegment nformation;
W% BERAENE Deprecaton o propert,
plntand equipment (2082 BT s - (384) (3) - - e wm)
[FREEERE  Depecatonof
rigft-of-use assets (5,326) (4868) - - (1,180) (1,15 - - (6,50) (6,020)
REMFATEZED Changein farvalueof
investment propeties - - (206,058) (87939) - - - - (26,058) (87939)
IWATEABEZ  Fanvale galloss)on
SREE/NTE  finandl aselsatfarvale
Wi/ (B8 through poft orloss (3%4) Bl - - - - 1,008 @31 621 (351)
HENATEFA  Gainon dsposalof debt
ARENE?  instruments measured at
BHRTAZNE  fairvaluethrough other
comprehensive income - - - - - - 95 - 9% -
S R Gan ondsposelof property
Rl bE plntand equipent 12 % - - - - - - 1 3
WEEERMER  Wiitedown of propertes
ez nder development and
propetesfor s - - s (4w - - - - s ()
WHEREREE  Witeoff of otherpayables - - - A - . - B, B} m
EEALASEE  Shaeof esutsof joint
ventures - - 1) (1) - - = - {] 1)
ERBENTZEE  Shaeofresutofan
assciate - - B (2309 - - - - i (2309
52 (GERE)/ (mpaimentlossReversel of
REBERR impaimment osson
mining gt = = - - ke 96 - - ke 96
% BRRFEZ  (mpaiment losReversal
(5EFE)/ of impaiment loss on
REEERD property, plantand
equipment (146) (174) - - 2,04) 168 - - (2192) (6)
{EREEEZAE  Impaimentlosson
Ff fighto-use assets (428) ) - - - - - - (428) )
BEZHERE  mpaimentlosson goodil - - - - - - - - b
EREEZAEER  Impamentlosson
intangile asets (604) (965) - = - = - = (804) (965)
FRE Proviion fornventoris (2.167) (1,566) - - - - - - (2167) (1,566)
SAREMEIEIR  (mpaiment oss)reversalof
Z(IEEE)/HE  impaimentlosson tade
BRROEE and ofherreceiiables, et (1.277) 42 - - - = - - (127 )
WEW Interestncome - = = - - - o 183 0 183
flezx et eperes B B M @E) % (1) - S A )
TFEFRENIAE  Addtons tonon-curent
seqment assets 453 2608 5 138 - 38 - - 511 3184
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DEER =) SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(b) HEEL (b) Geographic information
REIMREE 2=
Revenue from
external customers
2025 2024
FHET FAET
HK$000 HK$'000
B (FEf) Hong Kong (place of domicile) 259,473 40,785
LM (Kt FEa) North America (note a) 103,223 115,463
B B A 2R (Bt 5Eb) Europe and Middle East (note b) 212,388 197,170
Hibih & Other locations 10,751 6,984
X1 585,835 360,402
ERBEE
Non-current assets
2025 2024
FET FETT
HK$000 HK$'000
S5 (FE ) Hong Kong (place of domicile) 1,720,763 2,019,949
JEEM (F7Ea) North America (note a) 11,026 14,096
e United Kingdom 1,466 2,458
Ll Mainland China 507,850 525,679
a&t 2,241,105 2,562,182
HiaE Notes:

BIEEE KN

T2
EPNL
B R Bz
A~ ®E - HmE -
FaBEST - far G K R
B o

(b)

Principally included United States and Canada.

Principally included Saudi Arabia, United Kingdom,
Sweden, Spain, Netherlands and Norway.
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A ERESEMTIERE P
WwEE D - FRBEE
(ERMTAMELEREE
ERRIN) 2 IR B T E
REEBRMEE D -
AEERBEINRETLZHK
B RIERBDEERE
FHZAEM ~ BUM R R
ERMERERDE - LT
REHEMBEZER - B
WITESRAMBERE
R AR ©

WITESEEAKEEM
WHREE - MEER/NE
B2 4B B R P FEHD ©

BRTEEFPZEN

HE-_Z_AFK_F
—HWHESNAZTHIESE
B BEREE-—XPH
W b AN & E Hzx10% 3%
PAE ©

5.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(b)

Geographic information (continued)

The revenue information above is based on the
location of the customers. The geographical location
of the non-current assets (other than financial
instruments and deferred tax assets) is based on the
physical location of the assets. The geographical
information of the Group’s revenue from external
customers and non-current assets by individual
significant countries in North America, Europe and
Middle East, other locations is not available and
executive directors considers the cost to obtain the
information would be excessive.

The executive directors determine the Group is
domiciled in Hong Kong, which is the location of the
Group's principal office.

Information about major customers
There are no revenue from an individual customer,

which amounted to 10% or more of the Group'’s
revenue for the year ended 30 June 2025 and 2024.
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75 Yz 6. REVENUE
FANERZWELT Revenue recognised during the year is as follows:
2025 2024
FET FET
HK$000 HK$'000
HEPZENAAES 2 Revenue from contracts with customers
&
TR S A K — RS Revenue recognition at a point in time
—HEE M — Sale of goods 340,100 333,897
—HEW — Sale of properties 221,331 -
R A H M ARR 2 Was Revenue from other sources
AL WA Rental income 23,074 22,320
FLEUA Interest income 421 1,833
& 2 % B U A Dividend income from investments 909 2,352
585,835 360,402

TRIE#BHERESZBHAK
BT BSENRERANAR
ZER o

The following table provides information about trade
receivables and contract liabilities from contracts with
customers.

2025 2024

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

B EWZIE(MsE=+,) Trade receivables (note 26) 84,251 61,399
AHaEME=1) Contract liabilities (note 30) 243 343

RZE_NMNFERNA=ZTH A%
BETEEREBRAEES
—RFENAZTHIEFEZWKEE
ZTEWEFRE -

RZZE-_RAF~A=1+H " &k
BPER(E243,0008C(—Z M
F 1 343,0008 7 ) AR EALE
REGHRRBITZEBHR °
ZeEATEHNARRER W
% o AR BN AR KT BAIE
T TER BRI S - TEHARE R —
FANEE -

As at 30 June 2024, the contract liabilities mainly related to
the advance consideration received from customers which
has been recognised as revenue for the year ended 30 June
2025.

As at 30 June 2025, the advance consideration received from
customers of HK$243,000 (2024: HK$343,000) represents
unfulfilled performance obligation under the Group’s existing
contracts. This amount represents revenue expected to
be recognised in the future. The Group will recognise the
expected revenue in future when performance obligation is
completed, which is expected to occur within one year.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %= 5 BI #S3R =Mz

For the year ended 30 June 2025
HEZZ-_RAF A A=TAHLFE

=]

- BBEA 7. FINANCE COSTS
2025 2024
FHET FET
HK$000 HK$'000
FEZH : Interest charges on:
RITER Bank loans 45,837 63,373
HEAEZFE Interest on lease liabilities (note 32)
(FfE=+=) 665 811
FE— AR A BI5RIE Imputed interest expenses arising from
FTEAZ FESFIBRAX amount due to related company 1,350 1,289
BIEERKA Total borrowing costs 47,852 65,473
/J& BN ZFE Less: interests capitalised in:
—EREPYE — properties under development (note 24)
(BsE—+m) (10,640) (13,048)
37,212 52,425
FARABEFTERNZEERAN TSR Borrowing costs capitalised during the year were calculated
%T/—\iéfﬁiéfFZSEﬁﬁiﬁﬁ FBEA by applying a capitalisation rate of approximately 5.00%
5.00%(=Z — P : 6.05%) 2 (2024: 6.05%) per annum to expenditure on the qualifying
R ERLLEGTE o assets.
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8. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

2025 2024
FET FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000
NEEGFSHATEIETS  The Group's loss before income tax is
BB (GEA)ATR arrived at after charging/(crediting):
HEEN :
BEEHFEERAE Cost of inventories sold 465,258 260,618
M - BEREETE Depreciation of property, plant and
(PtsE+-rd) equipment (note 14) 2,446 4,027
FREEESE (M +F) Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 15) 6,506 6,020
=R & Auditor’s remuneration 1,240 1,240
RKEBEEHESH Low-value assets leases charges 768 897
GFERE* Provision for inventories* 2,167 1,566
ARAFERT AER 2 Fair value (gain)/loss on financial assets at
EREELATE fair value through profit or loss
(Yezs), 1R (621) 351
SEONE (Wezs) B Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss (571) 1,010
HEYE « BENMRMEZ  Gain on disposal of property,
s plant and equipment (122) (34)
HENAFES AEMEE Gain on disposal of debt instruments at
Was 2 BT A7 Was fair value through other comprehensive
income (95) -
FEAN —FEIRAESABIFUEZ  Gain on debt modification on amount
B sz due to a related company - (1,289)
FRAEEE ZBBEEE! Impairment loss on right-of-use assets* 428 717
P 2 R E R Impairment loss on goodwill* = 8,124
BV EE 2 RERE Impairment loss on intangible assets 804 965
Y% - BENMREZRE  Impairment loss on property, plant and
E5tat equipment? 2,192 6
TSR L PR SR IE Write off of other payables* - (7,747)
WO ER PR Write-down of properties under
FEmE development and properties for sale* 7,552 141,031
HAESEES WA Z Direct operating expenses arising from
WEMEEEZ investment properties that generate
BHELEHT rental income during the period 2,247 3,298
HRTELERSRAZ Direct operating expenses arising from
WEMEEEZ investment properties that did not
HELERY generate rental income during the period 395 400

ul
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Hi 2 EREFR A2 [ HAK
A~ Eftbiees KBRS -

N FEHUER), X

EEFNEBRAFARESEE
Z (oA ERR B S AR B £ 16.5%
—E P  165%)FHE o &
fib 3o [ FE R ot s K1) 2 BB YRR
REBEEEBAEZ AEER
ZBITEN - RERIES - K%
LaEERREER 2B X

8.

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX (continued)

* Provision for inventories and write-down of properties under
development and properties for sale for the year were
included in “cost of sales” on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

L Impairment loss on right-of-use assets, goodwill, intangible
assets and property, plant and equipment and write off of
other payables for the year were included in “other income,
other gains and losses, net” on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2024: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the applicable
rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group
operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and
practices in respect thereof.

=
2025 2024
FET FET
HK$000 HK$'000
BUEAT IR Current tax
BA Hong Kong 418 241
BT E B Over provision in prior years (74) (42)
344 199
FEERIE(FE=+75) Deferred tax (note 36)
REE Current year (5,410) 5,966
Fiisfi (%), B 48%  Total income tax (credit)/expense (5,066) 6,165
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e FIBRHGER) BIX 9. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

(&)

e RS

(continued)

Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting

SETEE 28R ¢ loss at applicable tax rates:
2025 2024
FEr FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
M PTS iR ETiE Loss before income tax (335,672) (294,149)
A ERE16.5% Tax on loss before income tax,
ZEPUSF £ 16.5%) calculated at the statutory rate of
T8 2 BTSSR AT 16.5% (2024: 16.5%)
BHEIR (55,386) (48,535)
REMRNEEREEZ Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
B AR TRFE operating in other jurisdictions
] (3,453) (1,641)
JE(EEEE N RIEE 2 Tax effect of share of results of associates
e 12 381
AT 2 g2 Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 43,338 46,143
AR A 2T Z Tax effect of non-taxable income (3,782) (3,673)
BABEARERZ Utilisation of tax losses previously not
FiIEEE recognised (3,056) (929)
RIERTIBETE 2 FRE Tax effect of tax losses not recognised
o 16,347 13,903
REERE R R 2 Fifs Tax effect of temporary differences not
FE recognised 988 558
BAFEEEREE Over provision in prior years (74) (42)
s (#Em) Fx Income tax (credit)/expense (5,066) 6,165
R E 10. DIVIDENDS

EETEEMBE_T_AFR
“ECMERA=TRHIEFEIR

BEFARE -

The directors do not recommend any payment of dividends in
respect of the year ended 30 June 2025 and 2024.
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—
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+— . SRER

11. LOSS PER SHARE

ARBHENEEEBRERT#
SBERTEN TYIBUERE -

The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company are based on the
following data:

2025 2024
FHET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
FRLAGTESIREAREE >,  Loss attributable to the owners of
RARES AFE(RER the Company for the purpose of
basic loss per share (259,112) (257,302)
RO E
Number of shares
2025 2024
BUGTEERENRNEIE 2 Weighted average number of ordinary
TR NN T 2K shares for the purpose of basic
loss per share 683,118,258 683,118,258
THIEE B K2 BiE#sE  Effect of dilutive potential ordinary
TR e shares in respect of
— B AR (BT 5EG)) — Share option (note (i)) - -
RLAGE SR EEE]E - Weighted average number of ordinary
BRI 52K shares for the purpose of diluted
loss per share 683,118,258 683,118,258
Bt Note:
(i) HE-_Z_AF A=+ (i) For the year ended 30 June 2025, the calculation of basic

BIEEE ARQR#EEA
BIEERERNBIEBTIER
RKARHEE NEMLFERE
8 259,112,0008 t ( = &
—PO4E : 257,302,000 7T )
Ko B QR AR AN AE S 15 &
683,118,258 i (= =T — IY
£ : 683,118,258% )5t E -

BEZZ-_RAFER-T_MFN
A=THIEFE BRERER
REBEXE - HNGTEESRES
ES B I  EE BR AR R AR I 1 (EE -

loss per share attributable to the owners of the Company
was based on loss for the year attributable to the owners of
the Company of HK$259,112,000 (2024: HK$257,302,000)
and on weighted average number of 683,118,258 (2024:
683,118,258) ordinary shares during the year.

For the year ended 30 June 2025 and 2024, the computation
of diluted loss per share did not assume the exercise of share
option as they were antidilutive.
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T= EERAMAX 12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(BRESME - (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
MizE+=) EMOLUMENTS - NOTE 13)
2025 2024
FHET FAET
HK$'000 HK$'000
I% - %4 EEEN Wages, salaries, allowances and
Bz benefits in kind 84,033 87,819
ATERFERRGTEI AR Contributions on defined contribution
retirement plans 7,223 7,725
91,256 95,544
7 £ [ A 5 W 8 F S I £ 42 U There were no forfeited contributions (by employers on
ZHF(HEERRNDE @R behalf of employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting
2 ERBRC R EINESFT fully in such contributions) in the Group for both years.
EEE) - At WERL UL Hence, there is no forfeited contribution available for the
TRA] AN £ B A R R SRR IR Group to reduce its existing level of contributions to the
BRAREFBIHFOKF - pension schemes in future years.
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BTSRRI

—
o

(a)

EEFMRANE
EFALTZHE

E=Me

B IEF B D A K
(BREBZTZE) &
—BNT=Z]§EAE(F
BREEF=RER)BAO(FE

13. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION AND
EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID

INDIVIDUALS

(a) Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to S.383

of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.622)

and the Companies (Disclosure of Information about

Benefits of Directors) Regulation (Cap.622G) is as

NAZTZGE )HKEZ follows:
EEFHMAOT
2025 2024
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
=tk Directors’ fees 250 250
e 2L R EWHNZE  Salaries, allowances and benefits
in kind 7,680 7,101
TEAL Bonus 620 620
BIREAETEI L ER Contributions to retirement benefit
schemes 263 253
Bl <p 42 28 Total emoluments 8,813 8,224
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T= EEFMRAENE 13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND
SHALTZHME e EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (continued)
(@) E=EME(E) (@) Directors’ emoluments (continued)
FARNKENSESZ The emoluments paid or payable to each of the
[ CHNE directors during the year were as follows:
BE-_E-_HE~A=1 Year ended 30 June 2025
HILFE
¢ 2R BB
Ezne ENflE i HE [ a3
Salaries, Contributions
allowances to retirement
Directors’  and benefits henefit
fees in kind Bonus schemes Total

FERL FERL FERL T FEn
HK§'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000

(K& ()

(note (i))
HES: Executive directors:
Ll ¢ Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley - 1,200 100 54 1,354
(S Chan Mei Kei, Alice - 960 60 18 1,038
[ Chan Wai Kei, Vick - 1,200 100 54 1354
Rgy Chan Wai Lap, Victor - 2,640 20 119 2979
aEf Wong Edward Gwon-hing - 1,680 140 18 1838
BUFHTES Independent non-executive directors:
L7 Yu Shiu Tin, Paul 50 - - - 50
BelmiE Chan Ping Kuen, Derek 50 - - - 50
i Sz Irons 50 - - - 50
KB Cheung Chi Fai, Frank 50 - - - 50
TS Yam Tat Wing 50 - - - 50
it Tota 20 7,680 620 23 8813
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—
N

(@ EFEME(HE)

BEEFMEANVE
SHEATZENE 2

INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(a)

HE_Z-NFEA=1

13. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION AND
EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID

Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Year ended 30 June 2024

HIEFE
e EHR RIVER
EE Lk i T BE h)
Salaries, Contributions
allowances to retirement
Directors' ~ and benefits benefit
fees inkind Bonus schemes Total
AT AT T T T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
(FrzEG)
(note (i)
EE: Executive directors:
L Cheng Siu Yin, Shirey - 1,200 100 54 1354
[ESEd) Chan Mei Kei, Alice (note i) - 381 60 8 449
e Chan Wai Kei, Vicki - 1,200 100 54 135
(=4 Chan Wai Lap, Victor - 2640 20 119 2979
BAM Wong Edward Gwon-hing - 1,680 140 18 1838
BUFHTES: Independent non-executive directors:
ARR Yu Shiu Tin, Paul 50 - - - 50
RimiE Chan Ping Kuen, Derek 50 - - - 50
i Sz rons 50 _ _ _ 50
R Cheung Chi Fai, Frank 50 _ - _ 50
Ee (Buskii) Yam Tat Wing (note i) 50 - - - 50
&t Total 250 7,101 620 253 8,224
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tT= ESFMERENUE 13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND
EFmALTZME ) EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (continued)
() EEMe(E) (a)  Directors’ emoluments (continued)

K Notes:

(i) TEANEZ 2 (85 (i) The bonus is determined by the individual
RIVET performance of the directors.

(i) BREHR-_ZT Y (ii) Chan Mei Kei, Alice was appointed as an executive
FZANBEZR director with effect on 8 February 2024.
RITES -

(iii) FEER_Z=—_/1 (iii) Yam Tat Wing was re-designated as an independent
FZANBRAER non-executive director with effect on 8 February
B IEITES © 2024.

FR > NREBWERES During the year, no emoluments were paid by the

SAHEMBNE fEAINASK Group to the directors as an inducement to join, or

RINAZE FE R 7 #2E =) upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss

BERRAH(E o of office.
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(b)

BEEFMEANVE
SHEATZENE 2

RfUBZEFHAL

FR - AEBRUSEEEH
ATBE=ZR(ZTZX
F:=ZR)EF " FEZ
&R EXXR25 2 5
[RBk o FREREEBAL
Z MBS

13. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION AND
EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year included three
(2024: three) directors whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented above. The
emoluments payable to the remaining individual
during the year are as follows:

2025 2024
FET FET
HK$000 HK$'000
e - R R Salaries, allowances and other benefits
HAb e 3,824 4,381

BEH 51 B & 8 B A 2K
(EHBRIM)

The number of individuals fell within the following
emolument bands (excluding the directors):

2025 2024
B < S5 Emolument bands
1,500,008 708 HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
2,000,000/ 7T 1 1
2,000,001787L2 HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
2,500,000/ 7T 1 =
2,500,001/8702 HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000
3,000,000/ 7T _ :
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+0 - ¥ BERRE 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

il -
BRREE £E B
IEL RREE  EEREE ke fRIR Azt
Furniture,
Buildings fixtures and
and equipment
leasehold Mining Plant and andmotor  Construction
improvements  structures  machinery vehicles in progress Total
AT AT AT AT AT AT
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$:000 HK8:000
R=B-=E+A-H At 1 July 2023
A Cost 75,310 43774 47,401 58,097 11,827 236,409
SNERAE Accumulated depreciation and
impairment (67,748) (34318) (43,401) (56,106) (7,764) (209,337)
REFE Net carrying amount 7562 9,456 4,000 1,991 4,063 201
HE-3-mE Year ended 30 June 2024
AAZTHLEE
ENREFE Opening net carrying amount 7562 9456 4,000 1,991 4,063 27,012
hE Additions % - 60 2848 - 2,946
HHE /38 DisposalsWitten off - - - (159) - (159)
nE Depreciation (2357) - (245) (1425) - (4027)
(REEE)/HEkE (Impairment loss)Reversal of
N impairment loss, net (80) % 1) (14) 65 (6)
ERA% Exchange realignment (37) (57) )] (16) (25 (138)
ERRERE Closing net carrying amount 5,126 9,495 3739 305 4,103 25,688
RZB-mEAA=TAR  At30June 2024 and 1 July 2024
Z®-RELA-H
R Cost 79,150 45,767 47,607 63,111 12,367 248,002
SAERAE Accumulated depreciation and
impairment (74,024) (36.272) (43,868) (59,836) (8,264) (222,314)
BEFE Net carrying amount 5,126 9,495 3,739 3225 4103 25,688

ul
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(o))

+Mm - Y% BRERRE 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(&) (continued)
i~
BERES £E B
VEL REEE  EERMS ke fRIR st
Furniture,
Buildings fixtures and
and equipment
leasehold Mining Plantand ~ andmotor  Construction
improvements  structures  machinery vehicles i progress Total
T T AT TEn TEn AT
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BECRCRE Year ended 30 June 2025
ARZTRLEE
ENEmAE Opening net carrying amount 5,126 9,495 3,739 3205 4103 2,688
WE Additions 363 - 4 4 - 453
IHE /i Disposals/Wiiten off i) - - (186) . (187)
Vit Depreciation (878) - (379) (1,189) - (2,446)
HEEE Impairment loss (92) (1,610) (65) (65) (360) (2.192)
B AR Exchange realignment 125 233 30 7 101 561
ERRERE Closing net carrying amount 4,643 8,118 3370 1,902 3,84 287
RZBZRERA=TA  At30June 2025
A Cost 79,602 46,036 46,980 59,182 12439 24,239
ZEERAE Accumulated depreciation and
impairment (74,959) (37,918) (43,610) (57,280) (8,595) (222,362)
FEFE Net carrying amount 4,643 8,118 3370 1902 3,844 2187
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T - 9% BERRE

Hisz -

(@)

(&)

RZZEZRFEASA=1+H
AEEEEEEHEASH
745,266,000 70 (ZZT =Y
& :5201,00087L) 25T
W - WS KRR A TEE R
TEr T B TR i LR E TSR o

sURERF B M E - B
] BE {8 Bl i &1 AT 4 120 & %8
B ARG EREERMR
BASEH G —RREXET
ZHREELEM([HRERES
EEBA]) 2 KRB HE o
ReELBURRAKEZ
BRIBZTS ©

AEBEEREENT G4
T HERSEEBMNIY
AJ K [E1 4 58 43,679,00078 7T
(ZZ [ : 5,740,000/
7T BR(ZEZNE 5
FP)ERESE - FA - RER
EEREREMEEmEERA
MW - WEREEZRE
& REMEFR 1,587,000 T (=
TIUE - ) HREETE o

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

Notes:

(a)

As at 30 June 2025, the management of the Group
identified impairment indicator of certain property, plant and
equipment with carrying amount of HK$5,266,000 (2024:
HK$5,201,000) due to the delay of the predetermined
mining plan.

For the purposes of impairment testing, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit for one
of the mining operations of the Group (“Mining CGU 1”) to
which the asset belongs when it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually. The cash-generating
unit represents the Group’s mining operation.

Based on the result of the assessment, the management
of the Group determined that the recoverable amounts
of the Mining CGU |, amounted to HK$3,679,000
(2024: HK$5,740,000) is lower than (2024: higher) its
carrying amount. During the year, the impairment loss of
HK$1,587,000 (2024: Nil) have been recognised against
the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

~
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HE-ZT—

HFERA=THIEFE

—
0]

TH - % BERRE

(&)
Hiat - (48)
(@) (&)

ZERBERSEEBEMNIZ AT
ElefENEARRERESRE
FERIGRERAF(ZZT N
F . EF)HBELRETEA)
ERAFER LD EKAE
E o AUEEREReES
BRI U [l & 28 2 B EET
RAERZAT

—E-RE

WARFHZERE  $9149%
BRBERBEE = 11.03%
—TomE

REFHZERE  F49391%
BRBERBEE = 14.01%

fibst R B3R P AR AR
TR S EE B2 BERSR
REREHTHRR 2 ES
E - FRRSEE B
AFEAEIMATFEE «

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(@)

(continued)

The recoverable amount of this Mining CGU | has been
determined based on the fair value less costs of disposal
using discounted cash flow projection which was based on
the cash flow projection for a period of 6 years (2024: 7
years). Key estimates and assumptions used for determining
the recoverable amount of the Mining CGU | are as follows:

2025

Growth rate during the 6-year period Average of 1.49%

Post-tax discount rate 11.03%
2024

Growth rate during the 7-year period Average of 3.91%
Post-tax discount rate 14.01%

Estimates and assumptions are determined by management
based on the past performance of the Mining CGU | and
management'’s expectation for the market development.
The fair value of the Mining CGU | is a level 3 fair value
measurement.



Annual Report 2025 F%f;

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %5 B #S3R TR M 5T

For the year ended 30 June 2025
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T - 9% BERRE

(&)

K - (&

(b)

RZZE-_RAFA~A=1+H"
REEEEEZRANLETY
¥ BEERE SRR
B AR ERBE RV R ED R
BEHFEHNAMETM -
THRE=T - HEEHRT
HeENERZE -

sURERA B M E - BA
] BE f& 5l fd &t AT Ue [ & 8
B AREEFTEREERM
BASEES S —IAREE
BrReEEEM ([ FRER
SEEEMI]) Z A E S
o ReEEBMNRRAS
B SRS o 0 BIFAHT
F a1t I ol ) Gy ol = Rl
ELRSREZNE  BE
K&t - AR E M IRTE
BEDEERBEREELE

Azl o

AEERRATEFEZF
BERHE =T -

BHE_T-_AFA=71H
IEFEE  AEEEEERR
ETME - BEEZE  ®
REEENREREERE
B8 - BB N
T +HRETN - BEE
Tz - BE REEBER
A FERMFE T NIREE -

RZZEZRAFNA=+
H ASEEREAFELD
2,815,000 L (=& =M
£ :3,837,000/87C) 25T
BFREEMERE  BE
KSR A KRR, - HE - &
BERAEEER  tERAE
EER —RRITRE B
RHFE=F—) °

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

As at 30 June 2025, the management of the Group
identified impairment indicator of certain property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and mining right with
details as set out in notes 14, 15 and 20, primarily due to the
volatility in price of market gold price.

For the purposes of impairment testing, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit for
another mining operation of the Group (“Mining CGU
[1") to which the asset belongs when it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount individually. The cash-
generating unit represents the Group’s mining operation.
Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and the
mining right, set out in notes 14, 15 and 20 respectively that
generate cash flows together, have been allocated to the
Mining CGU II.

The result of the assessment and the details of the fair value
measurement are set out in note 20.

For the year ended 30 June 2025, the management of the
Group recognised impairment loss of certain property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
with details as set out in notes 14, 15 and 18. Particulars
of the impairment testing on certain property, plant and
equipment are disclosed in note 19.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group's certain buildings and
leasehold improvements, plant and machinery, and
furniture, fixtures and equipment and motor vehicles
with aggregate net carrying amount of approximately
HK$2,815,000 (2024: HK$3,837,000) were pledged to
secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note
31).

O
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+H - FRAEEE 15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

—
o

ERREERMFRIZIAHEEE

The analysis of the net carrying amount of right-of-use assets

BRVELH Z DT T by class of underlying assets is as follows:
At
LTibfERE RELH RE  HRZME @t
Other
Land properties
use Leasehold Motor leased for
rights land vehicles own use Total
TET THT THT THT THT
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
R-ZE-=F+H-—HF  At1July2023
A Cost 44,309 3538 - 30,301 78,148
BNE Accumulated depreciation (22,422) (2,330) - (15,101) (39,853)
R Net carrying amount 21,887 1,208 - 15,200 38,95
BE-_E_NE Year ended 30 June 2024
AAZTHLEE
FOREFE Opening net carrying amount 21,887 1,208 - 15,200 38,295
e Addition - - = 819 819
FELH Depreciation charges (1,188) (53) - (4779 (6,020)
THEBN Lease modification - - - 157 157
HEEE Impairment loss - - - (717) (77)
[E K Exchange realignment (132) = _ 43 (89)
EXREHFE Closing net carrying amount 20,567 1,155 - 10,723 32,445
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‘I’ i ﬁﬁﬁ %EE (&) 15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
HitfREE
TifERE HELH RE BRI st
Other
Land properties
use Leasehold Motor leased for
rights land vehicles own use Total
FET FET FET FET AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZE-MFRA=THAK  At30June 2024 and
“E-MELR-B 1July 2024
B Cost 44,309 3,538 - 31,277 79,124
ZERAERE Accumulated depreciation and
impairment loss (23,742) (2,383) - (20,554) (46,679)
REFE Net carrying amount 20,567 1,155 - 10,723 32,445
BE-E-RE Year ended 30 June 2025
AAZTHLEE
FREFE Opening net carrying amount 20,567 1,155 - 10,723 32,445
NE Addition - - 1,545 - 1,545
TELH Depreciation charges (1,216) (53) (423) (4,814) (6,506)
HEBH Lease modification - - - 185 185
REBR Impairment loss - - - (428) (428)
& B Exchange realignment 503 - - 207 710
EXGERE Closing net carrying amount 19,854 1,102 1122 5,873 27,951
RZEZRERA=1A At 30 June 2025
R Cost 44,309 3,538 1,545 31,462 80,854
ZHNERNERSE Accumulated depreciation and
impairment loss (24,455) (2,436) (423) (25,589) (52,903)
REEE Net carrying amount 19,854 1,102 1,122 5,873 27,951

HEZT-_AFA=1THISF
B AEBEEERRETY
¥ BB RS ERREE -
BEENNEEREESE &
BAEEEAMETM - + R R
TN\ - BlETERREERE
B 2 BRI EE T+ NI ER o

For the year ended 30 June 2025, the management of the

Group recognised impairment loss of certain property, plant

and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets and

goodwill with details as set out in notes 14, 15 and 18.

Particulars of the impairment testing on certain right-of-use

assets are disclosed in note 19.
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+H

+
ok

- EFAREE®

RZZE-_RAFA=1+H K&
%] 42 B T )% 58 492,091,000 78 T
T P4 : 2,515,000/ 7T) 2
FREEEDER  FRAERE
Bz —MIRITRE 2 R (B
H=1—) -

© BREYR

AEBFAURDRES MEEXR
BEZREMERERD  HEAR
FEEEGFE - YHBERRARK
SRR EY R - AEBRELE
MELBIREYRE - Wik AKX
e -

REFEEMBHIRRAKREIN 2 RE®
mEHPAIT

15.

16.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

As at 30 June 2025, certain of the Group’s right-of-use
assets with aggregate net carrying amount of approximately
HK$2,091,000 (2024: HK$2,515,000) were pledged to
secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note
31).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

All of the Group'’s property interests held to earn rentals
and for capital appreciation purposes are measured using
the fair value model and are classified and accounted for
as investment properties. The Group leases out investment
properties under operating leases with rentals receipts in a
monthly basis.

Movements of the carrying amounts presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position can be
summarised as follows:

2025 2024

FET FETT

HK$000 HK$'000

FYERE £ 58 Carrying amount at beginning of the year 1,990,400 2,078,100
NE Additions 58 238
N EFE 2 18558 Net loss from fair value adjustments (276,058) (87,938)
FRIRASE Carrying amount at end of the year 1,714,400 1,990,400

FR  EWATEEEARS
53/ -

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurement into or out of Level 3.



Annual Report 2025 F%f;

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %5 B #S3R TR M 5T

For the year ended 30 June 2025
HEZZT-_RAF A A=TRHLFE

_|_

—

/\

- BEYE )

R-E-_AF~NA=1+H " &
B (ERIEA) BRI EE
ETERAT (B _ME : 3
R EMTARAR)KBEE
LhEE(ZE_ME - BEE L
EOR)ETHE BREZEES
244,400,000/ 70( —ZZ Z P 4F :
260,400,000/7T) - EELEERE
BRESBRE KRR - #E
SIS R - MRS EIEE
B RERZBEELEEMG
Bk

R-ZE-_RAFA=1+H B%
RIS E W3 (@A ) Rl
EMTERAR(ZZE M :
FAIZRMITARAR)HEH K
HWENMEE(ZEZME : Yo
BEAER)ETHE  SH2E
& 7 1,470,000,000 78 7T ( = &
—PU4E : 1,730,000,000/ 7T ) °
Wa BN ES RA T o - 2
FEAcL R RIERAE -

AEBRENEZATEBES
BREUEATEFE - FHHESF

16.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties (individual unit) were valued at 30
June 2025 by Knight Frank Petty Limited (2024: Knight Frank
Petty Limited) at HK$244,400,000 (2024: HK$260,400,000)
by adopting the direct comparison approach (2024: direct
comparison approach). The direct comparison considers the
sales, listing or offerings of similar or substitute properties and
related market data establishes a value estimate by processes
involving comparison.

Completed investment properties (whole block) was valued
at 30 June 2025 by Knight Frank Petty Limited (2024
Knight Frank Petty Limited) at HK$1,470,000,000 (2024:
HK$1,730,000,000) by adopting the income capitalisation
method (2024: income capitalisation method). The income
capitalisation method involves certain estimates including
capitalisation rates and reversionary rental value.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties is a level
3 recurring fair value measurement. A reconciliation of the

RAFELHRERRAOT ¢ opening and closing fair value balance is provided below:
2025 2024
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEEH Opening balance
(B3EBEBHELATE) (level 3 recurring fair value) 1,990,400 2,078,100
NE Additions 58 238
N EFHE 2 EEFE Net loss from fair value adjustments (276,058) (87,938)
FRER Closing balance (level 3 recurring
(F3EREEATE) fair value) 1,714,400 1,990,400
TERFTEEETT AIBZE 2 Change in unrealised losses for the year
F ARG FriE included in profit or loss for assets
held at the end of the year (276,058) (87,938)
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2]

_|_

—

/\

- REWME )

AT B B EYEEE
=2%HEH(EEERERY
R AR o
TRIBHEENAETIREYE
AFEZER

5 E

Description Valuation technique

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The fair value measurement is based on the above investment

properties’ highest and best use, which does not differ from

their actual use.

The following table gives information about how the fair

values of the investment properties are determined.

EXELRRAAR

Significant unobservable inputs

EXELRE
BAEZER
Range of significant
unobservable inputs

ERELERN\BRATECRE
Relationship of significant
unobservable inputs to fair value

RZB-RE~A=TA
As at 30 June 2025

ERARANR(ERER)  ERMRE

Completed investment properties Direct comparison approach
(indlvidual units)

BRERRANE(REEE) WeEAE
Completed investment property  Income capitalisation method
(whole block)

NEEE MNRAE - KD REE

Quality of properties such as location,
size and level of the properties

U (Ao

Capitalisation rate

BHHE

Reversionary rental

-42% - +30%

3.25%

BENEETAR
GR4GET-13TRT
HK$49 to HK$137

per square foot

per month for
commercial premises

VES B E A SR
AYERE

The higher the quality of properties with
reference to comparables, the higher
the fair value.

BN ERR - ATERE
The higher the capitalisation rate,
the lower the fair value

EEREDS  ATERS-

The higher the reversionary rent,
the higher the fair value.
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+x - BEWE

L fafERAm

Description Valuation technique

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

EAEARRRAE

Significant unobservable inputs

EREEER
BAEZHE
Range of significant
unobservable inputs

EXELERBABEATECRE
Relationship of significant
unobservable inputs to fair value

RZEZMF/ A=TH
Asat 30 June 2024
BRERRENZ(RRIEL)  ERUEE
Completed investment

properties (individual units)

BERRANR(EEEE)
Completed investment

REERLE

property (whole block)

RZZE-_RAFA=1+H K&
B8R F1 4 %8 1,714,400,000 7% 7T
— = — P04 : 1,990,400,000/8
TZEREYMEBER - EAR
SEERZETRITEEZER
(fzE=+—) -

Direct comparison approach

VELERNEERNIN

Quality of properties such as location,
size and level of the properties

ARfuL %

Income capitalisation method ~ Capitalisation rate

rEHE

Reversionary rental

-43% - +18%

3%

BENESTIR
GASIAT- 1445
HKS52 to HK$144

per square foot

per month for
commercial premises

NERMRTE BN B8R -
TR

The higher the quality of properties with
reference to comparables, the higher
the fair value.

BMLERR  ATERE -
The higher the capitalsation rate,
the lower the fair value

EEEEDR  ATER

0

o

The higher the reversionary rental,
the higher the fair value.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group's investment properties
with carrying amounts of HK$1,714,400,000 (2024:
HK$1,990,400,000) were pledged to secure certain bank
borrowings granted to the Group (note 31).
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HE

—ECRFARRAETRIESFE

—
(@)

+t . mE

avAS

REBE B IS 2 B BRI
BROIREERAREEBTZ
ReELEM([ZERKERS
EEEE (7 | )Novell Enterprise Inc.
(INovell]) - BRARERE R

17.

GOODWILL

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at
acquisition, to Novell Enterprise Inc. (“Novell”) under cash-
generating unit of Jewellery Business in US (“Jewellery US
CGU"). Particulars regarding the impairment testing on
goodwill are disclosed in note 19.

BRI LR o

2025 2024

FET FETT

HK$000 HK$'000

FHRMEFEE Opening net carrying amount 8,124 8,124
A EE Impairment loss (8,124) (8,124)
FRAREFRE Closing net carrying amount = -

WA 18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2025 2024

FHET FETT

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHRRTEFEE Opening net carrying amount 7,304 8,291
JBEEE Impairment loss (804) (965)
b 5, B Exchange realignment 33 (22)
FoRERMEFR8 Closing net carrying amount 6,533 7,304

R-_E-_HAF~A=+H8H"
6,533,0008 7L (=T = /Y 4F :
7,304,000 70 ) 2 EIZER &
EFRERATFEHETZER
G c BEBEIBNUER - &
9 BT BEEFTERHE
EfI4B & = F [ Wright & Lido |
X [ Lieberfarb | fh k8 & 78 2 k&
T - EERE - ZEEZEAR
AR AR KAER - A
SEBHAAREBEELFHER
A AAEBEEEAFEASE
B - BEELEERERNH 25
BT FE LR -

As at 30 June 2025, intangible assets of trademarks
amounting to HK$6,533,000 (2024: HK$7,304,000) were
arising from a business combination in prior years. Intangible
assets represent the perpetual right to use of brand name
of “Wright & Lido” and “Lieberfarb” which takes the form
of sign, symbol, name, logo design or any combination
thereof. The directors considered these trademarks have an
indefinite useful life since they are registered with a legally
perpetual life and expected to generate net cash inflows to
the Group indefinitely. Particulars of the impairment testing
on intangible assets are disclosed in note 19.
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HEZZT-_RAF A A=TRHLFE

+N - BEEE®

RZE-_WMESA=TH -
7,304,000 T2 B EEBRE
B EAREERR 2 —RIBTT
BB 2 BR(HEFE=T—) -

th - EREREAER
FHzEERER
BEZRERHR

AETRERR  HETER
TN\ BIFrE AR EHEE A £
FHZHENEBENEE 2 2EK
HERENREXBKRERSE
B - pUREREME - BRA
BEREAERFNIAENE
FEEESN - D RIE M+ K
THWETELRSROME
TR 55 Be B ke I A58 P M 8 2 R A
BB MBI EE At AKEIR
BRGELEMN -

BENENEEMBXERER
TEABM 2 JRESEERA
FERODEXNRZAE(FIE
RFEFE)EE - XERER
SEABM ZAERFARA R
HEERER  RAEERER
BEREERERABOHER B
MHERMITREFEERARE
T

RZEZRFA=1+H ' XE
RERSELBU 2 ATERL
ERANERATISELEE K51 Rk
BEAEALRARZEEEES
HELEGE - srEEBIRER
CEEBMN AN TFERER 2
H B AB M ER T2 & E
TR -

18.

19.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

As at 30 June 2024, intangible assets of HK$7,304,000 were
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group (note 31).

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL
AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH
INDEFINITE USEFUL LIFE

For the purpose of impairment testing, all the carrying
amounts of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives set out in notes 17 and 18, respectively, have been
allocated to the Jewellery US CGU. In addition to goodwill
and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, certain
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets set out
in notes 14 and 15, respectively that generate cash flows
together with the related goodwill and intangible assets are
also included in the Jewellery US CGU for the purpose of
impairment assessment.

The recoverable amount of the Jewellery US CGU to which
the goodwill and intangible assets belongs was determined
based on the measurement of fair value less costs of disposal,
a level 3 fair value measurement. The valuation of the
Jewellery US CGU was carried out by Peak Vision Appraisals
Limited, an independent valuation firm who held recognised
and relevant professional qualifications and had recent
experience in the category of the goodwill and intangible
assets being valued.

The fair value less costs of disposal of the Jewellery US CGU
as at 30 June 2025 was measured using the market-based
approach taking into account the enterprise value to sales
ratio of selected comparable companies. The variables and
assumptions used in computing the fair value of the Jewellery
US CGU were based on the independent valuation firm’s best
estimate.
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+h- - EEEEEAER
FH BHERER
EEZBENR®)
by BAEAEEE A A
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2025

19. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL
AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH
INDEFINITE USEFUL LIFE (continued)

The significant unobservable inputs into the approach were

as follows:
EREEBE ERELE RN AEHE
WAEEE DNHEZEHEEE

Range of

significant
unobservable Relationship of significant unobservable
inputs inputs to fair value

PEEEHHEL XEE
The range of enterprise value to
sales ratio

TRz s mam AL ER
Discount for lack of marketability

EHIERE
Control premium

0.07£0.79 GXEEHHELTHELS A FERS
0.07 to 0.79 The higher the range of enterprise value to sales
ratio, the higher the fair value

28.80% e mimnEERRES - AFEBE
The higher the discount for lack of marketability,
the lower the fair value

23.70% rHRENS - ATEER
The higher the control premium,
the higher the fair value
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HEZZT-_RAF A A=TRHLFE

+h - BEEEBEUFEHA
FHvEERER
EEZBENR®

—E-mE

2024

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL
AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH
INDEFINITE USEFUL LIFE (continued)

EREEBE

WAEEE BEAELBERAEREAHEZENRER

Range of

significant
unobservable Relationship of significant unobservable
inputs inputs to fair value

CEEEHHELXHE

The range of enterprise value to sales ratio

TRz s mam AR ER
Discount for lack of marketability

ZHIERE
Control premium

REBEEBEEERTHAERTE
o EEKERSELEMN
AJ U [B] % %8 4 10,999,000 7% JT
(ZZ Z 9% : 14,088,000 %
7o) BEREBRESRE o ERA
Bl £ - ERfREBRREM
2HEHWERAS FISEESE
73146,0007%8 7T ( ZF Z MU -
174,000/70) 2 Y% ~ BE K&
1+ 428,000 (= ZPU4F :
717,00087C) 2 EFHEEE - T
(ZZ P4 : 8,124,000/ L) 2
P22 A K2 804,00078 75 ( = =Y
F : 965,000/ 7T ) 2 EF B ETE
R EE1E 491,378,000 T (=
= — U4 : 9,980,000/ 7T) ° &
EEBEARNEE 2 KBTS
S8 HEEHEREPLH IR
D RACERKAIE N

0.08%1.43 TEEEYHELERHEEES  AFESS

0.08 to 1.43 The higher the range of enterprise value to sales

ratio, the higher the fair value

28.80% B miZmBER RS - AFERE
The higher the discount for lack of marketability,
the lower the fair value

25.10% rHERENS - ATEES
The higher the control premium,
the higher the fair value

Based on the result of the assessment, the management
of the Group determined that the recoverable amount
of the Jewellery US CGU, amounted to HK$10,999,000
(2024: HK$14,088,000), is lower than its carrying amount.
Based on the recoverable amount, impairment loss of
approximately HK$1,378,000 (2024: HK$9,980,000)
have been recognised against the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment, amounting to HK$146,000
(2024: HK$174,000), right-of-use assets, amounting to
HK$428,000 (2024: HK$717,000), goodwill amounting to
nil (2024: HK$8,124,000), and intangible assets amounting
to HK$804,000 (2024: HK$965,000) respectively in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. These impairment losses were
included in the Jewellery business segment of the Group
which was mainly attributable to the declining customer
demand and the increase in operation costs.

O



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %= 5 BI #S3R =Mz

For the year ended 30 June 2025
ZECRFANA=THIEFE

—
o

20. MINING RIGHT

2025 2024

FET FET

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHIRRE R Opening net carrying amount 484,054 477,531

FRCREER), SRERE (Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment

for the year (26,599) 9,406
B 5, SR 2L Exchange realignment 11,852 (2,883)
FRARME SRR Closing net carrying amount 469,307 484,054
IRE45E Gross carrying amount 918,002 896,060
R GH Accumulated amortisation (4,156) (4,056)
ZERERE Accumulated provision for impairment (444,539) (407,950)
BRm F5E Net carrying amount 469,307 484,054

I E+ O E - R -F
“HERA=TH  AEEER
EHRIHETYE - BB M&E
AR BRI R R BT R (FIFH
REFE+EER=1) HEEAR
R EENERES -

FRIREFTBIRTE IR & E A BALI
ZA e eBERAFERLE
KRAZAE(FEIBEAFEFE)
BT FBHESEASMIZE
ERFERYRBEEEER
RET S B 2 R E R AR
STERASBR 2 B (B AR TR A1 D
B BRAR(ZE M
FRANBETFEER A B)EST ©

RZZE_RAFA=1H  FiE
BEELEBMIZAFERLE
RAERTIGEELR(ZE =
F:mMBEER)FROHESE
RIFTE - st ERERSELR
Iz AFERERAZEHRRE
BB AEMITZ REERT A
IR ©

As disclosed in note 14, as at 30 June 2025, the management
of the Group identified impairment indicator of certain
property, plant and equipment and mining right with details
as set out in notes 14 and 20, primarily due to the volatility in
price of market gold price.

The recoverable amount of the Mining CGU Il to which
the mining right belongs was determined based on the
measurement of fair value less costs of disposal, a level 3 fair
value measurement. The valuation of the Mining CGU Il was
carried out by BMI Appraisals Limited (2024: BMI Appraisals
Limited), an independent valuation firm who held recognised
and relevant professional qualifications and had recent
experience in the location and category of the mining right
being valued.

The fair value less costs of disposal of the Mining CGU Il as at
30 June 2025 was measured using recent sale and purchase
transactions under the market-based approach (2024:
market-based approach). The variables and assumptions used
in computing the fair value of the Mining CGU Il were based
on the independent valuation firm’s best estimate.
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—+ - HiEEe

ZIAZBERNE LB R B A BN

20. MINING RIGHT (continued)

The significant unobservable inputs into the approach were

T as follows:

—E-RF
2025

HEtEeERZ T EEEE
The range of uncertainty of estimated gold resources

RABRERAERH

Adjusted consideration to resources multiple

—EC-ME
2024

B RS ER 2 T ETEE
The range of uncertainty of estimated gold resources

KRR ERRERZR

Adjusted consideration to resources multiple

Bt RS ERZ T EE & E D
= NFERE - EHABRERK

BRE#gAE  ATEDS -

30%%£100%

30% to 100%

Br AR®34.23T(IBENER37.528T)E
BRrARES7.447T(HHENER62.96/87T)
RMB34.23 per gram (equivalent to HK$37.52
per gram) to RMB57.44 per gram (equivalent to
HK$62.96 per gram)

30%Z£100%

30% to 100%

FR AR®37.83T(IBENER40.47ETT)E
BrARKS6.157T(HERE7260.08E7T)
RMB37.83 per gram (equivalent to HK$40.47
per gram) to RMB56.15 per gram (equivalent to
HK$60.08 per gram)

The higher the range of uncertainty of the estimated gold
resources was, the lower the fair value was. The higher the
adjusted consideration of resources multiple was, the higher

the fair value was.

B ER TR A B IR HEE
MR TTEE R R A - ABGES(E

The independent valuation firm exercised their professional
judgement to estimate the uncertainty of resources to

B improve the valuation technique.
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:‘I- > ﬁﬁ%(ﬁ%} 20. MINING RIGHT (continued)

REEEEEERTHERE
E o RERSEEBEMIZATK
[6] 4 %8 4395,681,0008 T (==
— PO : 407,530,000/87T) * K
W(ZZEZWEF : ;) EFEES
o MZBAREESUME @ A
EoEGREHET L) 2Rl
PINBLZEEME - BERRK
- FREEEREERE
g SEEEZERESBEL R
BERREAFER D ERA -
HEAEERSZ2H&AE ° B
TFTM&Z@%%EEH%C&%@E =)
RirE B R A4 2R K
A5 Bl 54 459,000 7T 2 M 3 -
iR 5= N 2% B LA 1. 26,599,00078 7T
ZEBEE,EEeE(ZE M
£ : 168,0007% 7T 59,406,000
T ) FE R R B 5 18 4927,058,000
B (ZEZUF  FEBER
[519,574,000/%7T) ° IBEEE
FAREB CRKEEBE I -
AR 5 % 286,650,000 7T (=
& — U4 : 2,352,000/ 7C) E A
BaPRERBMEHER(ZZ
—POF X e

Based on the result of the assessment, the management
of the Group determined that the recoverable amount
of the Mining CGU II, amounted to HK$395,681,000
(2024: HK$407,530,000), is lower (2024: higher) than
its carrying amount. For this cash-generating unit, the
impairment amount, before offsetting tax effect, has been
allocated pro rata to each category of property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and mining right such
that the carrying amounts of each category of asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal, its value in use and zero. Based on the recoverable
amount calculation and the allocation, impairment loss of
approximately HK$27,058,000 (2024 reversal of impairment
loss of HK$9,574,000) have been recognised against
the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment,
amounting to HK$459,000, and mining rights, amounting
to HK$26,599,000, respectively (2024: HK$168,000 and
HK$9,406,000) in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income. The impairment loss
was included in the mining operation segment of the Group.
The related tax effect amounting to HK$6,650,000 (2024:
HK$2,352,000) was recognised as an income tax credit
(2024: expense) in profit or loss.
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Zt— RBEQTZE

N2

INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE

m
2025 2024
FHET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
B EFE Share of net assets = 25,151
SE B E Provision for impairment - (3,898)
- 21,253

REZZE_AFASA=ZFTHRZZ
RAIZFHBIAT ¢

Particulars of the principal associate as at 30 June 2025 and
30 June 2024 are as follows:

e,/ REEER
£ BHREMEATE EMREELY BERERESL FEER
Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ ownership interest
Particulars of paid-up registration and attributable to
Name registered capital operations the Group  Principal activities
Metropolitan Opportunity Fund SPC B 2Rk A457,582,3985 7T RS/ A% NER  REER
Paid up capital of USD7,582,398 Cayman Islands/Hong Kong N/A Investment holdings
(ZB-mE : 30)
(2024: 30)

RZZEZEF+=ANB AR
A% & Metropolitan Opportunity
Fund SPCHIEA - FEH KT
RE HEZRZRARRETE
AR DRI BN R (558 [ 5
k1) - BRADIRBISZ BERIE
EFTRETR WS IKE S
BAREATEF ARMEE K
LEREE -

On 9 December 2024, the Company was informed by
Metropolitan Opportunity Fund SPC that, as a result of its
business direction, its directors have resolved to make a
distribution in specie to its shareholders and wind up the
company (together, the “Distribution”). The assets received
through the Distribution are the unlisted equity instruments
and classified as financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income at the date of the Distribution.
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Z+— - REEATZE 21. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

=

=)

NE&E B X Z 82 QA
Metropolitan Opportunity Fund
SPCZ AR Z (BB AT

The summarised financial information of Metropolitan
Opportunity Fund SPC, a principal associate of the Group,
extracted from its management accounts are as follows:

BERE AT :
2025 2024
FET FET
HK$000 HK$'000
WA<A=1H As at 30 June
mENEE Current assets - 70,553
ERBEE Non-current assets - -
mEBE Current liabilities - (280)
IEMBEE Non-current liabilities - _
BEFE Net assets = 70,273
ANEE (LA ] Group's share of the net assets of
BEFE the associate = 21,253
B=FE-MHF+tHA—HZ From 1July 2024 to 9 December 2024
—E-_mE+=-HNH (date of dissolution)/for the year
I(RE B BE ended 30 June
NA=THLEFE
Wz Revenue - _
8 F N, (EE) Profit/(loss) for the period/year 312 (7,422)
Hfh 2w Other comprehensive income (68) (213)
T H AR Total comprehensive income 244 (7,635)
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—t= - REgEhEIR 22. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
é
2025 2024
FET FAETT
HK$000 HK$'000
BIHEEFE Share of net assets 1,037 1,038
ERE S ERIE Due to joint ventures (1,036) (1,036)
FZERIAREER - 2B RAR The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
EGE - on demand.
RZE-_RAFA=THE=Z Particulars of the principal joint ventures as at 30 June 2025
“WEARNA=1TH EELED and 30 June 2024 are as follows:
EZFBAT

BRTRARBARE/ e,/

£ EfEAEE afh rREERERREREAL  TEEH
Particulars of issued and Place of
paid-up share capital/ incorporation/ Percentage of ownership
Name registered capital registration interest attributable to the Group  Principal activities
2025 2024
Reta Investment Holding Limited 10,000 &RE(E1ET AERAHS 50% 50% AR
paL il
10,000 ordinary shares of British Virgin Islands Investment holding
US$1 each
Metropolitan Capital 5,000,000 FREE0IET FEHE 33% 3%  REER
LERR
5,000,000 ordinary shares of Cayman Islands Investment holding
U5$0.01 each
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HE

—ECRFARRAETRIESFE

—
(@)}

—t= . RAEGCEE

=)

KEBERE L B X Reta
Investment Holding Limited
(TReta Investment | » A& 2
RREFMK LR BB EE Y
B BB EAS0% (=
ZPO4F : 50% ) #EEs o WA - AR
£ B IR A & 1 % Metropolitan
Capital (A F 2 B S s A &
NEBEEZBUABEER)
HAE33%(ZF_MF : 33%)
B o BHULHEARLREEIR
HEZEC LT EEFESR
£ 2 #EF| - ffiReta Investment &
Metropolitan Capital 3= 2 # A %
ERERHEECEINREEEER
HFEBEZEMT - BEEBVER
HERE115 - ZEEETHE
BREAGENRE WO FRAER
ERERE TS IRRARR ©

22.

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(continued)

The Group has 50% (2024: 50%) interests in joint ventures,
Reta Investment Holding Limited (“Reta Investment”),
a separate structured vehicle incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands and operating in Hong Kong. In addition,
the Group also has 33% (2024: 33%) interest in joint
ventures, Metropolitan Capital, a separate structured vehicle
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and operating in Hong
Kong. The contractual arrangement provides the Group with
only the rights to the net assets of these joint arrangements,
with the rights to the assets and obligation for the liabilities of
the joint arrangement resting primarily with Reta Investment
and Metropolitan Capital. Under HKFRS 11, these joint
arrangements are classified as joint ventures and have been
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method.
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—t+= REBLEHE 22. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
= (4&) (continued)
ERIFEERE & ERIGERE M Summarised financial information for individually immaterial
BRR 2T EEREEWNT ¢ joint ventures attributable to the consolidated financial

statements as follows:

2025 2024
FET FHET
HK$000 HK$'000

RAA=+H As at 30 June
ERIZEERE EBFER Aggregate carrying amount of

e PgSHREK L individually immaterial joint ventures in

AR S the consolidated financial statements 1,037 1,038
HEANAZ=ZTHILEFE Year ended 30 June
IEEREEELFEE Aggregate amount of the results of

4R immaterial joint ventures:
—FNEE — Loss for the year (2) Q)
FHEWEEE Total comprehensive income (2) )
NEEERESERESEE  Aggregate amount of the Group's share of

HaZE - results of the joint ventures:
—FRNEE — Loss for the year (1) 1)
SHEWEEE Total comprehensive income (1) (1)
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B RS Rk YL

—
0]

= - UAFEFAH 23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
ftE2EREzE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
RIEE INCOME
2025 2024
k23 FET FET
FEREEE Non-current assets Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
FHRAERE Listed equity investments,
DAY¥E : at fair value:
B Hong Kong - 16,956
HAthih 75 Elsewhere 77 499
(@) 77 17,455
FEETRAIEE - Unlisted equity investments,
AAFEE at fair value
Gy Hong Kong (@) (b) 13,791 -
EmES - UATE Listed bonds, at fair value:
BB Hong Kong = 2,298
Hibs sy Elsewhere = 2,250
(@ - 4,548
HET Total 13,868 22,003
MiaF Notes:

@ HRAEERRZE LT R
FE LM IRAIRE B SRS 1
g - MBS RIHIE T %
ERENRFEFAHME

[El 6

The listed and unlisted equity investments were irrevocably

designated at fair value through other comprehensive

income as the Group considers these investments to be

strategic in nature.
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—+=

DA EFAHR
fh=EKEZ S
MEE =)

Hrat - (&)

(b)

RZZE-ME+=ANE -
Metropolitan Opportunity
Fund SPCH A5 B {E B Y
Dk - iR - ZESERA
REFETERER - DIk
FIERMTE= & -

b FE E AR AR 4R & 5 Owl
Square Investment Holding
Limited ( [ Owl Square ] )
28.73% B ANHE 2 - %AW A
FREREBFAMKL - 2
REHEERERAEBRAZE
X WRAFERNED
& > AR ZIRE B R AR
4565 ~EEREEER
VAR SEAEET AE A 2 U ES
RE o

R-ZE_AF~A=1+H"
REBZEE T HEGEM
EG AN EARAREHZ
RAIEEETHE - BAE
BEZAFETRAERK
w=AEERM - EAR
BEeREET - BAIH®E
KR & M EHEA3% M G5
R REITIGE - FTIRTE
B3R &R E MR AT IR R
B11.4% ° WEITRE EFH
HNE1% © AFEBRD
#91,122,000 % JT 3% 1 0 49
1,314,000 7T °

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

On 9 December 2024, Metropolitan Opportunity Fund SPC
make a distribution in specie to the Group. Resolutions have
been passed for voluntary winding up of the fund thereafter
Details of the distribution are disclosed in Note 21.

The above unlisted equity investment represents the 28.73%
equity interest of Owl Square Investment Holding Limited
("Owl Square”), a private entity incorporated in Hong Kong,
which is principal engaged in co-living space and co-working
space businesses which was distributed during the year. The
Group designated the investment as at fair value through
other comprehensive income, as the investment is held for
long term strategic purposes.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group engaged independent
professional valuer, CHFT Advisory and Appraisal Limited,
to perform the valuation of the equity investment. The
fair value of the equity investment has been determined
by income-based approach valuation technique using
discounted cash flow method. Cash flows beyond the
projection period are extrapolated using estimated growth
rate of 3%. The pre-tax rate used to discount the forecast
cash flow is 11.4%. Should the discount rate increase or
decrease by 1%, the fair value would be decreased by
approximately HK$1,122,000 or increased by approximately
HK$1,314,000.

O
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HE-ZT—

HFERA=THIEFE

N
(@)

—+=.

DAFEFAHR
fh2mERE 2z S
MEE 2

Kz - (8)

(b)

(%)

AEEFEEHBRARE 2R
FEBFEIBEEEATE
Ft8 o FYRFRDFELS
EREPRINT

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b) (continued)

The fair value of the Group'’s unlisted equity investment is

level 3 recurring fair value measurement. A reconciliation

of the opening and closing fair value balance is provided

below:

2025 2024
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEREH(EIEBREEAT(E) Opening balance (level 3 recurring
fair value) _ _
NE Additions 21,327 -
AN ERARE 7 EiEsE Loss from fair value adjustment (7,536) -
FREH(FEIBLKHIEATFIE) Closing balance (level 3 recurring
fair value) 13,791 -
MERFTFEETAEMZETE  Change in unrealised losses for
Wk 7 FRREIREEE the year included in the other
comprehensive income for
assets held at the end of the year (7,536) -
ZETHEHEZAOBRESR (0 The listed bonds where the contractual cash flows are solely

EARRARE RAE - A
SEEBEXBENER
WHEHNREMEREES
BMEEMETNER - R
T-_WMFEANA=Z+H Z
ELrMESFHFERNENF
147%7%E3.88% * ZIHI A i
T NFLAEZT-F
FNATE -

BEAAEBNEEBUR KR
BEMEFNEERBHE
LR MIEE46.3 ©

principal and interest and the objective of the Group's
business model is achieved both by collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets. As at 30 June 2024,
the listed bonds carried interest rates ranging from 1.47% to
3.88% per annum and had various maturity dates from July

2024 to September 2025.

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk
arising from the listed bonds are set out in note 46.3.
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—+=- UREEFAH 23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
fr2EkEz S THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
MEE =) INCOME (continued)
Hiet : (4) Notes: (continued)
© (%) (© (continued)
LA Tz 18 2 TR The following gains were recognised in profit or loss:
2025 2024
FT F#T
HK$'000 HK$000

REFFER AN FEF AEM  Dividends from equity investments

2H W 2 R E held at fair value through other
FriSARE. comprehensive income
recognised in profit or loss:
BN AR EER IR Related to investments derecognised
REGH during the year 470 =
HENFEARAZRERH Related to investments held at
year end date - 1,129

o
=
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N
N

—tH - BRPYERRE 24.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

EES AND PROPERTIES FOR SALE
LEMERRNRZEBEREFTMER Properties under development and properties for sale in the
FEYERE consolidated statement of financial position comprise:

2025 2024

FET FET

HK$'000 HK$'000

BRI Properties under development 215,244 210,871
FEYE Properties for sale 64,154 274,252
279,398 485,123

RER - MRERFB Y E
7,552,000/ 7L (= = U4 : #f
T EYE141,031,00087T) B
W*Ma = R H 2R ER T

R=ZZE-—RAFA=1+H " %E
R #9215,244,000/8 0 ( = Z
—PY4 : 210,871,000/ 7 ) T HA
T2 BRE B HA RABRT AR K
TZEAAER o

RZZEZREASA=1H &&
=] 48 AR TE )T §E 49 /2 279,398,000
BT (ZZ U4 : 485,123,000
BIL)CBERPMERFED
BEEHR ERAEEERZ—
BIWITEEME 2 BER (M=
=F—)-

During the year, a write-down of properties under
development of HK$7,552,000 (2024: write-down of
properties for sale of HK$141,031,000) have been recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

As at 30 June 2025, properties under development
amounting to approximately HK$215,244,000 (2024:
HK$210,871,000) were not expected to be realised within
the next twelve months from the end of the reporting date.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group's properties under
development and properties for sale with aggregate net
carrying amounts of approximately HK$279,398,000 (2024:
HK$485,123,000) were pledged to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group (note 31).
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—+F- - #FE& 25. INVENTORIES
2025 2024
FET FAET
HK$'000 HK$'000
R Raw materials 24,456 35,596
TR Work in progress 6,078 8,900
EKah Finished goods 117,065 111,185
147,599 155,681
RZZT_WHFEASA=+H & As at 30 June 2024, certain inventories with aggregate
H#2%833,607,0008 25 T 17 carrying amounts of HK$33,607,000 were pledged to secure
ECEHl (EARNEFER 2 general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 31).
—RIBITEERE 2 BRI
=t
—t+x - BESEWFIE 26. TRADE RECEIVABLES
2025 2024
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$000
B S EWGIA Trade receivables 91,918 67,724
B FEUGEIE 2 RERBEE  Less: provision for impairment of
receivables (7,667) (6,325)
B 2 el e — R EE Trade receivables — net 84,251 61,399
REB —RRIRBITE BT R E The Group normally grants credit terms to its customers
BERPZEE . BRLHERK according to industry practice together with consideration
MEHBEIIRFREEIEE of their creditability, repayment history and years of
B - BREPHHREZEEE establishment. Each customer has a maximum credit
28 o NEFWH KEEEIRTIR limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
UEFEBR AR IR o B HAERIE B = AR outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are regularly
BEIEE AR o reviewed by senior management.

N
o
W



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %= 5 BI #S3R =Mz

For the year ended 30 June 2025
HEZZ-_RAF A A=TAHLFE

o
=

_I_

N BZERWRE#® 26. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
RIBEBH - kB EHEERERH An ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of provision, as at
EER B E S EIRGIEERE the reporting date, based on the date of recognition of the

DR : sale, is as follows:

2025 2024
FET FETT
HK$’000 HK$'000
0-30H 0 - 30 days 29,059 24,993
31-60H 31 - 60 days 30,793 18,766
61-90H 61 —90 days 21,569 14,611
90B LA E Over 90 days 2,830 3,029
84,251 61,399

BRAEECEERERE SEK
HEEAMEERRNE P+
RE A 5E46.3 ©

RZZE-_WESA=+H @\
#%E7,050,0008 L 2B TE S
BURHRIBEEER  tERASERE
Bz —RBITEERE ZER
(MsE=+—) -

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk
arising from trade receivable are set out in note 46.3.

As at 30 June 2024, certain trade receivables with aggregate
carrying amounts of HK$7,050,000 were pledged to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 31).
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—++t - HUAFETA 27. FINANCIAL ASSETS/LIABILITIES AT

BRCEHE

FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR

EafE LOSS
2025 2024
Hiat FET FEIT
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
EREEE Non-current assets
KEES Investment fund, at fair value
NAF(EE S
BB Hong Kong = 5,795
Hitbin )y Elsewhere - 4272
(a) - 10,067
REEE Current assets
BB LTRAES - Listed equity securities in
AR EET= Hong Kong, at fair value (b) = 2,505
PTHESRT A - Derivative financial instruments
AT ERT= at fair value (@) = 16
- 2,521
RENEE Current liabilities
PTAESRIE Derivative financial instruments
WA E= at fair value © (211) =

MEBEEE NARTER ABR
ZERMEBE/AERGEERE)
SIREE

BRNEEED B2
BLEDT—H5 -

St B

fe

the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss under current assets presented within the section on
operating activities as part of changes in working capital in

N
o
ul
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—+t - UAFERA 27. FINANCIAL ASSETS/LIABILITIES AT
BERsemE FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
E/ﬁ{ﬁ(%} LOSS (continued)

Kzt - Notes:
BB WM MRS R F @) The investment fund with cash flows that are not solely

BZREREZRAZET
REEBIEE - UATE

ANERDEARETE -

ETMEARSTIREEE -

RZZE_RF~A=1+H"
REBZHTES BT AL
EEFEZINERIPALD -
RNEETIZAES B ER
HZREFE - ZFrHE
#) 2 & %&875,000% 7T (—
= — P04 : 200,000 7T)
MAAZEG N2 REE
PE ) 185 5 1.28143%

payments of principal and interest is classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.

The listed equity securities are held for trading.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group’s derivative financial
instruments represented foreign currency forward contracts
denominated in GBP and the fair values are based on
the quoted prices from the relevant financial institutions.
The notional amounts of these forward contracts are
US$875,000 (2024: US$200,000) and the forward currency
rates of all these contracts ranged from GBP1:US$1.2814
to GBP1:US$1.3718 (2024: GBP1:US$1.272 to
GBP1:US$1.28374) with various maturity dates from

N
()]

TLE1HEEEH1.3718E (= July 2025 to November 2025 (2024: from July 2024 to
T PUF | HEE A 1.272 September 2024).

ETLE 1R H 1.28374%

7T) c BIHAR T -RFt

REZZT-RF+—AT%E

ZECF g MEF

+tAZE-ZT-_WENA) -

(d) AT IRES/ (B18) RIB (d) The following gains/(losses) were recognised in profit or loss:
7 ¢

2025 2024

FET FHT

HK$000 HK$'000

HibEe W ANGRAAT(E  Fair value gains/(losses) on

FTABZm R E 2 equity investments at fair value
AFEWES(E1E) through profit or loss in
other operating income 1,305 (450)
BB AWBBELAATFE  Fair value (losses)/gains on
AR EBIREZ debt investments at fair value
NEE(ER), ek through profit or loss in
other operating income (300) 19
B S W AANBBITE Fair value (losses)/gains on
ERMIAZATE derivative financial instruments
(B518) Wizs in other operating income (384) 80
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—+N- BERRELEEE 28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

R MRS FRBEATRD

Cash and cash equivalents include the following

components:
2025 2024
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
RMHRERITIERX Short-term bank deposits 3,234 16,248
B MIRTTAERR Cash and bank balances 33,124 32,908
36,358 49,156

BITHRHERT BRI TERAE
BEUZEIFE - RZTEZARFAN
A=+8 ' E8ETERAE=@
ARATEHR(ZZE_MHF - =
BAMA)  BREFENF1.00%
£3.40%(ZF =4 : 3.54%%
5.00% ) FREX A2, o

RAREERAE  ARIRITHES
R HIREIE - EZEREZ
N EHEERMEBIWES KNE
oo

/l

RZZE-_RAFA=1+H K&
BAARBHBEZES RIRIT
4 #2496,603,00078 L (= F =Y
£ : 3,596,000/ 7T ) * A MFIE
TofE AFR B R BE SR 1T 3k /8 T 58 %
o AREWIFAEELBZE
s o ARAR A B K B 2 SINE S Il {5
Pl R AETE - EIE RATIEE IR
TE o ANEEE SRR EETT
SN ZETS 2 IRITIE AR WA
SN o

The bank balances earn interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. As at 30 June 2025, the short-term
bank deposits are made for varying periods within three
months (2024: within three months) and earn interest ranged
from 1.00% to 3.40% (2024: 3.54% to 5.00%) per annum.

The directors of the Company considered that the fair values
of the cash at banks are not materially different from their
carrying amounts because of the short maturity period on
their inception.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group had cash and bank
balances denominated in Renminbi (“’'RMB’’) amounting
to approximately HK$6,603,000 (2024: HK$3,596,000),
which were deposits with banks in Mainland China or held
in hand. RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Under the
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement and Sales and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for foreign currencies through banks that are
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

N
~
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N
(03]

—t+h- - BEENHES 29. TRADE PAYABLES/OTHER PAYABLES
H B RRIER AND ACCRUALS
EstE A
B 5 EMNTIEZ EE IS A fE The credit terms of trade payables vary according to the terms
TEMEFEE 9 E 2 R A o agreed with different suppliers. The ageing analysis of trade
KRG EH - EREEHH A payables of the Group as at the reporting date, based on the
SEE FEMNKREREK DTN invoice dates, is as follows:
T
2025 2024
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
0-30H 0 - 30 days 14,528 17,676
31-60H 31 - 60 days 11,168 9,468
61-90H 61— 90 days 15,019 8,281
90H LA E Over 90 days 25,918 24,345
66,633 59,770
HibpE B R ESE A BEA Other payables and accruals included the following items:
NEHR :
2025 2024
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
He kEMire Rental and other deposits 10,431 9,508
FEFRE S Retention payables - 3194
=ERE® Long service payment 478 478
fEtAE Accrued liabilities 15,247 13,614
H i fET FRIE* Other payables* 16,185 10,920
42,341 37,714
& HihENZEFE BiEENE & Other payables mainly represent staff costs and construction

TR RIRRRLA ©

BHRMNFIA - HtEMIAR
EFtERARIIME - Fit - &
ERREZENFR - RN
RN e B MREERE A
[EEEE

cost payables.

Trade payables, other payables and accruals are short term in
nature and hence, the directors consider the carrying amount
of trade payables, other payables and accruals approximate
to their fair values.
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=t - BHEE 30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

2025 2024
FET FETT
HK$°000 HK$'000
WEEREL2AKEAME  Contract liabilities arising from
sale of goods 243 343
FELYHBESREZ BANTUE Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
U contract liabilities are as follows:
HEKREEH Sale of jewellery

AREBEHERE BRI E
TRIZINBEMAE EELS
Bk TFBBZ TR AL -

Certain deposit the Group receives on sale of jewellery
remains as a contract liability until such time as the work
completed to date outweighs it.

EHEBZEE Movement in contract liabilities
2025 2024
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
FANEERR Balance as at beginning of the year 343 354
A BERERNEZRZT A Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of
FHE B ENRE recognising revenue during the year that
MR was included in the contract liabilities at
the beginning of the year (343) (354)
SAARERTESZE ML Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
billing in advance 243 343
FERAER Balance at end of the year 243 343

N
O
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B RS Rk YL

N
o

=+- . BFEX

RITEFRESEZ OO

31. BANK LOANS

follows:

The analysis of the carrying amount of bank loans is as

2025 2024
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
nREAE Current liabilities
R—FAREEEZ Portion of bank loans due for repayment
RITERED within one year
—BER — Guaranteed 33,415 20,354
—HEH R EER — Secured and guaranteed 732,416 169,368
765,831 189,722
R—FEIHEER Portion of bank loans due for repayment
HERERETRIEX after one year which contain a repayable
ZRITEFRHBS on demand clause
— HIER R EER — Secured and guaranteed 30,250 692,784
796,081 882,506
FRBEME Non-current liabilities
R—FRIBERZ Portion of bank loans due for repayment
RITEFEH D after one year
—GiB R EER — Secured and guaranteed - 153,730
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=+— - $17E8F 31. BANK LOANS (continued)
R-E-RFR_ZTNFH At 30 June 2025 and 2024, the bank loans were scheduled to
=108 @ RITERCEFREFRHE repay as follows:
W
2025 2024
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
RITER : Bank loans:
ARN—FERNEE Repayable within one year 765,831 189,722
TARE —FEE Repayable in the second year 7,881 815,593
HARE=ZFRHF Repayable in the third to fifth year,
(BEEERF)EER inclusive 22,369 30,921
796,081 1,036,236
S| EAR B A B I e 2 518l The amounts due are based on the scheduled repayment
BRABRAERE - AW FHEM dates set out in the loan agreements and ignore the effect of
RESKBRIGE 22 - any repayment on demand clause.
RZEBE_RF,NA=1H K& As at 30 June 2025, the Group's bank loans facilities
BIAB T EZRITEREER denominated in HK$ of HK$777,666,000 (2024:
A& 777,666,000/ 70 ( = =Y HK$1,024,440,000) were secured/guaranteed by the
4 :1,024,440,0007% 70 ) A T 7] followings:
T8 B BRI, HER
(a) K £ B | E 4 (a) legal charges over the Group’s investment
1,714,400,000/8 T (=& properties with carrying values of approximately
— P94 : 1,990,400,000 HK$1,714,400,000 (2024: HK$1,990,400,000) (note
BIT) 2R EWF (M 16);
T78) ZEEE
by AEKEEK@TZFMELY (b)  legal charges over the Group’s property, plant and
2,815,000/ L (= F =Y equipment (note 14) with net carrying values of
£ 12,515,000/ 7T ) Z approximately HK$2,815,000 (2024: HK$2,515,000);
M - BB R (M
+09) 2 AR

N
==
—
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N
N

RITER )

N £ R @ E Y
2,091,000/ (== =Y
£ 12,152,000/ 7T ) 2 1
BEEEMETR) 2%
JE 5D

PN TR - W
279,398,000 jt ( — =
ZFE BRRPYE
485,123,000 7T ) 2 &
R RS
) ZEEHR

N R A KIS
FrExc8ED A
1,374,520,00058 7L ( — =
— P94 : 1,334,520,000
% 7t ) K& 210,000,000
B (ZZT M@ EF -
211,300,000 7)) Z A A)
ER

AABEEREE B A
Al EmA

AEEEEREMEZE
WA K

REEEEERPMER
HTEMEZHEMENX
I8 o

31.

BANK LOANS (continued)

(©

legal charges over the Group'’s right-of-use assets
(note 15) with carrying values of approximately
HK$2,091,000 (2024: HK$2,152,000);

legal charges over the Group's properties under
development and properties for sale with carrying
values of approximately HK$279,398,000 (2024:
properties under development of HK$485,123,000)
(note 24);

corporate guarantees of HK$1,374,520,000 (2024:
HK$1,334,520,000) and HK$210,000,000 (2024:
HK$211,300,000) executed by the Company and
non-controlling interests respectively;

ordinary shares of an indirectly owned subsidiary of
the Company;

assignment of rental income of investment properties
of the Group; and

assignment of sale proceeds of properties under
development and properties for sale of the Group.
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=t—- ﬁ?fﬁ%ﬂ(ﬁg) 31. BANK LOANS (continued)

R-ZZE-_mWFEA=1+H &K As at 30 June 2024, the Group's bank loan facility

SENAETFEZRITIERE denominated in US$ of US$825,000 (equivalent to

B #h & 825000% T (HHER HK$6,443,000) was secured/guaranteed by the followings:

6,443,000/ 7T ) i1 71170 B K

BB

(a) N £ BRmEFEEY (a) legal charges over the Group’s property, plant and
1,322,000 7T 2 ¥ % - equipment (note 14) with net carrying values of
R & et (M) 2 approximately HK$1,322,000;
SEERE

(b) /NS 7,304,000 7 (b) Intangible assets of HK$7,304,000 (note 18),
TZEFEEE (N inventories of HK$33,607,000 (note 25) and trade
+J\) ~ 33,607,000 7T receivables of HK$7,402,000 (note 26) of the Group;
ZEFEE(RZF=1+8) R and

7,402,0007%8 T 2 E 5 [E
UzE(fsE=+75) + &

(0 KANBEILSREB () corporate guarantees of HK$31,236,000 executed by
31,236,000/ 7T 2 A A& the Company.
& o
RZEZRFASA=+H K As at 30 June 2025, the bank loans of the Group
SEUBRLFEZRITER denominated in HK$ of HK$777,666,000 (2024:
777,666,000/ 0 ( ZZF Z P4 : HK$1,024,440,000) and US$ of HK$18,415,000 (2024:
1,024,440,000 7% T ) & A =T equivalent amount of HK$11,796,000) have floating interest
st{E : 18,415,000 T (= & rates ranging from 1.60% to 6.60% (2024: 5.05% to
Z U4 - FEABIT11,796,00078 8.50%) per annum.

T0) ZHEFFENT1.60%E
6.60% (—ZF M4 : 5.05% %
8.50%) °

N
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32.

LEASE LIABILITIES

As lessee

The Group leases various motor vehicles, offices and
properties in the jurisdictions from which it operates. Rental
contracts are typically made for fixed periods. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants.

The present value of future lease payments of the Group’s

m leases are analysed as:
2025 2024
FET FET
HK$000 HK$'000
RE 5,150 4,923
FEMED Non-current 4,073 7,834
9,223 12,757
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AEEREETHMELHERE

32. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

As lessee (continued)

Reconciliation of the Group’s leases liabilities arising from

ZHER financing activities:
FET
HK$°000

R=-B-=%tH-—H As at 1 July 2023 16,290
INE Addition 819
FEFAZ Interest expenses 811
HERK Lease payments (5,286)
THEER Lease modification 157
TE 4 e Exchange realignment (34)
R-ZE-_MEARA=1THR As at 30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024

—E-—NFEA—H 12,757
NG Addition 1,545
FERX Interest expenses 665
HERK Lease payments (6,043)
HEER Lease modification 185
PEE 8 Exchange realignment 114
R=FB-FHFXB=+H As at 30 June 2025 9,223

N
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32.

LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

As lessee (continued)

The future lease payments of the Group’s leases (excluding
short-term and low value leases) were schedule to repay as

BERBRLT follows:
RIEHEEMAR & FME
Minimum lease
payments Principal Interest
AT FHT FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R=Z-_FFAH=1H Asat30June 2025
TER—%F No later than one year 5,150 5,491 (341)
—iiﬁﬂi One year to two years 2,789 2,923 (134)
ERMEENERAST Later than two years but not
later than five years 1,284 1,300 (16)
9,223 9,714 (491)
R=ZZ-MFA=+H Asat30June 2024
TER—F No later than one year 4,923 5,498 (575)
—FEME One year to two years 4,370 4,634 (264)
ENMEENENTSE  Later than two years but not
later than five years 3,464 3,599 (135)
12,757 13,731 (974)

Ef‘\:z—ﬂfﬁ/\ﬂ JFEZNT;:

ﬁHZr%fﬂMu%ﬂ?i’ﬁ fﬁ%ﬂ
REFGFLNK(ZT M :
5.79%) o

The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate
applied to lease liabilities recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2025 is 4.91%
(2024: 5.79%) per annum.
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33. DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

The amounts due are unsecured, interest free and not
repayable within the next twelve months.

=10 - EAREEA R 34. DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES
FIE
2025 2024
FET FET
HK$000 HK$'000
REEE Current liabilities
FE{T AR A RIRIE (i 3E@))  Due to related companies (note (a)) 38,396 7,379
FERBEE Non-current liabilities
JFE{ EAESE A RIIE (M 3E(b))  Due to related companies (note (b)) 5,021 30,047

Bt -

@) RZTEZRAFA=+
H FEHF% % A 7 2 IE
6,880,000 8 7L (=& =Y
£ 1 6,844,000/ T ) A EE
e B - H A Pacific

Islands Company Limited ( F
Z!K AIMITESREL K%

—ENF - RESKE)
R )FIERERERER

RZE_RAENA=T
EI BN EMNTIERE
ERABRAR(IER])
FXIE 1,644,000 L (= F
:Ei : 1,605,000/ 7T ) &
29,872,000 ;o (=T =M
£ : 27,286,000/ 70 ) FIERE
SHEAEEKE 2E RS A
’Eﬁ/\_v_/\ﬂzﬁﬁ 'f'/\
Ak=—ZT-_RF+—A=+
HE|HAEE -

RZE_WFA=+AH -
ENENEHE S HR A
(BT AEFBEEA
8 ) FRIE535,0005% It 4 1K
B RBER-ZT _UF
+AZ+=—RREEE -

Notes:

As at 30 June 2025, the amounts due to related companies
of HK$6,880,000 (2024: HK$6,844,000) were unsecured,
interest-free, which is an amount due to Pacific Islands
Company Limited, which was owned by Mr. Chan Wai
Lap, Victor (2024: Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor), an executive
director of the Company, and repayable on demand.

As at 30 June 2025, the carrying amount of amounts due to
BINTEHRIRERHAGRAR("EHR") of HK$1,644,000
(2024: HK$1,605,000) and HK$29,872,000 (2024
HK$27,286,000) were unsecured, interest-free and due
for repayment on 26 May 2026 and 30 November 2025
respectively.

As at 30 June 2024, the amounts due to E/MNZEHEZ 5 H R
2 a] of HK$535,000, which Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley was
a key management personnel, were unsecured, interest-free
and due for repayment on 22 July 2024.

N
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(b)

R_ZE-_RF~A=1+H "
FE T BAESE A B3k 5,021,000
BTAERRARES « HF
Ji& 1 18 #A 7X 1H 548,000 7% JT
RZZE=_tFtA=+—8H
FIEAEE R ERIPHES
BEMEZEREGR AR
3 |) 7/ 781,184,000/ T
2,193,000 7 7T & 1,096,000
BTN T —tF+ A
mE - —E=+F+A+h
AR -_NFRA=1T—
HEHAEE o

R_ZE-_WFA=1+H
FE{-TBAESE A B15k182,761,000
BTAERRARES « HF
F& 1 18 %0 5% 78 1,605,000 7
ﬁ#:%:ﬁiﬁﬁ*+ﬁ

B S B8 8 DA R FE (-hRRiE R
T8 375,000 7% 7T K& 781,000
BILARIR T =/"FMA
—t+—RAER-ZE=_RELA
N BEIHREE -

RZT=_=F+=A—H

ERERFEACEARE
272500007zz 'JHJ%EEE
EI o b BRI B EIEIE B

NBREBE-_Z_MF X
A=THIEFETEE=R
U %5 1,289,000 7T ° R
—E-_FEXA=1+A8
ENEHRZEZEASE
27,286,000 7T J5 {5 F T 3%
FRERATS%:TE - BER
B GBERR-_T_AF
+—A=1+B3HEE -

34. DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

As at 30 June 2025, the amounts due to related companies
of HK$5,021,000 were unsecured and interest-free, of
which an amount due to /8% of HK$548,000 was due
for repayment on 31 July 2027, and amount due to L9
FERRE AR RAGR A E(EE") of HK$1,184,000,
HK$2,193,000, and HK$1,096,000 were due to repayment
on 4 October 2027, 19 October 2027, and 31 May 2028
respectively.

As at 30 June 2024, the amounts due to related companies
of HK$2,761,000 were unsecured and interest-free, of
which an amount due to {8% of HK$1,605,000 was due
for repayment on 26 May 2026, and amount due to % of
HK$375,000 and HK$781,000 was due to repayment on 21
April 2026 and 9 July 2026 respectively.

On 1 December 2023, the maturity date of the principal
amount of amount due to 8% of RMB27,250,000 was
renewed to 30 November 2025. This constitutes a debt
modification resulting a gain of HK$1,289,000 recognised in
profit or loss during the year ended 30 June 2024. As at 30
June 2024, the carrying amount of amount due to /8% of
HK$27,286,000 was calculated using a market interest rate
of 4.75% per annum was unsecured, interest-free and due
for the repayment on 30 November 2025.
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=1  EBRBRREMHZ 35. LOAN FROM A CONTROLLING

BX SHAREHOLDER
2025 2024
FET FEr
HK$000 HK$'000
REIEE Current liabilities

PERR AR SR bR (2 B X Loan from a controlling shareholder 10,000 =

FRBEE Non-current liabilities
PERRAR R bR 2 B3R Loan from a controlling shareholder 4,385 4,280

RZZBE_RAFAAA=1+H ' &
WA T (ZZZHEF - B/
Z+) B —% AR %4,000,000
JC(#H%724,385,000/878) (= F
Z g4 : AR%4,000,0007T (8
%£7104,280,00078 L) ) 2B
ZERAEER RERNZE
ZARFE+AZt+RBE(ZEZW
F:ZERF+AZ+HA)
FIHAEE o

RZZE_RAFAAA=1+H ' &
INELZE(Z B E) B
—%510,000,0008 7 ( = ZF =
FBIZENR  ZEXRRE
IR - BB BRITREFREM
12%5T B REREREE -

As at 30 June 2025, loan of RMB4,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$4,385,000) (2024: RMB4,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$4,280,000)) is advanced from Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley
(2024: Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley) and is unsecured, interest-
free and due for repayment on 25 October 2026 (2024: 25
October 2026).

As at 30 June 2025, loan of HK$10,000,000 (2024: nil) is
advanced from Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley (2024: nil) and is
unsecured, interest bearing at HIBOR + 1.2% and repayable
on demand.

N
O
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=+ EEHIE 36. DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS)/LIABILITIES

(BE)&af

UATARHERHCHACER
EREBE(EE)BfF  ARR

The following are major deferred tax (assets)/liabilities
recognised at the reporting date and the movements during

REERUAGERE Y EF) the current and prior years:
n% - HE
R 1
EREAR
2 { il el Bt
APERE  HERE  FERE  REKEE )
Fair value
adjustment
on property,
plant and
equipment,
landuse  Accelerated
rights, and tax  Provision for Other timing
mining right ~ depreciation  receivables  difference Total
AT AT AL AT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK8'000
R-B-=FtA-Azén Balance at 1 July 2023 103,854 4434 (770) 390 107,908
B AR Exchange realignment (625) - - - (625)
STAENETIRER Credit to profit or oss for the year 2,285 3,280 106 295 5,966
RZB-MERA=THE Balance at 30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024
“E-MELA-AzEt 105,514 .14 (664) 685 113,249
B AR Exchange realignment 2575 - - - 2,575
(&) /A AERETEE (Charged)Credit to profit or loss for the year (6,719) 1713 5 (404) (5,410)
RZBZRFAASTHZER  Balance at 30 June 2025 101,370 9,427 (664) 281 110414
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=+ EEHE 36. DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS)/LIABILITIES
(BE) AfEw® (continued)
THHE R EREE 22BN The following amounts, determined after appropriate
AR R ¢ offsetting, are shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position:
2025 2024
FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
EEFIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 111,254 114,089
ELEFIBEE Deferred tax assets (840) (840)
110,414 113,249

NEBABEMREBIBIO
401,134,000 T(ZF U4 :
361,585,000/7L) * 2 EHIEE
BRI AREEEEZSEBIEZ
DR ZKRREZRTRF o R
TSR AT B2 B oK 2R B =R B ) Al
HEAEEZERBARIEE
B AR EEEES AR
EFIEEE - RBAKIBEEE
117,456,000/ 7T (= F /U4 :
104,629,000/ L) REE=F
=EF(ZEmNF: ZT=

F)(REZF) 2T B HE
B o E A RB)AHIIEEE A ER

The Group has tax losses of approximately HK$401,134,000
(2024: HK$361,585,000) that are available for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies which
incurred the losses. Deferred tax assets have not been
utilised in respect of these losses as it is not probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which these
unused tax losses can be utilised. Unused tax losses of
HK$117,456,000 (2024: HK$104,629,000) will expire in
various dates up to and including 2030 (2024: 2029). Other
unused tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

N
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=ttt BR 37. SHARE CAPITAL

N
N

BT EERARE N 2 #Ehin
T

The movements in the issued ordinary share capital during
the year are as follows:

EZEREE FET
Number of
ordinary shares HK$°000
BEITRAR : Issued and fully paid:
R-ZE—_=F+H—H8 " At 1 July 2023, 30 June 2024,
—ZEA=+A - 1 July 2024 and 30 June 2025
—ETWFLA-BR
—T_RERA=1H 683,118,258 560,673

=t - AEER

PN
#

EEERNEERNEFE 2 #EE
TRNREEPNEARaE IR

E2 K

HAbREEE RN M B A B 2 BIh
a2 (B R IR
mE BRA MR TR R
FIEHIREmRIECEENRAEM
HLER-

il ekt P ok b S AN R T — [T Y
BARETHEWRZRERLY
SRR E B IR mE
HEERRBEMEZER

38.

RESERVES — GROUP AND COMPANY

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Other reserve represents the difference between the
consideration paid for the additional interest in the
subsidiaries and the non-controlling interest’s share of the
assets and liabilities reflected in the consolidated statement of
financial position at the dates of the acquisitions of the non-
controlling interests.

Special reserve represents the difference between the
consideration received for the disposal of certain Group’s
interest in a subsidiary and the non-controlling interest’s
share of assets and liabilities at the date of the disposal of the
non-controlling interest.



Annual Report 2025 F%f;
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %5 B #S3R TR M 5T

For the year ended 30 June 2025
HEZZT-_RAF A A=TRHLFE

=N FE-XEER 38. RESERVES - GROUP AND COMPANY
7 /N Bl®) (continued)
AT Company

FRERE TUokER  LEGE  REE &3t

Share Non- Capital
option distributable  contribution Retained
reserve reserve reserve profits Total

TET TET TET TET TET
HK8'000 HK$ 000 HK8'000 HKS'000 HK$ 000

RZZ-ZELA-Az&H Balance at 1 July 2023 6,609 273,606 0236 1182197 1484648
ERE SRR (TE=1N) Lapsed of share option upon expiry (note 39) (1,409) - - 1,409 -
HEEAZRS Transactions with owners (1,409) = = 1,409 =
FRER Loss for the year - - - 0704 (250,704)
ERzEkRAE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - (250,704 (250,704)
RZBZMERA=TRR Balance at 30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024

ZECMELA-AER 5200 213,606 22,236 932,902 1,233,944
ERE s (E=10) Lapsed of share option upon expiry (note 39) (470) = - 470 -
HEEAIRS Transactions with owners (470) - - 470 -
FRER Loss for the year - - - (322 (33722)
ER2ANGAE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - (3237220  (323,722)
REEZREAB= TR LR Balance at 30 June 2025 4730 213,606 22,236 609,650 910,222
AR DR FEERER — AN Non-distributable reserve represents the premium arising
RNARE R 2 E{EH&R2.50 on the reduction of the par value of ordinary shares of the
BITHIREC 0B TR EE 2 ik Company from HK$2.50 to HK$0.10 per share in 1994.
HE FEIEAEFESEEZER The capital contribution reserve represented deemed capital
% 5RO BT A W a B AR AR fE contribution arising from the gain on debt extinguishment
& o with controlling shareholders in prior years.

N
N
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=th - BRESTE 39. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

RARZBRETE( ZE—F The share option scheme of the Company (the “2010

FEDR=_ZE—ZF+A+=
REARBRERLE —T—F
FErlcBRHATE - XER
—ECTFELAT BRI
- ARRER=F_BF+=
A *+* EI%T&ZW*IE%EE%HQ%H
([ =ZF=_FF5E)) -

—B-PEHY

Exe((EFg )AEZESA
TZERE R ER &R
RIS #eEr &Sk AN S B AR A K
BRRZEBSEREEER B
BRFBEA TIIEERAL(Z
E_EEREBALTNEZER
REARB AR B

() AAR] - EERHBAF
AR E 5 2 (e
B (&R 2Bk
RBRITHRABSEE
e EF(BENT
FERITRELIEHITE
) MEF(KE=SHE
E) B g HAEE
ZERRIEFRIELER °

RBEZVEAUTZESSE
(VAR FRMDAREIREZ L B E
(NBEREEB)EBXFE R
BRAIMUTE  Ri)AAF]
BN EEEREZL B BATR
BE XA EHREERERAN
e FHYTHE o

Scheme") was approved by the shareholders of the Company
on 13 July 2010. The 2010 Scheme would be valid for a
period of ten years and expired on 12 July 2020. Therefore,
the Company adopted a new share option scheme on 22
December 2020 (the “2020 Scheme”).

2020 Scheme

The principal terms of the 2020 Scheme are as follows:

The board of directors (“Board”) may in its discretion, invite
any following eligible person (“2020 Eligible Persons”),
having regard to each person’s qualifications, skills,
background, experience, service records and/or contribution
or potential value to the relevant members of the Group, to
take up options to subscribe for shares of the Company:

(i) any employee (whether full time or part time), senior
executive or officer, manager, director (including
executive, non-executive and independent non-
executive director) of the Company; any of its
subsidiaries or any investee who, as determined by
the Board, have contributed or will contribute to the
growth and development of the Group.

The subscription price must be at least the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of offer
of the option, which must be a business day; and (i) the
average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of offer of the
option.
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E‘f‘j’L < Eﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂ(%} 39. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

—ECEEE(E)

TECEFEERATHNERE
49 A BB ET {2 2 A B4
BN EMNEEEL - TR
WAR BEIER - RENELHE
AR AERARR 1B TTE
REERE RREBE-_Z T4
FT &8I R AR R H B AR A R T
EEeRE M ARITECFIBET
FEINB IR TR I AE 3 T2
BHEEHE - &@HTEBAET
B B 31 TA D HI30% © fiWiBid
AMREE - A RAIRBE-S T4
FT 8I RASN A RE{] H B AR A R T
B BB AR RE o WA A AR AR ER
FERBEAE FHEE10%MREER E
TR & H T - BIERER M
B IETEN0%IRET
HRIE - E T F5 8RR A
R EMmEBRET SR A
IR BT TR AT RE B 1T 2 iR I
B EEEBETROHEE 2B
DLt - EREREEREE M
DIFHEITRIZ B AL °

BRERRERESSNELS
R ER e S AR A - MR
RS ERZELN B EFLE - 75
TMEEBBE ZX) A HET+4F -

REE T _RFR_FT_IF
NA=ZTHIEFE $EREC
T FFT B LA o

2020 Scheme (continued)

The 2020 Eligible Persons must accept any such offer notified
to him or her within ten business days from the offer date,
failing which it shall be deemed to have been declined. Upon
acceptance of the offer, the grantee shall pay HK$1 to the
Company as consideration for the grant. The maximum
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the 2020 Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company shall not, in aggregate exceed 30% of the
shares in issue from time to time. No option may be granted
under the 2020 Scheme and any other option schemes of the
Company if such limit is exceeded. If the Company conducts
a share consolidation or subdivision after the 10% limit has
been approved by the shareholders in general meeting, the
maximum number of shares that may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the 2020 Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company under the 10%
limit as a percentage of the total number of issued shares at
the date immediately before and after such consolidation or
subdivision shall be the same.

The option period shall be notified by the Board to each
grantee upon grant of each option, provided that it shall
commence on a date not earlier than the offer date and not
be more than ten years from the offer date.

During the years ended 30 June 2025 and 2024, there is no
option granted under 2020 Scheme.
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E"‘j'[, > ﬁﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂ(fg) 39. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

—E-ZF58 2010 Scheme

—E-FFFEZETEERMN The principal terms of the 2010 Scheme are as follows:

EE2RHNBRBEM NAE The Board may in its discretion, invite any following eligible

BERALT(ZZE—ZFEEERA persons (“2010 Eligible Persons”) to take up the options to

T DEXERENREAQFR subscribe for shares of the Company:

7 :

(i) A7) EEAER A (i) any employee (whether full time or part time), senior
ST IR E 2 TR executive or officer, manager, director (including
B (&R 2w executive, non-executive and independent non-
SHETBRAEREE - & executive director) or consultant of the Company; any
2 . EXH(BERT - IE of its subsidiaries or any investee who, as determined
HITRBI NI TES) by the Board, have contributed or will contribute to
SEERE  MEE(KES the growth and development of the Group; or

BT RRRHEEA
EEYHERBRIELE

BR 3k

(ii) FRIHIRET ° (ii) any investee.

REEZEVERBUTZESE ¢ The subscription price must be at least the highest of (i) the
(AR FIRDAREREZ L B H closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
(NBAESER)EHZTE AR Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of offer
BRAMZWTE : M)A 7] of the option, which must be a business day; and (i) the
BhREZBREZLN R BHETR average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
AEER RS ERERR in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
2 Y TE o business days immediately preceding the date of offer of the

option.
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E‘f‘j’[, < Eﬁﬂﬁ%;‘f%ﬂ(%} 39. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

—2-TEHEE)

TETFEERATHERE
ZH) B EABET & 5 B B4
ERAZTNEEELN - ZRE
e ARAERAATEZA
BITIEARERE - ARE-Z
—TFHEBTREZ2HER
ETEME FETZRG L
- AETNEBBAGNNEN B
RABIE TGN 2 10% k(i)
RNRBTREBITIRAZ30% °
GER ZNNEILE VN & i
#g - & BIRME 1218 B HIRS
ERTEE20EE 2 ERER
FBEATERERITEZBRE)
BITEMEERE FEITZAR
AR B ETSBIB AR R E
BEITRAZ1% °

WA EE R ELE
SRR B S AN -
HIR TG A B0 B HIRH -+ 77
TOAA L B R 14 -

E-Z_ZTFA-_F+_HiE -
BERE - T T FEAEREE
fi&#E -

2010 Scheme (continued)

The 2010 Eligible Persons must accept any such offer notified
to him or her within ten business days from the offer date.
Upon acceptance of the offer, the grantee shall pay HK$1
to the Company as consideration for the grant. The total
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the 2010 Scheme must not in
aggregate exceed (i) 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue at the adoption date; or (i) 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time. The total number
of shares of the Company issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted (including both exercised and
outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month
period must not exceed 1% of the share capital of the
Company then in issue unless approved by the shareholders
of the Company in general meetings.

The option period shall be notified by the Board to each
grantee upon grant of each option, provided that it shall
commence on a date not earlier than the offer date and not
be more than ten years from the offer date.

Since 22 June 2020, there was no options granted under
2010 Scheme.

N
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39. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Details of the outstanding share options under the 2010
Scheme held by the directors of the Company during the
years ended 30 June 2025 and 2024 are as follows:

BREHE
Number of share options
ARALS RiAH i) SRIEE RE ERBRE  EARK RER
Exercise Atthe  Granted  Forfeited At the
priceper  beginning during during end of
Name of grantee Date of grant Exercisable period share oftheyear  theyear  theyear  theyear
AT
HKS
2025
RAMR Z5-PNEtAZtRR ZE3-MELAZtRAZ 121 1,000,000 - (1,000,000} -
Z2-MELA=TIA
Wong Edward Gwon-hing 25 July 2014 25 July 2014 to 24 July 2024
REH “3-RFtAtA —ﬁ—ﬁtﬁtai L2 din: 245 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Chan Wai Kei, Vicki 7 July 2015 7 July 2015 to 6 July 2025
RiEv “Z-hEtAtH :;fﬁtﬂfai_ ZRELARA 245 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Chan Wai Lap, Victor 7 uly 2015 7 uly 2015 0 6 July 2025
fEER “2-nEtAtH I-RELAtAZCTCRELARA 245 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Yam Tat Wing 7 uly 2015 uly 20150 6 July 2025
B “I-RFtAtR ZE-RFtAtRECToRELAAR 245 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Wong Edward Gwon-hing 7 July 2015 7July 2015 to 6 July 2025
REH Z5-7Ft-A=R ZE-7F1-R=RZ 149 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
“F-F+-A-H
Chan Wai Kei, Vicki 3 November 2016 3 November 2016 to 2 November 2026
Rfg ZE5Et-AZR ZF-E-RAZRE 149 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
2255 1-R=H
Chan WaiLap, Victor 3 November 2016 3 November 2016 to 2 November 2026
g% “3-~"Et-A=R —F-~Et-A=RZ 149 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
22255 +-R=H
Yam Tat Wing 3 November 2016 3 November 2016 to 2 November 2026
RAMR 225§ 1-RZR ZT-ET-RZHE 149 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
“F-F+-A-H
Wong Edward Gwon-hing 3 November 2016 3 November 2016 to 2 November 2026
A < E:T"ﬁ/\ﬂ t2RE 052 1,200,000 = - 1,200,000
— _Agﬂﬂ—$ A
Other employees 22 June 2020 22 June 202010 21 June 2030
10,200,000 - (1,000,000) 9,200,000
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E‘f‘j’[, > Eﬁﬂﬁ%%ﬂ'%ﬂ(%} 39. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
EhEgA
Number of share options
: ) 5 ]

REARS RAH e e REA EREE ERRNR RER
Exercise At the Granted Forfeited At the
priceper  beginning during during end of

Name of grantee Date of grant Exercisable period share  of the year the year the year the year

&
HK$
2024
b SEREATAE CEREAATARECECREAATAR 138 1,000,000 - (1,000,000 -

Chan Wai Kei, Vicki 19 June 2014 19 June 2014 to 18 June 2024

Riy E-MERATAR CE-MERATARECECREATIR 138 1,000,000 - (1,000,000 -

Chan Wai Lap, Victor 19 June 2014 19 June 2014 to 18 June 2024

AR EMEACTER CE-MECACTERECECMECACTRA 121 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000

Wong Edward Gwon-hing 25 July 2014 25 July 2014 to 24 July 2024

=i F-RELALH TE-RECACRECECRECAA 245 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000

Chan Wai Kei, Vicki 7 July 2015 7July 2015 10 6 July 2025

Riy E-RECALE E-RELATAECECRECANA 245 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000

Chan Wai Lap, Victor 7July 2015 7July 2015 10 6 July 2025

&R “E-15tAtA “E-RECAtAR-ECRELANA 245 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000

Yam Tat Wing 7 July 2015 7July 2015 to 6 July 2025

RER ik adind: I e 245 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000

Wong Edward Gwon-hing 7 July 2015 7July 2015 to 6 July 2025

e BAET-RZR CEEr-RSRECECNET-ACA 149 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000

Chan Wai Kei, Vicki 3 November 2016 3 November 2016 to 2 November 2026

REL EE-AZE B NEr-RSBECECAET-ACE 149 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000

Chan Wai Lap, Victor 3 November 2016 3 November 2016 to 2 November 2026

friek E-Et-A=R 5 nEt-AzAECEE-AR 149 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000

Yam Tat Wing 3 November 2016 3 November 2016 to 2 November 2026

RER EAET-RSR CEEr-RSRECRCNET-ACA 149 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000

Wong Edward Gwon-hing 3 November 2016 3 November 2016 to 2 November 2026

Hitks ZEIEERACTCE CEIEEAACTIAEIEEENACTA 05 1,200,000 - - 1,200,000

Other employees 22 June 2020 22 June 2020 to 21 June 2030

12,200,000 - (2,000,000) 10,200,000

W ARITEBIRE 2 R FH171E Weighted average exercise price of outstanding share options

BA1.788 T (ZE=mF : 1.72 is HK$1.78 (2024: HK$1.72) and the weighted average

BIT) o MmEARTTEBRAYRE 2 0 remaining contractual life of outstanding share options is

EEAFISENERNAEIE(Z approximately 1 years (2024: 2 years).

TPE : 29F) o

N
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AR TR OF THE COMPANY
2025 2024
HiaE FET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
EREBEE Non-current assets
RHTB A R 2 Interests in subsidiaries 799,546 1,008,562
FEUR BT B A Rl ZkIE Due from subsidiaries 914,315 777,565
1,713,861 1,786,127
REEE Current assets
TR FRIE ~ 124 REMBE Prepayments, deposits and other
Wezkaa receivables 575 585
R NI/ E] Due from subsidiaries 197,119 405,900
ReRReERE Cash and cash equivalents 3,367 1,561
201,061 408,046
REEE Current liabilities
HbfENFIE R EETE A Other payables and accruals (985) (884)
TARAR R 2 B Loan from a controlling shareholder (10,000) -
FEH B A R FUA Due to subsidiaries (433,042) (398,672)
(444,027) (399,556)
REN(EME) BEZEE Net current (liabilities)/assets (242,966) 8,490
EEFRE Net assets 1,470,895 1,794,617
R EQUITY
R& 7N Share capital 37 560,673 560,673
H Reserves 38 910,222 1,233,944
FESAAEE Total equity 1,470,895 1,794,617
REREEE On behalf of the Board
FRIZSL Chan Wai Lap, Victor
EFE Director
R/ Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley
3 Director
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m+— - KEAFE 41. SUBSIDIARIES
R-_EBE-—FEA=+H  T=E Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 30 June 2025 are
HBARZSEMT as follows:
GLIA BHRER/
£ ARREES BRIRAGHTE ARFRERER A IR
Place of incorporation/
registration and Particulars of paid-up registered/ Percentage of equity
Name operations issued share capital attributable to the Company  Principal activities
B# B
Direct Indirect
Brangredi Limited &5 LEkEL - 00 HEEHES
Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$ 1 Jewelery trading
RERRAT i EEpEn - 0 fERE
Capital Luck Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$ 1 Property investment
THEARA e EabEn - 0 fERE
Charm Harvest Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$ 1 Property investment
ERARAT B LERET - 100 #ERE
Cheermax Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share of HK$1 Property investment
C.J (UK) Limitec* & 1,330REREEHE ERR - 100 HEEHHE
United Kingdom 1,330 ordinary shares of GBP1 each (ZZ2mE:  Jewellery wholesaling
75.19)
(2024:75.19)
(Mm+)
(Note 47)
BERERAR B ERR00%T - 100 #rE%
Conti Diamond Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$100 Diamond trading
Continental Investment Company Limited &7 LE100,000E7T 100 - REMR
Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$100,000 Investment holding

N
=
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WE’AE({E} 41. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

L/ B#RER/
1 HMREEHE BRTRAHE KATAEERREAML ITER

Place of incorporation/

registration and Particulars of paid-up registered/ Percentage of equity
Name operations issued share capital attributable to the Company  Principal activities

Ef 3
Direct Indirect
BB HAARAA G H3215t10,000 0007 100 - KEEHEERNE
Continental Jewellery (Mfg) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$10,000,000 Jewellery manufacturing and
wholesaling

[BAEERAT & LRRET - 100 WERE
Continental Property Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$2 Property investment
Continental Universe Limited RERAEE WERAEIZT LBk 100 - REmR

British Virgin lslands 2 ordinary shares of US$ 1 each Investment holding
DCGS Management Service Limited & E#7%10,000,000%7C - 100 REIER/ BHEEBRE

Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$ 10,000,000 Investrment holding/ providing

management services

RAZRARAT B LRERET - 100 WERE
Daily Famous Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
ERHRARAR & HRB500000%7 100 - RERR
Diamond Creation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$500,000 Investment holding
LN & LRRIAT - 00 MERE
Diamond Bright Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$ 1 Property investment
Equal Glory Limited REBRLHE/AE  ORSREEIFTIEER - 0 RERR/ MELR

British Virgin Islands/ 10 ordinary shares of US$1 each Investment holding/ Property

Hong Kong development
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+— o Bﬁ%’/}ﬁ(ﬁ%) 41. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
GLI A B4R/
£ ARREE S BRARAGHE NG T S ITEE

Place of incorporation/
registration and Particulars of paid-up registered/ Percentage of equity

Name operations issued share capital atributable to the Company  Principal activities
BE B
Direct Indirect

ARERARAR Bk ERRET - 100 MERE
Fortune Success International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$ 1 Property investment
Golden Creation Jewellery Limited & L3&11,000,005%7 - 100 HEEHES

Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1,000,005 Jewelery trading
BR(PE)ERAT Bt ERRET - 100 MERE
Huge Sky (China) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$ 1 Property investment
HERRAR Bt EaRET - 100 MERE
Keen Mind Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
BRERARAT Bt ERRET - 00 MERE
Lucky Key International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
Master Gold Development Ltd. ABRAHS \RERARE T ERR = 100 RARR

British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 each Investment holding
BE (B%) ARAT B LalkEr - 100 MERE
Max Creation (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
Novel Enterprises Inc SRS 1,000k ERAE0ET 2 RS - 100 HEEHEEREE

United States of 1,000 shares of US$0.01 each Jewellery manufacturing and

America selling of jewelry

Ontrack Ventures Limited ABRLHE 100REHEEIET, AR - 5 RERR

British Virgin Islands 100 ordinary share of US$1 each Investment holding

N
w
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WE’AE({E} 41. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

it/ BHRR/
£ A REE S BRARAE FRARERER AL TEEK

Place of incorporation/

registration and Particulars of paid-up registered/ Percentage of equity
Name operations issued share capital attributable to the Company  Principal activities

B# B
Direct Indirect

RERERRAA (o LERET - 5 ERE
Pacific Gate Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$ 1 Property investment
Patford Company Limited B LiER10,000ETT = 100 WERE

Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$10,000 Property investment
Realford Company Limited B LiR10,000ETT = 100 WERE

Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$10,000 Property investment
ERLRERAT B ERR100007 - 0 NEER
Rich Dragon Enterprise Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share of HK$10,000 Property development
BRERERAR Bk ERRET - 100 RERR
Top Grace Intemational Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK§ 1 Investment holding
ERERERAT B LERIET - 00 Rpfags
Top Label International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$ 1 Trading of food and beverages
ABRAA & TERIET = 100 9xRE
Wealthy Joy Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$ 1 Property investment
5 (&%) ARAR B LERET - 100 MERE
Well Power (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
RERERRAA & LERET - 0 IEEE
Well Century Investments Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$ 1 Property development
EHSEARAA (o LEkET - 00 MEER
Wise Capital Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property development
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+— o Bﬁ%’/}ﬁ(ﬁ%) 41. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
GLI A BHRER/
£ RS BRARAS ARARERER A IR
Place of incorporation/
registration and Particulars of paid-up registered/ Percentage of equity
Name operations issued share capital atributable to the Company  Principal activities
E& B
Direct Indirect
WE HREERAR hEAR BEHA21,000 00057 - 100 FRESREERE
Mainland China Paid up capital of US$21,000,000 Mining and exploration of
mineral reserves
IRAmEARARAR hEAR BRI BRAAR%18,605,0407 - 100 HEEHZE
Mainland China Paid up capital of RMB18,605,040 Jewellery retailing
BT (IF) ARAR hEAR B2 735,000, 000737 - 100 HEEHRE
Mainland China Paid up capital of HK$35,000,000 Jewellery manufacturing
g RAPBEREZRZ NGB E 8 Wholly foreign-owned enterprise registered in the Mainland

China.

Limited liability company - joint venture between domestic
investors and Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macau investors.

* Not audited by BDO Limited or other BDO member firms.
The aggregate net assets of these subsidiaries not audited by
BDO amounted to approximately 2% of the Group's total
net assets.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

As at 30 June 2025 and 2024, none of the subsidiaries had
issued any debt securities.

N
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NARHEET5% (T — 4 :
75% ) 1 25 2 MY B ‘A 7] Ontrack
Ventures Limited B 25% <2 & X
IR - HEAEBMS B
EEX - FTEHMASEEWIEHS

41. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Non-controlling interests

100% 125 2 M B A 7] 2 FE4E 5

REERRSTERK o

5 B Ontrack Ventures Limited &
E2ENBRARSREREERA
RIS B A ERE AT 2 B IS B

Ontrack Ventures Limited, a 75% (2024: 75%) owned
subsidiary of the Company, has material non-controlling
interests of 25% which is material to the Group. The non-
controlling interests of all other subsidiaries that are not
100% owned by the Group are considered to be immaterial.

Summarised financial information in relation to Ontrack
Ventures limited and its wholly- owned subsidiary, Pacific
Gate Investment Limited, before intra-group elimination, is

BME270T presented below:
2025 2024
FET FET
HK$000 HK$'000
HEANA=ZTHLFE For the year ended 30 June
Wz Revenue 15,753 13,914
FNEE Loss for the year (281,400) (109,232)
FREEM LA Total comprehensive income for the year (281,400) (109,232)
ST IEIE SR 2~ B E Loss allocated to non-controlling interests (70,350) (27,308)
HEANA=ZTHLFE For the year ended 30 June
ESEFFTA IR 4RE  Cash flows used in operating activities (19,740) (51,842)
BEEESTACIESAE  Cash flows used in investing activities (58) (275)
MEEFEL2IHERE  Cash flow generated from financing
activities 20,008 53,322
REMAIFEE Net cash inflows 210 1,205
RNA=+8 At 30 June
EMBEE Non-current assets 1,470,141 1,730,422
MENEE Current assets 8,086 8,645
mEBE Current liabilities (920,797) (901,268)
ERHEE Non-current liabilities (79,638) (78,607)
BEFE Net assets 477,792 759,192
RETIEE I iEE Accumulated non-controlling interests 119,448 189,798
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42,

LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

As lessor

As at 30 June 2025, the Group leases certain properties
(note 16) under lease arrangements, with lease negotiated
for a term of three years. None of the leases include
contingent rentals. The Group had total future minimum
lease receivables under non-cancellable leases with its tenants
falling due as follows:

2025 2024

FET FET

HK$000 HK$'000

—FER Within one year 15,836 25,922
—FREMENRN After one year but within two years 6,473 15,596
RERE=FNA After two years but within three years 816 4,427
23,125 45,945

mt= . BEERS

B AR & A 75 R EL M BB 0 P IR
BEI AEBRFERABAZLT
5IREE TR 5

(a REE-_ZT -_HRFA
=tHLFEE  A5H
YEN—MHE/ N LT
2ERBEZAB AR Z
REELAEEFNEAL
1,350,000/ /(= ZF =4
F 1 1,289,000/ 7T ) o

43,

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, during the year, the Group entered into the
following related party transactions.

(@) During the year ended 30 June 2025, imputed
interest expenses of HK$1,350,000 (2024:
HK$1,289,000) were incurred from amount due
to a related company of which is wholly-owned by
Ms.Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley.

No
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43,

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
(b) Compensation of key management personnel

Included in employee benefit expenses are key
management personnel compensation and comprise

B : the following:
2025 2024
FHETT FET
HK’000 HK'000
RHIE S A Short term employee benefits 9,584 8,994
BERR1E 2 A Post-employment benefits 306 295
9,890 9,289

RZZE_RENA=+
B+ FE 3R ol 4 2 5K
HABE—SEN—M
B/ ER 2+ R RIE S
EEHEZBAH AR Z
FXIE62,719,0005% 7T ( =
Z — PU4F : 50,439,0005
L) °

BRAME =)&)z
BB T R B IMEAK LR
A T MAZ PR E 2 B8

EERRS &

BFRENTZE
A

BRESE=1MH - =+H - m@+=

(@) ()T EH N

AN B R

FE - ARARERARBZE
BRI ARREFTERIEER
ERREEEAEE ZEMNEAR
5 BRHHEK - TEEAIERE
X5 RHRAKTE -

44,

(@} As at 30 June 2025, included in due to non-
controlling interests, an amount of HK$62,719,000
(2024: HK$50,439,000), was due to a related
company which is owned by Ms. Cheng Siu Yin,
Shirley and Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor.

The related party transaction in respect of notes 43
(a) and (c) also constitute connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

MATERIAL INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS

Except as disclosed in notes 34, 35, 43(a) and (c), no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, were entered
into or subsisted during the financial year.
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N+f - @EITEBELEZ 45. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES

BEHER ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
TRAFUAEERMEEHEEZ The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
BEEE - BIERS NIEHELSE from financing activities, including both cash and non-
o pEEHEL BB HER cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
ARAKRREREANER 247 liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
AHERERPEAREEHE be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash
EzBREREZAE - flows from financing activities.

Ff e BRRR  EfFES
BRATRE BER AELERE  RfvER B&5E HEEE

Dueto Dueto  Loanfrom  Duetonon-
related joint acontroling controlling Lease
companies  Bank loans ventures  shareholder interests liabilities

i1 T AT T AT T

HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
(WaF=tm)  (=t-) (Mot (estR) OBEt2) (Besto)
(note 34) (note 31) (note 22) (note 35) (note 33) (note 32)

RZEZ=ELA-A At1July 2023 36,346 1,058,377 1,036 4,306 63,529 16,290
RERERy: Changes from cash flows:
SHASIERDH Advance from non-controlling interests - - - - 17,141 -
BffE: Interest paic - (63373) - - . ;
TERER New bank loans - 7513 - - i, ;
BERET Advance from a elated party 781 - = . . _
[BEHTER Repayment of bark loans - (69579 = . - _
[EEREREAERAIE Repayment of principal and interest amount of
Iease liabities - - - - - (5,286)

HERSHESELE Total changes from financing cash flows 781 (85439) - - 17,141 (5.280)
EiAE Bxchange realignment (201) (75) - 26 - (34)
SER—RERATEEY (i on debt modification on amounts

BB ba due to arelted company (1,289) - - - . i}
HfpaE: Other changes:
ik Addition of new lease - - - - . 819
flsRx Interest expenses 1,289 83373 = . - 811
HEEY Lease modification = - - - . 157
SRE4E Total other changes 1,289 63373 - - - 1,787

N
w
O
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45,

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES

BEEYHER®) ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
(continued)
Eff Bt BRER  EAFEES
BRATE  BOEX GELRNE  RUZER B HE8E
Dueto Dueto  Loanfrom  Duetonon-
related joint acontroling  controlling Lease
companies  Bank loans ventures  shareholder interests liabilities
T TAT T TAT AT TAT
HK$'000 HK8'000 HK$000 HK8'000 HK$000 HK8'000
(=1m) (=) Osisto)  Osts) (Ests) (fEEto)
(note 34) (note 31) (note 22) (note 35) (note 33) (note 32)
RZE-REAA=TER At 30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024
ZECMELA-A 37426 1,036,236 1,036 4280 80,670 12,751
Renegy: Changes from cash flows;
SFETIERDH Advance from non-controlling inerests = = - - 13,005 -
BfffE Interest paic* - (45,837) ; ; ; )
e New bank loans - 62235 ; ; ; )
BE5aa Advance from a related party 3837 - - - o =
ERRRRE 2R Advance from a contraling shareholder S - - 10,000 - -
BERTER Repayment of bank loans - (302,390) = = = -
ERHEAF AERAS Repayment of principal and interest amount of
lease labltes - - - - = (6,03)
HERLTERTEE Total changes from financing cash flows 3837 (285,992) - 10,000 13,005 (6,043)
A% Exchange realignment 804 - - 105 - 114
g8 Other changes:
MEHE Addiion of new lease - - - - - 156
HERx Ifeest expenses 1350 15837 - - - 665
) Lease modfcaton - - - - - 185
-tu b Total other changes 1,350 45,831 - - - 2,395
RZE-RERA=TH At 30 June 2025 43417 796,081 1,036 14,385 93,675 9223
* ERIEEER T AGERE 3 Included as operating activities in the consolidated

MER °

statement of cash flows.
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46.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity
investments, derivatives financial instruments, trade
receivables, deposits, other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents, trade payables, other payables and accruals,
bank loans, amounts due to joint ventures, amounts
due to non-controlling interests, amounts due to related
companies, loan from a controlling shareholder and lease
liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. Management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

46.1 Categories of financial assets and financial

liabilities

The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated

statement of financial position relate to the following

categories of financial assets and financial liabilities.

See note 3.14 for explanations about how the

category of financial instruments affects their

subsequent measurement.

2025 2024
FHETT FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
EREE Financial assets
FERBEE Non-current assets
LAAFEEET AL Financial assets at fair value through
2EWEZEREE other comprehensive income 13,868 22,003
AT ERF AR Z Financial assets at fair value through
SRVEE profit or loss - 10,067
RENEE Current assets
UAFEEFAE R Financial assets at fair value through
SREE profit or loss - 2,521
BB EZ Financial assets at amortised costs:
BHREE :
— B HRIWFIA — Trade receivables 84,251 61,399
— H b el zaE — Other receivables 19,868 11,641
- Re KBRS ER — Cash and cash equivalents 36,358 49,156
140,477 122,196
154,345 156,787
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M+ - BEEEEEB 46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
EBRBEKz) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
46.1 SREERESREEER 46.1 Categories of financial assets and financial
(%) liabilities (continued)
2025 2024
FET FET
HK$000 HK$'000
TRAE Financial liabilities
REEE Current liabilities
ARATERF AR Financial liabilities at fair value
SEAE through profit or loss (211) =
RHEESH AT E 2 Financial liabilities measured at
BEIALE amortised cost:
—E S RERFOE — Trade payables (66,633) (59,770)
— H A e FIE R — Other payables and accruals
fEFtE (30,251) (31,969)
—IRITER — Bank loans (796,081) (882,506)
— FET A A BI5IE — Due to related companies (38,396) (7,379)
— R 2 B — Loan from a controlling
shareholder (10,000) -
—EAENETIE — Due to joint ventures (1,036) (1,036)
(942,608) (982,660)
FREBES Non-current liabilities
RSN AT E 2 Financial liabilities measured at
eHBE: amortised cost:
—RITER - Bank loans = (153,730)
— FESTRARE A Rl Z0E — Due to related companies (5,021) (30,047)
—ERARRIR 2 B — Loan from a controlling
shareholder (4,385) (4,280)
— FET SRR R 2 SR IR — Due to non-controlling interests (93,675) (80,670)
(103,081) (268,727)
(1,045,689)  (1,251,387)

No



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %= 5 BI #S3R =Mz

For the year ended 30 June 2025
HEZZ-_RAF A A=TAHLFE

H

=

B EMSEE R
BERBE )

™5 E R

()

SNE R

AN EE & B +5 A S
e 3R 42 ) iy 2B
HEF T AERK
BEREZAF
EHERS 2R
o AEBER
EED - EZEH
B KA B oK B
MEZFE G
RKEBD R 5 B
T~ EJr 0 E
B Ntk AR
BMAEREHE -
AR R ZETT
EzemEE
Feaa & E
EIEINEE R B
mARE R ZETT
REZER 5 HE
B 2 B K B K
EEHEBARZ
WREEHE o ANE
Bz o R B ==
ZREAETE2E
TE  8FEUAA
FEFAEME
Mk ZE@mE
E - B 5ERR
H - LA FEE
AEZZzE&mE
E BHekRe
EHEESEN
ME - ZETH
INZETT > BT
& K 0T
B - RZEFE
A ANEEWE
AN EE S5 B SR
MEE IR B S A B
RONEER ©

46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

46.2 Market risk

0]

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that
the fair value of future cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, UK,
US and the Mainland China with most of
the transactions denominated and settled in
HK$, United States dollars (“US$"), British
Pounds (“GBP"), Canadian Dollars (“CAD")
and RMB. No foreign currency risk has
been identified for the financial assets and
financial liabilities denominated in RMB and
US$, which is the functional currencies of
the subsidiaries in the Mainland China and
US respectively to which these transactions
relate. The Group’s exposure to foreign
currency risk primarily arises from certain
financial instruments including financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive
income, trade receivables, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, cash and
cash equivalents and trade payables which
are denominated in US$, Euro, British Pounds
and CAD. During the years, the Group did
not have foreign currency hedging policy
but management continuously monitors the
foreign exchange exposure.
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

46.2 Market risk (continued)

(i) Foreign currency risk (continued)

TERBRN ZF The following table summarises the
B )SZ — = Group's major financial assets and liabilities
“WmEANA=T denominated in currencies other than the
AUNESERQF functional currency of the respective group
Mee EE AN Z companies as at 30 June 2025 and 2024.
BEFEZARE
FTESHEE
REfE-
RNFERIR
Expressed in HK$'000
£n BT REE i
USs$ Euro GBP CAD
RZBZHEFEXA=+H  At30June 2025
AAEE AR Financial assets at fair value
PENGEZEREE through other comprehensive
income - - - 77
B SREEIE Trade receivables 40,500 36,723 - 131
BeMReEH Cash and cash equivalents 18,447 95 75 709
B SR TE Trade payables (47,643) - - -
SOl Overall net exposure 11,304 36,818 75 917
RZZZMEA=THE  At30June 2024
PARFERT ARA Financial assets at fair value
2ENGE s PRBE through other comprehensive
income 4,548 - - 499
B S REMGIA Trade receivables 22,525 76 131
NATER A Bz Financial asset at fair value through
SREE profit or loss 10,067 - - =
BelReEH Cash and cash equivalents 18,092 8 75 709
B SN F0E Trade payables (47,693) = - -
R R R Overall net exposure 7,539 84 75 1,339

No
ul
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

THiEEE(Z) 46.2 Market risk (continued)
() SIME R () (i) Foreign currency risk (continued)
BRI AT As US$ is pegged to HK$, the Group does not
B f@ ' ﬁ} 1‘ % expect any significant movements in the US$/
BETXTLE BT HK$ exchange rates. No sensitivity analysis
2 R 4—?5 . ged in respect of the Group’s financial assets and
£ ﬁjéj{; @J ° liabilities denominated in US$ is disclosed as
AREFERBA o in the opinion of directors, such sensitivity
EREBHET analysis does not give additional value in
AABETZERE view of insignificant movement in the US$/
BIK Ef fﬁi A HK$ exchange rates as at reporting date. The
LS E/( XILE B following table indicates the approximate
ZEBMEERE change in the Group's loss for the year and
ﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁiiﬁ&ﬁ&ﬁ% equity in response to reasonably possible
7 17 W % 12 L8R changes in the foreign exchange rates to
SMEME - IR which the Group has significant exposure at
BRZXEHAE the reporting date.
DT o TRER
AEBAERTSE
K& b 2 1 B
B2 5B A e
B AEEZF
NEBERERA
REHLBEZ BN
& o
2025 2024
HMEEZ  ERER NEEE  FREE
74 By, EREm/ H/ Y/ EsEN/
(F¥) (38m) (H2) (Fk%) () (A)
Increase/ Increase/
(Decrease)  Decrease/ (Decrease) Decrease/
inforeign  (Increase) Increase/ in foreign (Increase) Increase/
exchange  inlossfor  (Decrease) exchange inlossfor ~ (Decrease)
rates the year in equity rates the year in equity
TEx FAr FET AT
HK'000 HK$'000 HK'000 HK$°000
B Euro +5% 1,841 1,841 +5% 4 4
5% (1,841) (1,841) 5% (@) @)
- GBP +5% 4 4 +5% 4 4
5% (4 (4) 5% () @
mi CAD +5% 4 (48) +5% 42 67
-5% (44) (48) -5% (42) (67)
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

46.2 Market risk (continued)

0]

Foreign currency risk (continued)

Other than the above, the Group held
several foreign currency forward contracts
denominated in USD which were recognised
as derivative financial instruments (note
27(c)) as at 30 June 2025. Upon the maturity
dates, these contracts will be settled in GBP.
Accordingly, the fair value and the future cash
flow will fluctuate because of the change in
the foreign currencies of USD and GBP.

The following table indicates the approximate
effect on the profit for the year in response
to reasonably possible changes in the foreign
exchange rates, with all other variables held
constant, to which the Group has exposure in
respect of the derivative financial instruments
at the end of each reporting period. The
appreciation and depreciation of 5% in
USD exchange rate against GBP represents
management’s assessment of a reasonably

HEgEEXT possible change in currency exchange rate
EREES%IE over the reporting periods.
BREUBREHA
EHER A1
AIREE &Y 2 AT o
2025 2024
FET T
HK$000 HK$'000
FHE5% Appreciation by 5% 1 1
H2{E5% Depreciation by 5% (1) (1)

No
~
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

46.2 Market risk (continued)

0]

(ii)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined
assuming that the change in foreign exchange
rates had occurred at the reporting dates and
that all other variables remain constant.

The stated changes represent management'’s
assessment of reasonably possible changes in
foreign exchange rates over the period until
the next annual reporting date.

The policies to manage foreign currency risk
have been followed by the Group since prior
years and are considered to be effective.

Price risk

Price risk related to the risk that the fair values
or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of change in market
price (other than changes in interest rate and
foreign exchange rate). The Group is exposed
to price risk primarily through its investments
in listed equity securities, listed bonds and
investment funds which are classified as
at fair value through other comprehensive
income or fair value through profit or loss.
The board of directors manages this exposure
by maintaining a portfolio of investments
with different risk and return profiles and will
consider hedging the risk exposure should
the need arise. The Group is not exposed to
commodity price risk.
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M+ - BEEEEEB 46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
ERBE®) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
46.2 TiGRAK(E) 46.2 Market risk (continued)
(ii) 1E15E 2 (&) (ii) Price risk (continued)

R ZZE M FEN At 30 June 2024, if prices had increased

A=+H8 " & by 10% and all other variables were held

% £ F+10% At constant:

B A b BB

- HI

- rEEBEZ - the Group’'s loss for the year
FAEE would decrease by approximately
R A 4 HK$1,257,000. This is mainly due to
1,257,000 the changes in investment fund and
BT E listed equity securities included in the
ZEEHARN Group's financial assets at fair value
FFARE through profit or loss; and
A A
B& AE
wm L &
BEEZ
KEES
5 £
PN
B E)FT
B R
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

46.2 Market risk (continued)

(ii)

Price risk (continued)

the Group's equity other than
retained profits would increase by
approximately HK$2,200,000 as a
result of the changes in fair value
of listed equity investments and
listed bonds included in the Group’s
financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income.

At 30 June 2024, if prices had decreased
by 10% and all other variables were held
constant:

the Group’s loss for the year
would increase by approximately
HK$1,257,000. This is mainly due to
the changes in investment fund and
listed equity securities included in the
Group's financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss; and
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M+ - BEEEEEB 46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
ERBE®) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
46.2 TiGRAK(E) 46.2 Market risk (continued)
(ii) 1E15E 2 (&) (ii) Price risk (continued)
- NEHEZ - the Group’s equity other than
s ((RE retained profits would decrease by
s A BR ) approximately HK$2,200,000 as a
R A 49 result of the changes in fair value of
2,200,000 listed equity investments included in
BTk the Group’s financial assets at fair
Ji B R Er value through other comprehensive
AR EE income.
AR E
A H b
2|l =
Z 2 /A
EzLEm
N
A/NEEI-]
I8 & F)
FER
UL 8K E 9 AT T This sensitivity analysis has been determined
RN E A 5 assuming that the price change had occurred
HIREREE M at the reporting dates and has been applied to
BT TEEHR the Group's investment on that date.
EXREERZAB
ZIE o
REBEBEBEF The policies to manage price risk have been
EUAR—EEST followed by the Group since prior years and
EEERERERKRZ are considered to be effective.
WE - WRRZ
ERERAX °

N
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

46.2 Market risk (continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that
the fair value or cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. Floating interest rate
instruments will result in the Group facing the
risk of changes in market interest rate, and
fixed interest rate instruments will result in the
Group's fair value interest rate risk.

Fair value interest rate risk

At 30 June 2024, the Group's fair
value interest rate risk relates primarily
to investments in listed bonds under
financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income (note 23) of
HK$4,548,000. The Group currently does
not have an interest rate hedging policy. The
Group's fair value interest rate risk exposure
is not expected to have a significant impact
on its fair value given the changes of the
underlying interest rate is not expected to be
material.
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

46.2 Market risk (continued)

(iii)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk
primarily arising from bank balances and bank
loans. Majority of the bank loans are arranged
at variable rates which expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk. The interest
rates and repayment terms of the bank loans
outstanding at reporting dates are disclosed in
note 31.

The Group currently does not have an interest
rate hedging policy. However, management
monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

N
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
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46.2 Market risk (continued)

(i)  FIEER(E) (i) Interest rate risk (continued)
ek E M ERE Cash flow interest rate risk (continued)
R (&)

TXRE B F 9]
RE - FRNEE
AR B & 7 8
I +100 f@ = 24
K -1001EE 2 (=
Z P04 : +100
& 2= 25 K -100 {&

The following table illustrates the sensitivity
of the loss for the year and retained profits
to a change in interest rates of +100 basis
point and -100 basis point (2024: +100 basis
point and -100 basis point) with effect from
the beginning of the year. The calculations
are based on the Group’s bank balances

BEE)FEES 2 and interest-bearing bank loans held at each
WERE - IR reporting date which are subject to variable
BASEBE RS &R interest rates. All other variables are held

SRBHEZE
1765 8 R A8 B
TER(EIHF
EE L) -

TR E

constant.

BHAME R
2025 2024
FAT FAT
HK’000 HK'000
fis 2R EF100{EE 2 If interest rates were 100 basis point
(=20 : 100(H5Z) (2024: 100 basis point) higher
FRERFEEMN Net loss for the year increased and
REBRMRD retained profits decreased by (7,873) (7,543)
fisf 1% Tk 100 EIEZ If interest rates were 100 basis point
(ZZZNF : 100{AEE) (2024: 100 basis point) lower
FRBEFEIOR Net loss for the year decreased and
REDRTE N retained profits increased by 7,873 7,543

B 1
AR — E T
ERAEMB 2
B% - YRAK
EHEAN -

The policies to manage interest rate risk have
been followed by the Group since prior years
are considered to be effective.
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N8 - B EREER 46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

ERBE®) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
46.3 f=ERER 46.3 Credit risk

ZERRIEER T E 2% Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty
FhHARERESRIAZ to a financial instrument would fail to discharge
BRBITHEE 4% its obligation under the terms of the financial
BXXIIFELZRAR instruments and cause a financial loss to the
AasREEERRE 5 Group. In order to minimize the credit risk, the
FEBELIEEERER senior management compiles the credit and risk
BEIEBER - NEMEER management policies, to approve credit limits and
8 I w8 W (Al # /R e U to determine any debt recovery action on those
REEHRE - RZF delinquent receivables. As at 30 June 2025, the
—RENA=TH %= carrying amount of these financial assets as disclosed
TR EEMEE46.1 AT in note 46.1 best represent the maximum exposure
WENRESERENRR to credit risk. The Group's exposure to credit risk
SAEERBHO o 2% mainly arises from granting credit to customers in the
EFfMERAEERREE ordinary course of its business.
REEE R REBBIEF

AEFELEE -

ANEEFBAEBRIL The Group continuously monitors default of
HRIFA T NERE customers and other counterparties, identified
FREMEF T HREE either individually or by group, and incorporates
S Wiz B RHNAE (S this information into its credit risk controls. Where
BRG] o FEAJAS TR available at reasonable cost, external credit ratings
AESRIERT « AN and/or reports on customers and other counterparties
EeRFREATRRE are obtained and used. The Group’s policy is to deal
b3 F 77 BB = B AL 4R only with creditworthy counterparties. The credit
R/ SE - AEEMIK policy has been followed by the Group since prior
RREEERARINETF years.

TETRS - AEEBB
EFEAR—EBTIAE
EBUR °

N
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

46.3 Credit risk (continued)

Financial assets with credit risk exposure
Trade receivables

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As
the Group’s historical credit loss experience does
not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer bases.

The following table provides Information about the
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables as at 30 June 2025 and 2024:

EEEEZER -

AR KR IREAZE BERE

Gross
R-Z-HF Expected carrying Loss
~NA=TH As at 30 June 2025 loss rate amount allowance
(%) FAT FRT
HK$°000 HK$’000
BER Current 0.00% 46,757 -
#E0-30H 0 — 30 days past due 0.39% 23,568 92
#15931-60H 31 - 60 days past due 2.81% 4,777 134
#HI61-90H 61— 90 days past due 25.68% 12,010 3,084
#1HA91-180H 91 — 180 days past due 48.99% 584 286
#151181-365H 181 — 365 days past due 92.12% 1,916 1,765
#HA365H Ak Over 365 days past due 100.00% 2,306 2,306
91,918 7,667
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m+8 - MBEEEER 46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
BERBEE 2 OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
463 fERRE) 46.3 Credit risk (continued)
EEEER R/ EE Financial assets with credit risk exposure (continued)
(%)
B S5 EWETE(E) Trade receivables (continued)
SELIE =P AR A25R R
Gross
i =Sl 1t = Expected carrying Loss
NA=1H As at 30 June 2024 loss rate amount allowance
(%) FHET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
BIEA Current 0.00% 38,623 =
#HA0-30H 0 - 30 days past due 0.60% 11,701 70
#1HA31-60H 31 - 60 days past due 3.29% 7,776 256
#18361-90 8 61— 90 days past due 31.22% 2,781 868
#HA91-180H 91 — 180 days past due 39.97% 2,693 1,076
#1H181-365H 181 — 365 days past due 92.82% 842 782
#HI365H A Over 365 days past due 98.94% 3,308 3,273
67,724 6,325
TEERIE R R AR A BT 2 Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
BEERBACRHRSER - % experience over the few years. These rates are
SERARSELHFAE - U adjusted to reflect differences between economic
f Bl G = R S SR HR R 2 conditions during the period over which the historic
KBRS - BRIRA R data has been collected, current conditions and
N6 B ¥ P WK IR TR AT the Group's view of economic conditions over the
BHANEMR R 2 B2 expected lives of the receivables.
FrER -

N
ul
~
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B EMSEE R
BERBE )

EERK(E) 46.3 Credit risk (continued)

EHGlE R 25 EE
(%)
ZB S EWFIE(E) Trade receivables (continued)

B2 R RRERE

46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets with credit risk exposure (continued)

The movement in the provision for impairment of

ZEIINT : trade receivables is as follows:
2025 2024
FET FET
HK"’000 HK”000
RFA) 2 &5 Balance at the beginning of the year 6,325 7,377

BEEE, B HER Impairment loss/(reversal of

OREEERDE) impairment loss) recognised 1,277 (642)
ER A B fies 2 £%8 Amount written-off as uncollectible - (408)
PE i 3R Exchange realignment 65 (2)
RE R 2 455k Balance at the end of the year 7,667 6,325

RERE 2 B H e YEIAR
AR fn sl B S A
ARAERIR

KU FEGAE M 2 ETH

=y ! comprehensive income

ErEFIREAERFE
BEEcHFIRIT &
SHEATEREMEFS
EEXEETHEAS - sltm
F  AREEBTERE
BZEeMEEELEAN
BEHEERR -

collaterals or other credit enhancement.

ECLs on managing these financial assets.

None of the Group'’s trade receivables are secured by

Debt instruments at fair value through other

The listed bonds are issued by counterparties with
sound credit rating and the directors does not expect
any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations. In this
regard, the Group does not expect to incur significant
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

46.3 Credit risk (continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
of the Group include other receivables, and cash
and cash equivalents. In respect of cash and cash
equivalents, since there is no significant increase in
credit risk, any loss allowance recognised during the
year is therefore limited to 12-months ECLs. The
directors consider the probability of default is low on
these balances since the counterparties are financial
institutions with high credit rating or with good
reputation.

Other receivables of measured at amortised cost
are considered to have low credit risk as the
counterparties have a low risk of default and does
not have any past due amounts. Impairment on these
balances has been measured at an amount equal to
12-month ECLs. No loss allowance is recognised as
the amount of ECLs on these balances is insignificant.

N
O
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

46.4 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk related to the risk that the Group will not
able to meet its obligation associated with its financial
liabilities. In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and
cash equivalents deemed adequate by management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows in the short and
long term. Management monitors the utilisation
of bank loans and ensures compliance with loan
covenants.

The liquidity policies have been followed by the Group
since prior years and are considered to have been
effective in managing liquidity risk.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the reporting date of the Group’s
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the reporting date) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

Specifically, for bank loans which contain a
repayment on demand clause which can be exercised
at the lender’s sole discretion, the analysis shows the
cash outflow based on the earliest period in which
the entity can be required to pay, that is if the lenders
were to invoke their unconditional rights to call the
loans with immediate effect.
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46.4

BRERERER 46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
ERBER =) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
RBESRERE) 46.4 Liquidity risk (continued)
RARER  -ERg -ENE
FESE RENESE REREER EORWE MERL
Total More than
contractual Within 1 year but
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or lessthan ~ More than
amount cashflow  ondemand 2 years 2 years
AT AT AT AT AT
HK8'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZB-HERA=TA  Asat30June 2025
HTELREE: Non-derivative financial liabilities:
BHEMNTE Trade payables 66,633 66,633 66,633 - -
HiEMZUBRESER  Other payables and accruals 30,251 30,251 30,251 - 5
BiTET Bank loans 796,081 796,434 796,434 - -
FEf A%@%Mﬁ Due to joint ventures 1,036 1,036 1,036 - -
RS Due to related companies 4347 43417 38,39 - 5,021
Eﬁiﬁg%\ﬁféﬁm 7 Due to non-controlling interests 93,675 93,675 - 93,675 -
ARSI 2 5% Loan from a controlling shareholder 14,385 14,385 10,000 4,385 -
1045478 1,045,831 942,750 98,060 5,021
RZB-MEAA=TH  Asat30June 2024
¥ emas: Non-derivative financial liabilities:
BHRMNTE Trade payables 59,770 59,770 59,770 - -
HiEMTBLEFBE  Other payables and accruals 31969 31,969 31,969 - -
RITEH Bank loans 1036236 1,063,098 835,937 227,161 -
F‘Eﬁﬁgﬁﬁt Due to joint ventures 1,036 1,036 1,036 - -
ERBHATR Due to related companies 37426 37426 7379 30047 -
JEH?H“%'ME@ Due to non-controling interests 80,670 80,670 = 80,670 =
PRIRRRM z‘é%& Loan from a controlling shareholder 4,280 4,280 - 4,280 -
1251387 1278249 936,091 342,158 -

~o
N
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

46.4 Liquidity risk (continued)

The table that follows summarises the maturity
analysis of bank loans with a repayment on demand
clause based on agreed scheduled repayments set
out in the loan agreements. The amounts include
interest payments computed using contractual rates.
Taking into account the Group’s financial position,
the directors do not consider that it is probable that
the bank and lender will exercise its discretion to
demand immediate repayment. The directors believe
that such bank loans will be repaid in accordance with
the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements.

NSRS - RERTER A DA HERERETR L ZBTER
Maturity analysis - Bank loans subject to repayment
on demand clause based on scheduled repayment dates

GLEL —FRg —EHE
BESE REMEBAE REREE EINEE  RENL
Total More than
contractual Within 1 year but
Carrying undiscounted 1year or lessthan  More than
amount  cashflow  ondemand 2 years 2 years
AT AT AT AT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RZB-REARA=1H  Asat30June2025
BATER Bank loans 796,081 801,352 769,035 8,503 23,815
W=B-mEXA=1A  Asat30June 2024
FIER Bank loans 1036236 1,089,683 150,983 902,898 35,802
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N8 - B EREER 46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

ERBE®) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

46.5 REFEEPBRRRERZ 46.5 Fair value measurements recognised in the
DNREFTE consolidated statement of financial position
HZRBRETE S RE The hierarchy groups financial assets and liabilities
ENBEZATERMRZ into three levels based on the relative reliability of
FEHABE LA ERE significant inputs used in measuring the fair value
B BuEemEENE of these financial assets and liabilities. The fair value
BEID A=K - 12F hierarchy has the following levels:
BEREZEBRNAT :

—E1E : HREERE — Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
Bh5EZRmE markets for identical assets;
(CREsFE)

—E2E: REI1ERE — Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices
LAGN » B fth B included within Level 1 that are
£ (AMER) 2k observable for the instruments and
(Bl E derivatives, either directly (i.e. as
BHENT) A1 8 prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
R TARLT prices); and
ETAZ®BA
B: &k

—53[E : WIERIE R E — Level 3: inputs for the instruments that are
R 2 IGEE not based on observable market data
ZTEZ& A (unobservable inputs).

B(EEBR
ZEBAE) °

N
N
(V8]
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

RESHBRRERERZ 46.5 Fair value measurements recognised in the
AV EFEE) consolidated statement of financial position
(continued)
TRMEENBEIRAZ The level in the fair value hierarchy within which
NHERERER - TDER the financial assets and liabilities is categorised in
HAVEFEEEERE its entirety is based on the lowest level of input that
&2 xIKE R A EEE is significant to the fair value measurement. The
ET - REEA iR financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in
BRAFEEZomEE the consolidated statement of financial position are
NREERATHEREBEZ S grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:
BT
18 528 $3E @5t
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
T AT AT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000
(Fiz@) (P2 (o)) (P&
(note (a)) (note (b)) (note (c))
RZBZRFRA=1H Asat30June 2025
WATER AL Financial assets at fair value through
FENG EHEE other comprehensive income
—EEBIE LT ZIRAREE - Unlisted equity investments in Hong
Kong - - 13,791 13,791
—EEMA EWe - Listed equity investments in
BRizE elsewhere n - - 7
WATE AR Finandial iabiltes at fair value
PRER through profit or loss
~HTESBTE - Derivative financial instruments - (211) - (211)
77 (211) 13,791 13,657
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B EREE R 46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
EBRBEKz) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
REFEHBMRRRERZ 46.5 Fair value measurements recognised in the
DNREFEGE) consolidated statement of financial position
(continued)
18 %28 #3[E st
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AT AT AT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(M) GiE), (Pi=)
(note () (note (b)) (note ()
RZZ-MFRXA=TH Asat30June 2024
IATEG AL Financial assets at fair value through
FENG EHEE other comprehensive income
~EEBLEMZEALE - Listed equity investments in
Hong Kong 16,956 - - 16,956
—RAMIHS Lz ~ Listed equity investments in
hAxE elsewhere 499 - - 499
KRR LT ES - Listed bonds in Hong Kong 2,298 - = 2,298
—{EEMi 7 £z % - Listed bonds in elsewhere 2250 - - 2250
RATERAERZ Financial assets at fair value through
PHAE profit or loss
~EEBLMZRAES - Listed equity securitiesin
Hong Kong 2,505 = = 2,505
~ERERERS ~ Investment fund in Hong Kong - 5,795 = 5,795
~FERMTZREES - Ivestment fund in elsewhere - 40m - 42m
—TESRIE - Derivative financial instruments - 16 - 16
24,508 10,083 - 34,591

N
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

46.5

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
(continued)

The methods and valuation techniques used for
the purpose of measuring fair value are unchanged
compared to the previous reporting periods.

Notes:

(a) Fair values of listed equity securities (2024: listed
equity securities and listed bonds) have been
determined by reference to their market prices at
the reporting date and have been translated using
the spot foreign currency rates at the end of the
reporting period where appropriate.

(b) At 30 June 2025 and 2024, the fair value of
derivative financial instruments are determined
directly or indirectly based on valuation techniques
with market observable inputs including observable
market data. At 30 June 2024, the fair value of
the unlisted investment fund is the share of the
net assets value of the funds which has been
determined with reference to the fair value of the
underlying financial assets and liabilities at the end
of the reporting period.

(@) As at 30 June 2025, the fair value of unlisted
equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income was estimated by applying
income-based approach valuation technique using
discounted cash flow method.
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46.

47.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

46.5 Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
(continued)

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2024: Level 3).

CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS
OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 23 October 2024, the Group entered into a stock
purchase agreement with a connected person in relation
to the acquisition of 24.81% of the issued shares of the
common stock of C.J. (UK) Limited (“C.J. (UK)") (a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company) at a consideration
of GBP576,313 (equivalent to approximately HK$5,840,000).
Having satisfied all the terms and condition of the
Agreement, the acquisition was completed on 23 October
2024. After completion, all the shareholding of C.J. (UK) was
owned by the Group and C.J. (UK) became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. The difference between the said
consideration paid for the additional interests in C.J. (UK) and
the non-controlling interest’s share of the assets and liabilities
reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position
of C.J. (UK) at the date of acquisition of HK$363,000 was
recognised in other reserves in the Group's equity.

N
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48.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management
is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and
healthy ratios in order to support its business and maximise
shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes during the current and
previous years.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debts divided by total equity plus net debts. Net debts
are calculated as the sum of bank borrowings less cash and
cash equivalents as shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The Group aims to maintain the gearing
ratio at a reasonable level and the directors are of the opinion
that the Group's gearing ratio was maintained at reasonable
level at the reporting date. The gearing ratios as at the
reporting date were as follows:
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TN BEXEE 48. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)
2025 2024
FHET FETT
HK$°000 HK$'000
REIEE Current liabilities
RITER Bank loans 796,081 882,506
FERtE E{EIE Due to joint ventures 1,036 1,036
HEAE Lease liabilities 5,150 4,923
RS RS R IR It 2 B X Loan from a controlling shareholder 10,000 —
FEASTRAES A RIROE Due to related companies 38,396 7,379
FREBEE Non-current liabilities
RITER Bank loans - 153,730
HEBRE Lease liabilities 4,073 7,834
FE EaRE A R RIR Due to related companies 5,021 30,047
FEIS SEE I IR TR Due to non-controlling interests 93,675 80,670
RS AR SR bR (2 B 3K Loan from a controlling shareholder 4,385 4,280
(BIE4ERE Total debts 957,817 1,172,405
B e RIESZEREIAN  Less: Cash and cash equivalents and time
REVEAB &A=& LA deposits with original maturities over
FrEEATER three months (36,358) (49,156)
(EIE Net debts 921,459 1,123,249
e AREE Total equity 1,648,862 1,980,659
S ERE R EIEFEE Total equity and net debts 2,570,321 3,103,908
EEGMBLLR Gearing ratio 35.85% 36.19%
NEE BRI A S AT The Group has been given certain covenants under facilities
EFRE AEGESRATF from the bank, including maintenance of a minimum amount
B NP EEEFE & of tangible net worth, a minimum ratio of total external
B R R R(EEREEELEX - borrowings to tangible net worth and a minimum loan-to-
REBRAFEANDETHER value ratio. The Group has met all covenants during the year
w o AR R AR &S and does not expect any potential breach in the foreseeable
WRAEMBEEANENR Suiuie
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50.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

As described in detail in the announcement of the
Company dated 23 September 2025, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company (as the Vendor), and
an independent third party (as the Purchaser) entered into
a sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which the
Vendor conditionally agreed to sell, and the purchaser
conditionally agreed to acquire, the sale shares, representing
the entire issued shares of Big Bonus Limited (as the
Target Company”), a company incorporated in the BVI
with limited liability, and the sale loan, representing the
entire loan owing by the Target Company to the Vendor,
at the consideration of RMB33,370,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$36,470,073), upon and subject to the
terms and conditions of the sale and purchase agreement.
Upon completion, the Target Company and its subsidiaries
will cease to be subsidiaries of the Group, and their financial
results will no longer be consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30
June 2025 were approved for issue by the directors on 29
September 2025.
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Other Information m EfttE %}
BEEERR2ZYE BEEGS PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT/
EYE SALES
CHE A5
$BEE % BOBEER ALEER A2 ik TR fHTRRE  EGRR
Estimated Estimated  Atfributable
Approximate  approximate Stage of Completion interest of
Lot No. Location sitearea  grossfloorarea  Use Lease Term  completion  date the Group
(F3%) (%)
(sqft) (sqft)
FNEMHERENTA B (RRHE - NERDESEHIN 3240 B EEREE ] BER Zyili 90%
FNERHRELIOTRA B CRREZME  No.1, Cheung Wah Street, Commercaland  Medum — Completed ~ NA
TNERHEE985A B (RESE Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon fesidential
Section A, B, C and the remaining portion of
New Kowloon Inland lot 2196, Section A, B, C
and the remaining porton of New Kowloon Inland
lot 2197, and section A, B, C and the remaining
portion of Inand Lot No. 2198.
NEPHAENTFHARR RHRES AR ERNBIRRE o0 164A 5,054 B Bz A it 2L 100%
([3882)) Nos 164-164A Boundary Sreet, Residentia Medium Planning in
The Remaining Portion of Section H and Subection 5 Kowdoon City, Kowloon progress
of Section Hof Kowdoon Inland Lot No. 2097
(the "Lots")
BFEEREZYR PROPERTIES HELD FOR INVESTMENT
A58
HERE 1 EfEs R HEH
Attributable
interest of
Lot No. Location the Group  Use Lease Term
LRNMIBERE 120578 3680RARRCR HRTRB AR RRRAEAR 100% il
Section A and section C of Lot no 3689 in D.D. 120 9101 1118 128 1312 158 Rental  Medium
16@'17@‘19@20@‘21@&22&
FF, 10/, 11/F, 12/F, 13/F, 15/F, 16/F,17/F, 19F,
20/F, 21/F and 22/F, Glassview Commercial Building,
No. 65 Castle Peak Road, Yuen Long, New Territories
EASHRZATIRRNE TS HREFHRE1 AR NETBERH-11ARRREE 185 100% il i
Section | of Kowloon Marine lot No. 40 and sub-section 1 of I AR L= EEPE Rental Medium
section H of Kowloon Marine lot No. 40 Unit P 1st Floor, Kaiser Estate 3rd Phase,
Nos. 9- 11A Hok Yuen Street, No. 18 Man Lok Street,
Hung Hom, Kowloon
NEERHMRE 10420548 - NERHRE10432R 4R R NI IRRE1819-235 E BRI TASTRRBS AR 100% H# ki
NERILERSE 1043155845 —BAEHHAE Rental  Medium
The remaining portion of Kowloon Inland lot No. 10429, Shops A &B on the G/F and Office Ato H on 1/F,
the remaining portion of Kowloon Inland lot No. 10432 and Hart Avenue Court, 19-23 Hart Avenue,
the remaining portion of Kowloon Infand lot No. 10431 Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon
R4 BRLrEfrEB 5%  H# &
The remaining portion of Marine Lot no. 124 232 Wan Chai Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong Rental Long
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the respective published audited financial statements
and restated as appropriate, is set out as below. This summary does
not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

E RESULTS
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
FET FET FET FEr FET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
& Revenue 585,835 360,402 455,608 603,926 536,267
BRPT1SELRT (Loss)/profit before
(E#8]),%#  income tax (335,672) (294,149) (102,908) 18,157 22,310
PR iS%t Income tax (expense)/
(AX) &%  credit 5,066 (6,165) (12,501) 20,305 11,959
FR(EIE),  (Loss)/profit for the year
S Al (330,606) (300,314) (115,409) 38,462 34,269
FEIE LS Non-controlling interests 71,494 43,012 17,123 (26,320) (14,384)
ANAFHEAA  Net (loss)/profit
FE{E(E8.),~  attributable to
A FER the owners of the
Company (259,112) (257,302) (98,286) 12,142 19,885

AE - BENFEHER

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
FET FAET THET TR TR
HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BAE Total assets
BEE Total liabilities
FErE i Non-controlling interests

2,829,079 3,366,905 3,724,643 3,865,024 3,718,277
(1,180,217)  (1,386,246)  (1,438,710)  (1,418,658)  (1,271,769)
(86,408) (163,180) (206,196) (223,201) (202,257)

1,562,454 1,817,479 2,079,737 2,223,165 2,244,251
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